STUDIES ON

ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITORS.

A thesis presented to the University of Glasgow, Faculty of Medicine, for the degree of Doctor of Medicine by

Robert John MacFadyen, BSc(Hons), MB, ChB, PhD, MRPharmS, MRCP

University Department of Medicine and Therapeutics Stobhill General Hospital and Western Infirmary

Glasgow G11 6NT,

United Kingdom

February 1993.

©Robert J.MacFadyen 1993

1

ProQuest Number: 11007720

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 11007720

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



G	LASGOW	
U	NIVERSITY	
L	BRARY	

CONTENTS

Page

19

PREFACE	
Index of figures and tables	9
Acknowledgements	13
Publications	15
Summary	16

CHAPTER1: INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

CHAPTER 2: ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITION:

PERINDOPRIL

2.1.	GENERA	L INTRODUCTION	22
`	2.1.1.	Origin and Chemistry	22
	2.1.2.	Analysis	23
2.2.	PHARMACOLOGICAL PROPERTIES		
	2.2.1.	Inhibition of ACE and Hormonal Effects	
		A. Circulating ACE	24
		B. Neurohormonal Changes	26
	2.2.2.	Haemodynamic Effects	27
		A. Normal Volunteers	27

		B. Essential Hypertension	29
		C. Cardiac Failure	34
	2.2.3. Effe	ects on Renal Function and Renal Blood Flow	34
	2.2.4. Car	diac Ischaemia and Arrhythmia	36
2.3.	PHARMA	ACOKINETIC PROPERTIES	
	2.3.1.	Protein Binding and Tissue Distribution	37
	2.3.2.	Pharmacokinetics in Normal Volunteers and	38
		Hypertension	
	2.3.3.	Age and other diseases	
		A. Age	40
		B. Hepatic Impairment	40
		C. Renal Impairment and Cardiac failure	41
2.4.	CLINICA	AL USE AND SIDE EFFECTS	
СНАРТИ	ER 3:THE TIS	SUE AND PLASMA BASED RENIN ANGIOTEN	ISIN
	SYSTEM	M	42

3.1.	DEFINIT	DEFINITION OF THE TISSUE RENIN ANGIOTENSIN		
		SYSTEM	43	
	3.1.1.	Vascular Renin Angiotensin System	45	
	3.1.2.	Pulmonary Renin Angiotensin System	47	
	3.1.3.	Cardiac Renin Angiotensin System	49	
	3.1.4.	Brain Renin Angiotensin System	52	
	3.1.5.	Renal Renin Angiotensin System	53	
3.2.	ACE INH	IBITORS AND TISSUE ACE INHIBITION		
	3.2.1.	Analytical Considerations	55	

3.2.2.	Acute vs Chronic ACE Inhibitor Treatment	56

	3.2.3.	Kininase II Inhibition	57
	3.2.4.	Tissue Distribution of ACE Inhibitors	58
	3.2.5.	Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of ACE	1 F
		inhibitors and Tissue ACE	59
	3.2.6.	Activated Renin System in Heart Failure	62
CHAPTER	4: CHRONI	C CARDIAC FAILURE AND ITS THERAPY	
4.1.	BACKGR	OUND AND INTRODUCTION	66
4.2.	GENERA	L THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES	67
4.3.	DRUG TR	REATMENTS	
	4.3.1.	Diuretics, Fluid Balance and Sodium status	67
	4.3.2.	Vasodilators	68
		A. Arterial vasodilators	70
		B. Balanced vasodilators	71
		C. Venous "offloading"	71
		D. Vasodilator Drugs with Inotropic properties	72
		E. Vasodilators and Mortality in Heart Failure	73
		F. Development Areas of Vasodilator Therapy	73
	4.3.3.	ACE Inhibition in Heart Failure	74
4.4.	PHARMA	COLOGY OF ACE INHIBITION IN HEART	
	FAILU	JRE: PERINDOPRIL	
	4.4.1.	Experimental Studies- General Principles	75
•	4.4.2.	Hormonal Effects	76
	4.4.3.	Vascular Structure	77
	4.4.4.	Cardiac hypertrophy/infarction and remodelling	77
	4.4.5.	Tissue renin angiotensin systems	78
	4.4.6.	Mortality	79

4.5. CLINICAL STUDIES OF ACE INHIBITION IN HEART FAILURE

4.5.1.	Pharmacokinetics	80
	A. General	80
	B. Age	81
	C. Renal impairment	82
	D. Hepatic impairment	82
	E. Food	83
4.5.2.	Pharmacodynamics	
	A. Hormonal effects	84
	B. Cardiac haemodynamics	85
	C. Regional blood flow	86
	D. Blood pressure and first dose response	87
	E. Exercise capacity	88
SAFETY AN	ND TOLERABILITY	89

EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES ON ACE INHIBITION

4.6.

CHAPTER 5: GENERAL RECURRENT METHODS

5.1.	PATIENT AND VOLUNTEER STUDIES			
	5.1.1.	Blood Pressure and heart rate measurement	91	
	5.1.2.	Protocol and Patient Consent	91	
5.2.	ANALYTICA	AL METHODS		
	5.2.1.	ACE activity	92	
,	5.2.2.	Drug concentration measurements	94	
	5.2.3.	Plasma renin activity	95	
	5.2.4.	Plasma aldosterone	95	
	5.2.5.	Plasma angiotensin II	96	

	5.2.6.	Plasma catecholamines	96
5.3.	STATIST	ICAL METHODS	96
•			
CHAPT	ER 6: ACE INF	HIBITION IN HEART FAILURE	
6.1.	STUDIES	SWITH ORAL ACE INHIBITORS	99
	6.1.1. Pati	ents and methods	99
	6.1.2. Res	ults	101
		A. General	101
		B. Haemodynamic effects	102
		C. Drug concentration data and plasma hormon	al
		responses	103
6.2.	STUDA	S WITH INTRAVENOUS DIACID ACE INHIBI	TORS
	6.2.1. Pati	ents and methods	105
	6.2.2. Res	ults	
		A. General	107
		B. Haemodynamic effects	107
		C. Drug concentration data and plasma hormon	al
		responses	109
6.3.	DISCUS	SION	
	6.3.1. Ora	l ACE inhibitors in chronic heart failure	111
	6.3.2. Intr	avenous ACE inhibition in chronic heart failure	115
	6.3.3. Inte	grated findings of heart failure studies	117

CHAPTER 7:STUDIES OF ACE INHIBITION IN NORMAL AND PATIENT VOLUNTEERS

7.1 TRANSPULMONARY PHARMACOKINETICS OF PERINDOPRILAT IN MAN

7.1.1. Patients and methods		119
	A. Patients	119
	B. Procedure	120
	C. Additional biochemical methods	121
	D. Pharmacokinetic analysis	121
7.1.2. Result	S	
	A. Haemodynamic effects	123
	B. Drug concentrations and ICG profile	123
	C. Plasma ACE activity	123
	D. Plasma renin activity	124
	E. Pharmacokinetic modelling	124

7.2. PERINDOPRILAT INFUSION STUDIES IN SALT REPLETE MAN

7.2.1. Subjects and methods	
A. Design	125
B. Subjects	126
C. Procedure	126
7.2.2. Special data analysis	
A. Blood pressure data	127
B. Pharmacokinetic analysis	128

A. Haemodynamic effects	128
B. Drug concentration profile	129
C. Plasma ACE inhibition	129

7.3.	ACE INHIBITION IN SALT DEPLETE MAN: ORAL ENA	LAPRIL
	IN A MODEL OF THE ACTIVATED RENIN ANGIOTENS	SIN
	SYSTEM	
	7.3.1. Subjects and methods	131
	7.3.2. Results	
	A. Salt depletion	133
	B. Enalapril vrs placebo	133
	C. Drug concentrations, ACE inhibition and plasm	na renin
	activity	134
7.4.	DISCUSSION	
	7.4.1. Transpulmonary ACE inhibitor infusion	135
	7.4.2. Perindoprilat infusion in salt replete man	139
	7.4.3. ACE inhibition in salt deplete man: Oral	
	enalapril in a model of the activated renin angiotensin system	142

CHAPTER 8: CONCLUDING REMARKS	145
BIBLIOGRAPHY	148

8

Index of Figures

Chapter 2	Following page
Figure 2.1. Structural formulae of perindopril and perindoprilat	22
Figure 2.2. Pharmacokinetics of perindoprilat 1,2 or 4mg intravenously	38

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1. Relationship between creatinine clearance and the elimination of	
perindoprilat	82
Figure 4.2. ACE inhibition in heart failure patients	85

Chapter 6

Figure 6.1. Change in heart rate following oral ACE inhibitors	102
Figure 6.2. Change in supine mean arterial pressure following oral ACE inhibitors	s 103
Figure 6.3. Drug concentrations following oral ACE inhibitors	103
Figure 6.4. Profile of plasma ACE inhibition following oral ACE inhibitors	104
Figure 6.5. Profile of plasma renin activity following oral ACE inhibitors	104
Figure 6.6. Individual renal biochemistry response to intravenous ACE inhibition	107
Figure 6.7. Individual renal biochemistry response to intravenous ACE inhibition	107
Figure 6.8. Changes in heart rate following intravenous ACE inhibition	108
Figure 6.9. Changes in systolic pressure following intravenous ACE inhibitors	108
Figure 6.10. Drug concentration profiles following intravenous ACE inhibition	110
Figure 6.11. Profile of plasma ACE following intravenous ACE inhibition	110
Figure 6.12. Profile of plasma renin following intravenous ACE inhibition	110
Figure 6.13. Individual blood pressure response following placebo therapy	113

Chapter 7

Figure 7.1. Mean blood pressure profile in aorta, pulmonary artery and heart rate	123
Figure 7.2. Concentration time profile of drug accumulation in both right and left	heart
plasma	123
Figure 7.3. Mean concentration time profile of ICG	123
Figure 7.4. Elimination profile of perindoprilat from plasma	123
Figure 7.5. Profile of plasma ACE inhibition	123
Figure 7.6. Profile of plasma renin activity	124
Figure 7.7. Effect of 1mg perindoprilat infused over 1,3,or 6hrs on blood pressure	2129
Figure 7.8. Perindoprilat concentration time profiles	129
Figure 7.9. Profile of plasma ACE inhibition	129
Figure 7.10. Profile of plasma renin activity	130
Figure 7.11. Changes in serum electrolytes during study	133
Figure 7.12. Changes in supine and erect blood pressure and heart rate	133
Figure 7.13. Drug concentration time profiles of enalapril and enalaprilat	134
Figure 7.14. Profile of plasma renin activity	134

.

Index of Tables

Following page

Chapter 2

Table 2.1. Plasma E ₅₀ of a variety of ACE inhibitor drugs	26
Table 2.2. Plasma protein binding characteristics of perindopril and perindoprilat	38
Table 2.3. Side effects in a multicentre study of perindopril in hypertension	42

,

Chapter 3

Table 3.1. General factors controlling ACE activity	44
Table 3.2. General actions of angiotensin II on the heart	49
Table 3.3. Factors influencing the tissue distribution of ACE inhibitors	63
Table 3.4. Reports of hypotension following ACE inhibitors	63

Chapter 4

Table 4.1. Vasodilator therapy of heart failure	68
Table 4.2. General effects of heart failure on the pharmacokinetics of drugs	80
Table 4.3. Pharmacokinetics of perindopril in heart failure patients	81
Table 4.4. Food and the pharmacokinetics of perindopril	84
Table 4.5. ACE inhibition in heart failure patients following oral perindopril	85
Table 4.6. Exercise responses to ACE inhibition in heart failure	89
Table 4.7. Treatment withdrawals following oral perindopril in heart failure	89
Table 4.8. Adverse symptoms during studies with perindopril in heart failure	90

Chapter 6

Table 6.1. Demographic data

100

.

Table 6.2. Summary of the comparisons of pre and post treatment laboratory data	101
Table 6.3. Demographic data intravenous placebo group	105
Table 6.4. Demographic data intravenous enalaprilat group	105
Table 6.5. Demographic data intravenous perindoprilat group	105
Table 6.6. Statistical comparisons of laboratory and demographic data	107
Table 6.7. Absolute starting blood pressure and heart rate data	107
Table 6.8. Maximal changes in blood pressure with duration of infusion	108

Chapter 7

Table 7.1. Demographic details and drug therapy of study population	119
Table 7.2. Characterisation of the pharmacokinetic profile of right heart and per	ipheral
venous plasma drug concentration data by a hierarchy of pharmacokinetic mode	ls 124
Table 7.3. Parameter estimates and coefficients of variation for tissue and plasm	a binding
models best describing the pharmacokinetic data	130
Table 7.4. Effects of salt depletion and study treatments on the urinary excretion	ı of
electrolytes	133

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply indebted to Professor John L.Reid for his continual support and encouragement during the work described in this thesis. At all times he was available to give me the benefit of his experience and advice and allowed me on occasions a considerable degree of forbearance. I am indebted to Dr Kennedy R.Lees for his friendship, initial helf in starting up the work on ACE inhibition and for an introduction to pharmacokinetic modelling. The studies described in this thesis were supported by funds from a variety of sources but the main clinical and laboratory studies were supported by the British Heart Foundation. I gratefully acknowledge their support.

For their friendship and amiable discussions over my years in the Department of Materia Medica and Medicine and Therapeutics I would particularly mention Drs Henry Elliott and Peter Meredith whose knowledge and counsel were of great value personally and professionally.

The patient studies in heart failure were possible only due to the support of clinical colleagues in identifying suitable subjects for screening. I am indebted to Dr F.G.Dunn and Dr W.S.Dillis for their unqualified support of these studies and for allowing me to study patients under their care. In the same regard I am indebted to my colleagues on the junior clinical staff for assisting in patient identification, particularly Drs Richard Donnelly; John Gemmill and Paul MacIntyre for their continued friendship and support.

I am grateful to MSD Pharmaceuticals (UK) for supplying intravenous enalaprilat for this work and to Servier (IRIS) Europe for freely providing supplies of perindopril and perindoprilat. Dr Chloe Brown of Servier (UK) helped a great deal by giving permission to review unpublished data on file, and in providing logistical support for a number of the studies using perindopril or perindoprilat. I am particularly grateful for her enthusiastic backing.

Laboratory help was provided by several of the technical staff of the Department of Medicine and Therapeutics. For his outstanding help in processing the large number of assays for ACE activity and drug concentrations in the ACE inhibitor series I am indebted to David M.Hughes for his exemplary care and precision. I am grateful to Ms June Seymour and her staff at the Department of Dietetics at Stobhill Hospital for their ongoing help with the low sodium diet preparation of normal volunteers.

PUBLICATIONS:

MacFadyen RJ, Lees KR, Gemmill JD, Hillis WS, Reid JL (1991). Transpulmonary pharmacokinetics of an ACE inhibitor (perindoprilat) in man. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 32: 193-199.

MacFadyen RJ, Lees KR, Reid JL (1991). Differences in first dose response to ACE inhibitors in congestive cardiac failure - a placebo controlled study. Br.Heart J. 66: 206-211.

MacFadyen RJ, Lees KR, Reid JL (1991).Blood pressure responses to low dose oral ester or intravenous diacid angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Journal of Hypertension 9, (supplt 6): s376-s377.

MacFadyen RJ, Lees KR, Reid JL (1992). Studies with low dose intravenous diacid ACE inhibitor (Perincontilat) infusions in normotensive male volunteers. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol 33: 62-68.

MacFadyen RJ (1992) Comparative blood pressure responses to low dose ACE inhibitors in heart failure. Treating Heart Failure 1:3-7.

MacFadyen RJ, Lees KR, Reid JL (1992). Randomised placebo controlled parallel group studies with low dose intravenous perindoprilat and enalaprilat in elderly patients with stable chronic cardiac failure. Brit.Heart J. (accepted, in press August 1992).

MacFadyen RJ, Elliott HL, Meredith PA, Reid JL (1992).Haemodynamic and hormonal responses to oral enalapril in salt depleted normotensive man.

Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. (accepted, in press Aug 1992)

MacFadyen RJ, Meredith PA, Elliott HL (1992). Differential effects of ACE inhibitor drugs: evidence for concentration, dose and agent dependent responses.

Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. (accepted for publication December 1992)

SUMMARY

A range of studies are described examining the responses to blockade of the renin angiotensin system with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in patients with heart failure and normal volunteers. The common theme of the studies is the definition of response at low doses of drug and differentiation of effects between agents or over time on first administration.

First dose response to ACE Inhibitors in heart failure

(a) Oral doses of placebo, captopril 6.25mg, enalapril 2.5mg and perindopril 2mg were given in a randomised double blind parallel group study of 48 elderly patients with stable heart failure. Despite diuretic withdrawal considerable falls in supine blood pressure and heart rate were noted with captopril and enalapril. Compared to placebo perindopril produced no significant fall in pressure. Enalapril and perindopril produced similar plasma ACE inhibition. No patient experienced adverse symptoms.

(b) Intravenous doses, by slow (6hr) constant rate infusion, of placebo (saline), enalaprilat (1.5mg) or verindoprilat (1mg) were given in a randomised, double blind, parallel group study of 36 elderly patients with stable heart failure. Both diacid ACE inhibitors caused falls in blood pressure and similar though greater inhibition of plasma ACE activity compared to the oral treatments. Five infusions were terminated on a priori criteria because of the degree of blood pressure fall. Termination of infusion effectively controlled the blood pressure fall. Two patients on active treatment had asymptomatic deterioration in biochemical indices of renal function necessitating withdrawal of maintenance ACE inhibitor treatment.

Studies of the response to ACE inhibition in volunteers

(a) The transpulmonary extraction of perindoprilat (1mg; by constant rate infusion into a

peripheral vein over 20minutes) was examined in a novel study in 10 patients undergoing diagnostic cardiac catheterisation predominantly for symptoms suggestive of ischaemic heart disease. A co-infusion strategy employing concurrent indocyanine green as an intravascular marker was used. Concurrent sampling in the ascending aorta and the pulmonary trunk failed to show any significant first pass uptake of the drug into the pulmonary circulation. Pharmacokinetic models designed to incorporate elements describing simple nonlinear kinetics based on "tissue" distribution were not found to be applicable. A variety of procedural problems may have been responsible for the failure of this study to document tissue distribution.

(b) Protracted low dose constant rate infusion of perindoprilat (1mg) over 1, 3 or 6hrs or placebo (saline over 3h⁻) was conducted in a single (subject) blinded randomised study in 10 healthy male volunteers. This predominantly pharmacokinetic study confirmed a blood pressure fall despite the low doses employed in normal volunteers. Despite higher peak drug concentrations the plasma ACE inhibition profile summarised by the area under the curve was greatest following the 6hr infusion where peak drug concentration was lowest. Drug concentration time profiles showed a clear sigmoid accumulation profile during drug infusion. Pharmacokinetic modelling of individual profiles confirmed that from a hierarchy of systems a non linear model with terms to represent tissue and plasma binding of drug provided the best fit to the observed data.

(c) A model of activation of the renin angiotensin system was outlined in a double blind randomised study of low dose oral enalapril (5mg) in eight healthy salt depleted normal volunteers. A system of modest dietary salt restriction (40mmol per day) and diuretic therapy (40mg Frusemide BDS) over three prestudy days produced a reliable activation of the renin angiotensin system. Baseline and reactive elevation of renin activity was recorded in response to enalapril with an associated significant fall in supine and erect blood pressure.

17

Conclusions

Differential effects on blood pressure are evident between similar ACE inhibitors (enalapril and perindopril) but not with their respective diacid metabolites despite similar circulating enzyme inhibition in controlled circumstances. This may relate to a differential interaction with the tissue based elements of the renin angiotensin system. Although the transpulmonary study did not reveal significant extraction of the diacid ACE inhibitor perindoprilat into the lungs, the subsequent pharmacokinetic studies with low dose infusions of the same drug indicate that an indirect index of the tissue based system may be possible. Studies in heart failure patients may be usefully extended in volunteers whose renin system is activated using the salt depletion protocol as described.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Developments in the drug therapy of disease have proceeded with astounding speed in the 20th Century. During my undergraduate training in pharmacy in the 1970's it was common to be told that the pace of development had been so rapid, on all fronts, that there would undoubtedly be a hiatus in progress during the latter part of the 20th century. Perhaps not surprisingly this has not been the case. During this period, at least in the realm of cardiovascular drugs, there have been continued developments. There are few agents introduced into clinical practice in recent years which might reasonably be compared to the group of drugs known as the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors.

The origins of the renin angiotensin aldosterone system, one of the key physiological systems regulating blood pressure and sodium homeostasis, date back to experiments in the laboratory of Dr Robert Tigerstedt at the end of the 19th Century in Finland. It took almost 60 years to analyse the functions of this system and develop inhibitors. Useful drugs appeared in clinical research studies in the mid to late 1970's. Since that stage their initial use in hypertension has been expanded and refined in general medical application with the subsequent development of large series of compounds sharing the property of inhibiting the non rate limiting step catalysed by the non specific metalloprotease angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). In last ten years ACE inhibitors have continued to develop in their clinical uses. For the first time they provided a therapy for the effective management of chronic heart failure capable of making a positive step in reducing the symptoms and mortality of this disease. Developments continue with extension of the assessment of these drugs into different populations of cardiovascular patients, and new insights of the role of the renin angiotensin system in a variety of pathological states.

This thesis comprises two sections firstly dealing with ACE inhibitor studies in heart failure and subsequently a series of investigations in normal human or patient volunteers. This is preceded by a detailed description of ACE inhibitor pharmacology. An example is made of the properties of the long acting prodrug ACE inhibitor perindopril, which is employed in a number of the subsequent studies. In addition the renin angiotensin system, particularly the more recent work concentrating on the relevance of an extra-plasmatic site mediating drug effects is also described in detail. The practical and pharmacological management of heart failure including the role of ACE inhibition is also described by way of introduction to the experimental section.

The first series of studies are designed to assess and refine the application of ACE inhibitor drugs, more specifically to allow better understanding of the relationship between dose, concentration and (predominantly haemodynamic) effects in heart failure patients. Particular attention is paid to the response to the introduction of the drugs in heart failure where, for a variety of reasons, the endogenous renin angiotensin system is activated and a marked haemodynamic response might be anticipated. Despite many years of use the exact dose required to produce a given effect, be that chemical, pressure or flow related or more importantly a symptomatic benefit in the individual patient has remained obscure. This is not unusual in cardiovascular therapy. First dose studies are of interest as they allow the lower end of the concentration response relationship to be explored. This has been a notable failure in the development of the ACE inhibitor drugs whose "effective" doses have fallen after introduction into clinical practice and experience. In addition comparative studies, commercially unpopular but

20

pharmacologically essential, are described which portray novel findings in these patients.

To complement this series of observations in heart failure are a range of studies in the normal human volunteer are presented where control of the variables affecting the response can be more precise. Controlled low dose infusion strategies are used in an attempt to characterise the use of a pharmacokinetic model as an index of tissue distribution of drug at low doses relevant to heart failure therapy, at least during the introduction of treatment. An attempt to define the transpulmonary handling of an intravenous ACE inhibitor is described. This is again based on the plasma pharmacokinetic profile and looking at its potential as an index of drug distribution into tissue based sites, of which the lungs has been highlighted as a key area of ACE activity. The studies are complemented by a series of preliminary observations involving activation of the renin angiotensin system based on controlled salt depletion and the subsequent response to low dose ACE inhibition.

CHAPTER 2

ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITION: PERINDOPRIL 2.1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Perindopril is a long-acting non-thiol, prodrug inhibitor of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). The compound has been undergoing evaluation since the early 1980s and is at present available for clinical use in several countries throughout the world (Todd & Fitton,1991). An overview of its chemistry, pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties is provided here for this drug as representative of its class and as the subject of a number of the following research studies which form the first part of the thesis. As a relatively less popular agent, in terms of its post marketing use, full appreciation of the specific advantages or disadvantages of this agent will emerge only after widespread, post-marketing surveillance and further clinical research (Editorial, 1988). Perindopril is available alongside the current agents in this class, captopril (Brogen et al, 1988), enalapril (Todd & Heel, 1986; Todd & Goa, 1989), lisinopril (Lancaster & Todd, 1988) ramipril (Todd & Brogen, 1989), quinapril (Frank et al, 1990), cilazapril and fosinopril, all of which are licensed for use in the United Kingdom at the time of writing.

2.1.1. Origin and Chemistry

The synthesis of perindopril was first described by Vincent and colleagues (1982) from Servier Laboratories. Orally active, potent, long-lasting inhibition of ACE was confirmed as the primary pharmacological response. This compound is a third generation ACE inhibitor, the perhydroindole 2-carboxylic acid derivative of an N-carbethoxybutyl alanine. The diastereoisomer (s,s) perindopril is prepared as a tertiary





Figure 2.1: Structural formulae of perindopril (S-9490-3) as butylamine salt, and perindoprilat (S-9780).

perindoprilat (S9780) (Figure 2.1). The parent molecule resists hydrolysis of the amide bond due to the stabilising influence of the bicyclic ring (Drummer et al, 1987).

Metabolism is by esterases in the liver, plasma and possibly also in the gut wall to the active diacid perindoprilat. A desprolyl metabolite similar to that noted with enalapril (Drummer & Kourtis, 1987a) is not produced but a glucuronide conjugate has been identified which cross-reacts with antisera to perindoprilat (Drummer & Kourtis, 1987b; Drummer et al, 1987;1988). This conjugate can be excreted or is available for conversion back to a form capable of inhibiting ACE. The conjugate per se is biologically inactive.

2.1.2. Analysis

Perindopril and perindoprilat can be assayed in plasma and tissue extracts by a variety of techniques. An enzyme inhibition assay, similar to that employed by Tocco and colleagues (1982) for enalapril, has been employed using the inhibition of exogenous ACE generation of a chromophobe from a variety of synthetic substrates (see Chapter 5). Alternatively, radio- inhibitor binding and displacement principles have been applied employing a radio-iodinated tyrosyl derivative of lisinopril, ¹²⁵I-351A (Johnston et al, 1987). The principles of competitive protein binding are adapted where the substrate is the radioligand and the drug and the ACE interaction is time, concentration, pH, chloride and zinc dependent (Shapiro & Riordan, 1984; Jackson, Cubela & Johnston, 1986; Johnston et al, 1988). Specific and sensitive immunoassay of ACE inhibitors are also available (Hichens et al, 1981) but such radioimmunoassay methods for perindopril have not been published. Analysis of both perindopril and perindoprilat by combined high pressure liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry has been described (Tsaconas et al, 1989).

2.2. PHARMACOLOGICAL PROPERTIES

The interaction of inhibitors of ACE in a variety of physiological and pathophysiological states is more complex than initially appreciated. Initially characterised in horse plasma by Skeggs and colleagues (1956), ACE is now known to be widely distributed throughout many tissues. The specific evidence for this differentiation and its implications for the results of treatment with ACE inhibitor drugs is considered in the following chapter (see chapter 3). Although ACE has a variety of neurohormonal substrates it is generally felt that the predominant effects of enzyme inhibition are mediated through a reduction in the generation of angiotensin II from angiotensin I. The central effect of this hormone is pressure and volume homeostasis. Secondary elevation of renin, angiotensinogen and angiotensin I by negative feedback and falls in aldosterone and angiotensin II are observed after acute treatment. Enzyme inhibition is known to be competitive for a number of inhibitors (Ondetti & Cushman, 1982) with at least two binding sites on the enzyme itself (Perich et al, 1991). This is also likely to be the case for perindopril (Laubie et al, 1984).

It should be noted that recent studies with sensitive and specific assays of angiotensin peptides have suggested that persistent ACE inhibition can be accompanied by resetting of the renin angiotensin system and the reappearance of angiotensin II in plasma, which is not reflected by ACE inhibition determined in vitro (Nussberger et al, 1988, 1989).

2.2.1. Inhibition of ACE and hormonal effects

A. Circulating ACE

Laubie and colleagues (1984) demonstrated ACE inhibition by perindopril, attenuation of the pressor dose response curve to angiotensin I infusion and a potentiation of the vasodilatation with exogenous bradykinin in a variety of animal species. In these studies the in vitro potency of perindoprilat was approximately **1,000** fold greater than that of the parent compound against serum ACE. Both drug and metabolite exhibited competitive antagonism of the enzyme. Intravenous administration of perindopril was followed by de-esterification to perindoprilat, which appeared to be more efficient in rats and rabbits than in cats, guinea pigs and dogs. This was reflected by the ED₅₀ of circulating ACE and in the ID₅₀ of the pressor response to angiotensin I in anaesthetised animals (rabbits > rats >> cats >> guinea pig >> dog). Unger and associates (1986) using inhibition of rat plasma ACE showed that the curves for ramiprilat and perindoprilat were almost identical and both were 50-100 fold more potent than enalaprilat or captopril respectively. Using human plasma ACE, Johnston and colleagues (1988) found that the rank order of potency of a variety of ACE inhibitors including both perindopril and perindoprilat was comparable whether expressed in terms of IC₅₀ or by radio-inhibitor displacement. They reaffirmed the approximately 1,000 fold difference between perindopril and perindoprilat.

It should be noted that the source of circulating plasma ACE has not been clearly established (Erdos, 1976). Although lung, kidney and vascular endothelium in culture can release large amounts of the enzyme with similar kinetic and inhibitory characteristics between different species (Takada et al, 1982; Miyazaki et al, 1984), evidence is emerging that this may not be the case for circulating serum or plasma ACE (Ibarra-Bubio et al, 1989; Harrigan, Hughes & Meredith, 1989). Thus data on the tissue assimilation of specific agents for example perindopril, should probably be assessed in human tissue and circulating ACE.

ACE inhibition, as assessed by synthetic substrate in vitro, has repeatedly been shown to be poorly correlated to the haemodynamic effects (Waeber et al, 1980; Unger et al, 1986). Persistent and unquantified tissue ACE inhibition may be one explanation for this phenomenon but Nussberger et al (1989) have shown that the definition of ACE inhibition in vivo using sensitive analysis of angiotensin I and angiotensin II may clarify the relationship (see section 3.2.1). As yet the effect of perindopril or perindoprilat on ACE has only been defined using in vitro techniques. There may be a question mark over the reliability of these assessments. The comparative potency of perindopril and perindoprilat on the IC₅₀ of human plasma ACE is summarised in Table 1.

The onset of circulating ACE inhibition after oral perindopril is slower than that seen with other ACE inhibitors (Brunner, Nussberger & Waeber, 1985) taking approximately four hours to achieve greater than 90% inhibition in studies conducted in normal volunteers (Bussien et al, 1986; Richer et al, 1987; Lees & Reid, 1987). Bussien and colleagues (1986) found that doses of greater than 4 mg provided greater than 70% inhibition of plasma ACE after a single dose with a maximum response of 79% inhibition after 16 mg. Lees and Reid (1987) found comparable inhibition 24 hours after a dose of 8 mg or greater.

Chronic treatment with oral perindopril in doses of 1- 16 mg daily has also been reported in normotensive, male volunteers. In two studies the level of ACE inhibition 24 hours after dosage remained at approximately 60-70% of baseline, dose related, with a slow return towards normal in the days after discontinuation. Neither of these studies recorded the return to baseline activity during monitoring (Bussien et al, 1986; Lees & Reid, 1987).

B, Neurohormonal changes

It would be expected that inhibition of circulating ACE would cause falls in angiotensin II and aldosterone with elevation of plasma renin activity and angiotensin I. Oral perindopril in acute and chronic settings has been shown to produce these trends four hours after oral doses of 4 and 8 mg (Bussien et al, 1986). In this study, although

Table 2.1: Plasma concentrations (EC_{50}) of a variety of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors corresponding to 50% inhibition of maximal ACE activity (human plasma) (after Johnston, 1988).

DRUG	EC ₅₀ (M)	DRUG	EC ₅₀ (M)
Perindopril	0.1 x 10 ⁻⁴	Perindoprilat	0.18 x 10 ⁻⁸
Enalapril	0.24 x 10 ⁻⁴	Enalaprilat	0.25 x 10 ⁻⁸
Ramipril	0.8 x 10 ⁻⁵	Ramiprilat	0.19 x 10 ⁻⁸
Cilazapril	0.28 x 10 ⁻⁶	Cilazaprilat	0.8 x 10 ⁻⁹
Lisinopril	0.45 x 10 ⁻⁸		
Captopril	0.22×10^{-7}		

aldosterone was seen four hours post dosing, at 24 hours the hormones had returned to baseline values. This is in contrast to the first dose response where angiotensin II and aldosterone remained low at 24 hours. Lees and Reid (1987) confirmed dose related elevation of plasma renin activity after oral doses of 1-16 mg, however the effects on plasma aldosterone were variable. Chronic treatment for 7 days produced further elevation of plasma renin activity. Circulating levels of catecholamines were unaltered.

Richer et al (1987) conducted more detailed temporal sampling of plasma renin activity and aldosterone and found with doses of 4, 8 and 16 mg that there was a progressive elevation of plasma renin activity peaking at 6 hours post dosage though once again plasma aldosterone was not significantly altered. These workers suggested that this was due to the low baseline values associated with supine sampling.

2.2.2. Haemodynamic Effects

A. Normal Volunteers

The effects of ACE inhibitors on arterial pressure, organ perfusion and blood flow in normal volunteers and cardiovascular diseases have been extensively investigated. In normal salt replete volunteers the effects of acute inhibition on supine and erect blood pressure are controversial. Carefully controlled studies with appropriate doses and placebo usually reveal small but significant falls in blood pressure in animals. The acute effects of ACE inhibitors are suggested to be mediated in part by reductions in angiotensin II and are dependent on the prevailing activation of the circulating renin angiotensin system and dietary salt depletion where there is renin activation (Lever, 1989). However, ACE inhibition will also produce a hypotensive response on long-term treatment in low renin states such as is the case in the majority of essential hypertension (Brown et al, 1965). This has been taken to reflect modification of the slow pressor element of hypertension which may be mediated through renin, angiotensin II or aldosterone (Lever, 1986, 1989).

In the conscious dog, Laubie et al (1984) demonstrated an inhibition of the pressor response to angiotensin I using both intravenous and oral perindopril and intravenous perindoprilat in cumulative dosage. Vasodilatation mediated by exogenous bradykinin was seen to be potentiated. Conscious animals did not show a hypotensive response until sodium restriction was employed although this was not required in anaesthetised animals.

Lees and Reid (1987b,c) observed the response to oral perindopril or intravenous perindoprilat in salt replete normal volunteers. They noted a fall in erect systolic blood pressure with an oral dose of 16 mg of perindopril but not with lower doses. This was maintained over seven days chronic therapy and was present without alterations in heart rate. Intravenous perindoprilat given as a bolus of 4 mg caused a fall in erect diastolic blood pressure over 8 hours and a similar but not significant trend was noted in erect systolic blood pressure. Ajayi et al (1986) studying ten normotensive salt replete volunteers found a modest but significant fall in supine systolic and diastolic blood pressure when giving 8 mg oral perindopril in a double-blind, crossover assessment of autonomic function. There was no effect on heart rate.

In contrast Bideville et al (1987) studied five of 16 healthy, male volunteers treated with 8 mg perindopril daily using semi- automatic, ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Neither this treatment nor cilazapril (5mg per day) nor CGS 12824A (10 mg) produced any consistent effect on blood pressure either acutely or over eight days chronic therapy. Similarly Richer et al (1987) in a double-blind, crossover study in six healthy volunteers found no effect on blood pressure or heart rate after single doses of 4, 8 and 16 mg perindopril despite dose dependent augmentation of brachial and carotid artery flow for up to ten hours after drug treatment and the observation of appropriate neurohormonal changes in circulating ACE, plasma renin activity and aldosterone.

28

Dollery and colleagues (1984) have described initial dose finding studies in normal volunteers employing individual angiotensin I pressor responses in five subjects. Perindopril (2.5, 5 and 10 mg orally) inhibited responses by between 30 - 90%. Maximal inhibition of angiotensin II pressor response, set at 25 mmHg for each individual, occurred approximately 4-6 hours after treatment with maximal rises of 17.2, 9.5 and 4.6 mmHg with the three doses employed. At 24 hours after a dose of 10 mg a pressor response of only 16.6 mmHg was noted, which was associated with persistent ACE inhibition and elevation of plasma renin activity.

Boussien et al (1986) assessed the individual pressor response in three subjects to intravenous angiotensin I with concurrent oral perindopril in doses of 2, 4 and 8 mg on different days. Only with 8 mg was a consistent attenuation of the pressor responses noted within 1.5 hours of dosing. Eight days chronic therapy with 4 mg oral perindopril in twelve subjects produced no changes in semi- recumbent blood pressure or heart rate.

B. Essential Hypertension

Although initially restricted to the treatment of severe hypertension where other agents had failed, it is now clear that ACE inhibitors are effective in any stage of hypertension regardless of the prevailing renin activity (Williams, 1988). Moreover the United States Joint National Committee on the detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood pressure (Chobanion et al, 1988) recommends that they can be considered as first line agents similar in standing to diuretic therapy or beta blockade. In the UK all recent ACE inhibitors are licensed for first line use in hypertension.

In experimental hypertension perindopril has been shown to lower blood pressure in several strains of spontaneously hypertensive rat (DiNicolantonio & Doyle, 1985; Unger et al, 1986) and in experimental Goldblatt 2 kidney 1 clip hypertension (Michel et al, 1986). In acute studies with or without salt depletion the response appears to be unrelated to pretreatment plasma renin activity or the degree of circulating ACE inhibition and is dissociated in onset and duration from the hormonal changes (Di Nicolantonio & Doyle, 1985). The initial response to ACE inhibition is thought to be mediated mainly by a decreased peripheral vascular resistance in the absence of changes in mean arterial pressure. This has been shown in normal, human volunteers by Thiullez et al (1988) and Webb and colleagues (1988) using pulsed Doppler techniques and forearm venous occlusion plethysmography.

The haemodynamic efficacy of oral perindopril in human essential hypertension has been documented by several groups. Lees and Reid (1987d) showed an average reduction of arterial pressure from 164/93 on placebo to 142/82 in a group of seven salt replete essential hypertensive patients treated with 4 mg perindopril daily for one month in a single-blind study. No first dose accentuation of the antihypertensive effect was noted and symptomatic hypotension was absent. Blood levels of perindoprilat on chronic therapy revealed high peak concentrations but comparable circulating ACE inhibition although the latter tended to be less pronounced. Plasma renin activity remained elevated on chronic therapy whereas aldosterone was unchanged. These patients did not have high renin hypertension.

Luccioni and colleagues (1988) demonstrated a dose- related antihypertensive effect of oral perindopril in forty patients with essential hypertension treated in a doubleblind assessment. Doses of 2, 4 and 8 mg oral perindopril or placebo given once daily after a two week placebo run-in produced dose related falls using automatic sphygmomanometry.

Morgan and colleagues (1987) in 32 patients with essential hypertension found that the falls in erect and supine blood pressure noted after dose titration with 2 - 8 mg of oral perindopril given once daily were unrelated to the sodium excretion or the plasma renin activity in this group.

Safar and colleagues have studied the effect of perindopril on arteriolar dilatation

using a pulsed Doppler flow meter in essential hypertension (Asmar et al, 1987; Asmar et al, 1988a,b). In 16 patients with essential hypertension defined as diastolic blood pressure greater than 100 mmHg, three months treatment with oral perindopril 2 - 8 mg per day significantly reduced blood pressure and this was associated with increased brachial artery flow, flow velocity and arterial diameter. This was not thought to be due to a simple flow dependent dilatation as occlusion produced a greater fall in flow velocity in perindopril treated patients with an equivalent fall in arterial diameter. Treatment was found to be associated with increased arterial compliance and reduced pulse wave velocity. In this same series of patient studies echocardiographic cardiac mass was also reduced by perindopril treatment and this beneficial effect persisted after discontinuation of therapy despite the return of arterial parameters towards pretreatment baseline values. Structural changes were therefore dissociated from simple pressure reduction at a level beyond first order windkessel vessels and these clinical studies were in support of experimental work by the same group in Goldblatt renovascular hypertension (Levy et al, 1988). Not all experimental studies however, support such close association between continued antihypertensive effect after perindopril withdrawal and the vessel structure (Christensen et al, 1988).

The regression of left ventricular hypertrophy on chronic therapy with 4 - 8 mg oral perindopril daily was also found by Grandee et al (1988) in a study of 15 patients with essential hypertension. Echocardiographic left ventricular mass was decreased without an alteration of left ventricular diastolic diameter or peak systolic shortening though diastolic relaxation rate was increased. A cold pressor test was employed to assess the response to acute increases in afterload and this was unimpaired by the changes mediated by perindopril therapy.

In animal models of hypertension reduction of left ventricular hypertrophy has been noted on chronic perindopril treatment by several studies (Barres et al, 1985; Cadilhac & Giudicelli, 1986). However Michel et al (1988a) in 1 clip 2 kidney renovascular hypertensive rats or deoxycorticosterone salt hypertension failed to show reversal of structural changes in the myocardium with chronic perindopril therapy though the collagen content was considerably reduced.

West and colleagues (1989) studied eight patients with essential hypertension using 24 hour intra-arterial blood pressure monitoring. During six weeks therapy with 8 mg perindopril daily in a double-blind, placebo controlled, crossover study they noted reduction of average hourly blood pressure throughout the 24 hour period with maintenance of the normal circadian pattern. Forearm blood flow assessed by venous occlusion plethysmography was increased. The haemodynamic response to Valsalva's manoeuvre, tilt, isometric exercise and cold pressor testing was unaffected by perindopril but the sino-aortic baroreceptor heart rate reflex was reset within two hours of the first dose. This remained altered throughout chronic therapy and the heart rate remained unchanged. Chronic therapy with perindopril was associated with a persistent increase in parasympathetic tone. Enhanced parasympathetic tone has been found in normotensive volunteers in the studies of Ajayi et al (1986) using oral perindopril and has been noted with other ACE inhibitors (Sturani et al, 1982; Campbell, et al, 1985; Ajayi et al, 1985).

In a study of 21 patients monitored by non-invasive 24 hour ambulatory blood pressure recording Asmar and colleagues (1988c) found that 4 - 8 mg of perindopril once daily affected systolic pressure greater than diastolic pressure. This conclusion was derived from the relationship between systolic and diastolic pressures before and after three months therapy. This is also a feature of other ACE inhibitors (Webster et al, 1986).

The place of perindopril as an antihypertensive agent in clinical practice has been studied in three multicentre trials of similar design described by Zanchetti and Desche
(1989) and Lees and colleagues (1989). Oral perindopril (4 mg) was compared to captopril 25 mg twice daily (165 patients); atenolol 50 mg (173 patients) or to a diuretic regimen of amiloride and hydrochlorthiazide (165 patients) in double-blind, placebo controlled studies in mild to moderate essential hypertension. After single blind placebo washout, treatment was designed to obtain a diastolic blood pressure less than or equal to 90 mmHg. If this was not achieved at monthly review then the daily dose was initially doubled and if required subsequent treatment was supplemented by hydrochlorthiazide 50 mg (captopril or atenolol comparisons) or atenolol 50 - 100 mg daily (diuretic comparison).

In the study comparing perindopril to captopril (Lees et al, 1989) monotherapy was equally effective in each group (49% vs 49%) though the overall fall in diastolic blood pressure after three months therapy was greater with perindopril (26.9 \pm 1.9 vs 18.9 ± 1.9 mmHg). This probably reflects the higher initial pretreatment diastolic blood pressure in this group (105.4 \pm 0.8 vs 102.3 \pm 0.6). With dose titration, control was achieved more readily with perindopril monotherapy than captopril (75% vs 57%). In an extension of this trial Herpin et al (1989) using 24 hour ambulatory monitoring suggested that diastolic blood pressure was controlled for a significantly greater part of 24 hours by perindopril once daily than by captopril twice daily

In the series comparing perindopril to atenolol, after three months therapy the reduction in erect systolic but not diastolic blood pressure was greater with perindopril. The mean reduction in supine blood pressure (26.5 mmHg) was greater than that achieved with atenolol (20.6 mmHg) and in this, as in the diuretic arm of the study, the pretreatment blood pressures were equivalent.

Diuretic therapy was compared to perindopril 4 mg daily in the preceding format with dosage doubling and the addition of beta blockade as stepped therapy. After three months treatment monotherapy was equally effective in the perindopril and diuretic treated groups (72% vs 72%) and in total the percentage of patients responding with monotherapy or combination was not significantly different between perindopril therapy (78%) or diuretic based treatment (84%). Although the reductions in supine blood pressure were similar, erect mean blood pressure was reduced to a greater extent by diuretic therapy (-31.1 mmHg) and perindopril (-24.6 mmHg).

Backhouse and colleagues (1989) in forty patients with essential hypertension has reaffirmed the antihypertensive efficacy of perindopril. With the combination of perindopril and a thiazide diuretic a synergistic response was noted in antihypertensive effect and in the elevation of plasma renin activity in this trial conducted over one month using double-blind therapy.

C. Cardiac Failure

It is now generally accepted that ACE inhibitors are the major adjuncts to diuretic therapy in the management of chronic cardiac failure (Packer, 1989). Efficacy has been proven in terms of alleviating symptoms increasing exercise capacity and producing a significant reduction in long-term mortality (Cleland et al, 1984; Consensus Trial Study Group, 1987; Captopril Digoxin Multicentre Research Group, 1988). While efficacy is accepted in severe chronic heart failure there is also evidence to support the use of ACEI in less serious degrees of cardiac failure (Kleber et al, 1992; SOLVD Investigators 1991;1992). These issues are dealt with fully in chapter 4 (section 4.4).

2.2.3. Effects on renal function and renal blood flow

In a double blind study in eleven normotensive volunteers on controlled sodium intake Reyes et al (1988) showed that single doses of 4 and 8 mg perindopril produced dose dependent increases in 24 hour urinary output and instantaneous renal clearance of sodium and chloride without affecting urinary water production. Other solutes were

unaffected by treatment though urate excretion tended to increase.

Morgan and colleagues (1987) in a study of 32 hypertensive patients without renal failure stratified the group in accordance with 24 hour sodium excretion. No effect of perindopril treatment (2 - 8 mg daily) was found on glomerular filtration rate, 24 hour urinary protein or plasma urea or creatinine with titrated antihypertensive therapy.

In ten patients with hypertensive nephropathy Rondeau et al (1988) reported that 15 days therapy with oral perindopril did not alter proximal or distal tubular sodium reabsorption as reflected by renal sodium or lithium clearance.

The effects of ACE inhibition on renal blood flow and sodium handling are complex and related in most instances to the modulating effect of angiotensin II on vascular resistance at a variety of pre and post glomerular sites (Hollenberg & Williams, 1988). Renal arteriolar vasoconstriction and reduced renal blood flow are common in essential hypertension and thus improved flow with ACE inhibitor therapy is an important component of antihypertensive effect. This response has been documented for other ACE inhibitors (Mimram et al, 1979; Hollenberg & Williams, 1988).

Experimental studies have been conducted in anaesthetised dogs using local bolus injection of perindoprilat into the renal arteries (Schmidt et al, 1989). Increased renal blood flow was demonstrated after 48 hours sodium restriction associated with a decreased filtration fraction. Renal vascular resistance was reduced in association with effects predominantly on the efferent side of the glomerulus, the preferential site of action of angiotensin II. Increased fractional elimination of electrolytes was noted due to altered sodium and water reabsorption in the proximal tubule secondary to the decrease in filtration fraction. In general the effects were much less prominent in sodium replete animals as would be expected (Hollenberg & Williams, 1988).

In eight essential hypertensive patients without nephropathy on a standard sodium intake Chaignon and colleagues (1988) saw only marginal increases in renal blood flow

in an open study using four days therapy with perindopril (8 mg). Calculated renal vascular resistance fell with initial therapy and remained depressed on day 5. Glomerular filtration rate was unchanged and filtration fraction decreased significantly from 0.27 to 0.25 after four days treatment. An acute and chronic natriuresis was evident in this study.

In the last few years a number of studies in mild diabetic nephropathy associated with persistent or exercise related microalbuminuria have suggested a beneficial effect of converting enzyme inhibition in the absence of hypertension and without a fall in mean arterial pressure (Taguma et al, 1985; Marre et al, 1987; Romanelli et al, 1989). These observations were recorded in patients with equivalent diabetic control. Similar benefit has been recorded in patients with proteinuria due to hypertensive renal disease (Ikeda et al, 1989). Preliminary reports have suggested that this beneficial effect on microalbuminuria in hypertension complicated by diabetes is also evident on long-term perindopril therapy (Brichard et al, 1988). Other studies suggest that this property is at least shared by calcium channel blocking drugs (Melbourne Diabetic Nephropathy Study Group,1991)

2.2.4. Cardiac ischaemia and arrhythmia

The investigation of the role of ACE inhibition in ischaemic heart disease and in arrhythmia control is a rapidly developing field. Myocardial infarction is known to be associated with activation of the renin angiotensin system and linked alterations in sodium and potassium balance may generate an arrhythmogenic state (Dargie et al, 1987; Michorowski & Ceremuzynski, 1983). Interactions with the sympathetic nervous system, myocardial perfusion and possibly antiarrhythmic effects may underlie some of the beneficial effects of ACE inhibition in ischaemic heart disease and infarction (Ertl, 1988). Ribuot and Rochette (1987) have presented experimental evidence in ischaemia induced arrhythmias which suggests that captopril, enalapril, or perindopril all reduce the incidence of arrhythmia and death to an equal extent in comparison with untreated control animals. Using a similar model in rats Howes et al (1989,1991) demonstrated that chronic perindopril therapy post infarction attenuates the development of cardiomegaly seen in control animals. Tissue concentrations of 3,4 dihydroxyphenylethylene glycol were also noted to be reduced suggesting an attenuation of the chronic increase in cardiac sympathetic activity. Michel et al (1988b) also using a rat infarction model, found treatment with perindopril produced a hypotensive response, attenuation of the infarct related rise in atrial natriuretic peptide and reduced atrial and right ventricular mass. The reduced ventricular mass seen on therapy was accompanied by a reversal of infarct related changes in isomyosin profile and a reduction in the volume density of collagen. As yet there are no clinical studies assessing the effects of perindopril or perindoprilat in human ischaemic heart disease.

2.3. PHARMACOKINETIC PROPERTIES

The pharmacokinetics of ACE inhibitors are non linear and model independent methods are the most appropriate techniques to assess this group of drugs (Till et al, 1984).

2.3.1. Protein binding and tissue distribution

The protein binding of ACE inhibitors is variable between agents and this influences the distribution and availability of the drugs to active sites. The binding of carbon 14 labelled perindopril and perindoprilat to plasma proteins has been studied using membrane dialysis techniques to steady state. The data are summarised in Table 2.2. In general the binding of perindopril is higher than that for perindoprilat, the predominant fraction being bound to albumin *in vitro*. Limited in vivo studies in

humans showed a decrease in plasma protein binding with time after administration of perindopril which was thought to be related to the metabolic conversion to perindoprilat.

Limited information on the tissue distribution of the drug in experimental animals is available. Using tritiated perindopril in tracer doses with our without the addition of a 10 mg/kg bolus intravenous dose, Borge et al (1987) showed a rapid and extensive distribution to the lung within three hours of administration. Distribution to the kidney lagged behind that of the lung but was also extensive at 24 hours and in general all binding was less marked after larger doses.

3.2. Pharmacokinetics in normal volunteers and essential hypertension

Lees and Reid (1987b) have defined the pharmacokinetics of intravenous perindoprilat in eight normotensive volunteers using 1, 2 or 4 mg bolus doses (Figure 2.2). Plasma concentration time profile was fitted best by a three compartment model in this study with half lives for the alpha, beta and gamma phases of 0.2±0.04 hours, 1.24±0.2 hours, and 31±17 hours respectively. The respective area under the curve (AUC) for the three doses was 206±31 hr/ng/ml, 411±63 hr/ng/ml and 822±125 hr/ng/ml giving an estimated clearance value of approximately 4.9 l/hr.

After similar studies with oral doses of perindopril 4, 8 or 16 mg daily for seven days estimated clearance was similar after the first and seventh doses $(45.9\pm13.2 \text{ l/hr vs} 40.9\pm8.6 \text{ l/hr})$ as was the volume of distribution $(305\pm12.8 \text{ litres vs} 311\pm14.4 \text{ litres})$. Time to the peak plasma concentration of perindoprilat was dose dependent, being 0.4 ± 0.6 hours after 4 mg, 2.1 ± 0.9 hours after 8 mg and 2.9 ± 0.6 hours after 16 mg of oral perindopril. Again no changes were found in the pharmacokinetics after one week's chronic therapy.

Table 2.2: Plasma protein binding of 19 C-perindopril and 14 C-perindoprilat

studied using membrane dialysis to steady state in vitro.

PROTEIN	PERCENT B	INDING AT	STEADY STA	TE (mean ± SI	(0	
	PERINDOPR 10	IL (ng/g) 100	500	PERINDOPR 10	ILAT (ng/g) 100	500
Human plasma (n=5)	59.9±0.9	61.0±12.2	59.4±0.3	18.2±0.4	10.2±0.9	9.3±0
α-1, giycoprotein (0.7g/i)(n=10)	6.8±2.9	0.8±2.4	0.2±0.2			
Albumin (n=10)	42.4±1.1	8.1±2.0	7.2±0.3			
Albumin/fatty acids (n=9,10)	63.8±0.8	39.0±1.2	38.6±1.2			•



Figure 2.2: Plasma perindoprilat concentrations following acute bolus intravenous administration of 1, 2 and 4 mg perindoprilat (n=8). Data from Lees & Reid (1987b).

Drummer et al, (1987c) studied 24 essential hypertensive patients treated with 2, 4 or 8 mg oral perindopril for four weeks. Acute studies revealed a dose dependent increase in plasma perindoprilat with a T_{max} of approximately 6.5 hours and peak concentrations of 6.7, 19 and 58 ng/ml respectively. Four weeks therapy produced higher peak concentrations and a significant reduction in the time to peak to approximately 3.2 hours. The area under the curve (AUC) at all three doses was unchanged by chronic therapy. The glucuronide conjugate of perindopril was readily detectable after the first dose in this study but declined rapidly with a half life of approximately 2.9 hours. During chronic therapy a smaller amount was found. Urinary excretion studies after a single oral dose of 4 mg revealed 2.6% excreted as perindopril, 6.4% as perindoprilat and 6.5% as the glucuronide which on chronic therapy increased to 4.2% for the parent drug and 13.2% for the diacid but that excreted as glucuronide was reduced. Predictably the urinary recovery for oral perindopril was much less than that seen after intravenous treatment found by Lees, Green and Reid (1988) of 70±16% in normotensive volunteers studied up to 120 hours.

The excretion of perindopril is characterised by an extended terminal elimination phase close to the limit of assay detection. This has been observed with other ACE inhibitors (Till et al, 1984; Francis et al, 1987). This phase does not predict the accumulation profile during repeated dosing and is thought to relate to saturable protein binding to ACE in blood and possibly at tissue sites. Lees et al (1989) have studied their previously collected data with intravenous perindoprilat to assess the applicability of a non linear model incorporating zero order saturable tissue and plasma ACE binding. On comparison to standard 1, 2 and 3 compartment models the non linear binding model gave the best fit to the observed data.

2.3.3. Age and other disease states

A. Age

The influence of increased age on the pharmacokinetics of perindopril have been studied by Lees, Green and Reid (1988). In a double-blind crossover design using oral perindopril (8 mg) with saline intravenously or intravenous perindoprilat (1 mg) with oral placebo, the plasma profile and renal elimination was examined in eight healthy elderly volunteers in comparison to eight young volunteers. The systemic availability of perindopril after oral perindopril was increased in the elderly $(35\pm17\% \text{ vs } 19\pm7\%)$ primarily due to an increased conversion of perindopril to perindoprilat ($61\pm20\%$ vs $32\pm15\%$). Renal clearance of the drug estimated from the cumulative urinary recovery divided by the AUC from 0 - 120 hours was reduced in the elderly in comparison to the young ($57\pm25\%$ vs $70\pm16\%$) although this was not statistically significantly different. Increased availability of the drug in this group with oral therapy may require dose reduction to prevent excess blood pressure falls. The changes are similar to those previously observed with other ACE inhibitors (Lees & Reid, 1987a; Hockings et al, 1986).

B. Hepatic impairment

Tsai and colleagues (1989) have conducted pharmacokinetic studies in patients with hepatic cirrhosis. In eight patients with stable, biopsy proven, predominantly alcohol mediated cirrhosis (7/8) oral perindopril (8 mg) or intravenous perindoprilat (2 mg) was administered in a placebo controlled, double-blind, crossover study. The calculated systemic availability of perindoprilat in molar terms after oral perindopril was not reduced, indeed it tended to be greater than in similar studies in normal volunteers ($30\pm6\%$ vs $19\pm7\%$; Lees and Reid, 1989). The patients in this study were middle aged (59 ± 9 years) and this was suggested to be a factor in explaining the apparent increase in

drug availability.

C. Renal impairment and congestive cardiac failure

Lees et al (1988) in their study of the influence of age on the elimination of perindopril found that renal clearance of the drug was reduced in proportion to the lower creatinine clearance in the elderly group. Previous studies with other ACE inhibitors have shown an elevation of serum concentration, decreased excretion and urinary recovery (Lancaster & Todd, 1988; Duchin et al, 1988; Todd & Goa, 1989).

Sennesael and colleagues (1992) studied 23 patients with stable chronc renal impairment secondary to hypertension given 2 to 4mg perindopril for 15days. Steady state was reached in three days and no decline in renal function was noted. Pharmacokinetics of perindopril were unaffected by renal dysfunction, however the renal clearance of perindoprilat closely correlated with creatinine clearance. Though the direct implications of this for toxicity are unclear, dosage reduction or decreased frequency of administration is generally recommended.

Similarly the effects of chronic cardiac failure on the pharmacokinetics of perindopril have not yet been defined. Evidence from studies with other ACE inhibitors are contradictory in that in some cases pharmacokinetic parameters are altered (Till et al, 1989; Duchin et al, 1988) whereas in other studies no changes have been observed (Dickstein et al, 1987).

4. CLINICAL USE AND SIDE EFFECTS

An adequate description of the side effect profile of any new drug awaits widespread clinical use with appropriate and detailed post marketing surveillance. Such data is not yet available for perindopril given its limited general release at the time of preparation of this review. The adverse reactions to this group of drugs are often divided into those which are class related and those which are seen only with individual agents (Williams, 1988; Di Bianco, 1986). Hypotension, renal haemodynamic dysfunction, hyperkalaemia, cough and, rarely, angioedema are regarded as present with all ACE inhibitors and in general associated with concurrent potassium sparing diuretic use, low salt intake, renal artery stenosis, solitary kidney or uncontrolled cardiac failure. In this respect patients who would be regarded as at high risk of class related adverse reactions include those with collagen vascular disease, renal disease including renal artery stenosis (regardless of the serum creatinine) or essential hypertension/refractory cardiac failure with a serum creatinine greater than 1.7 mg/dl (1.5 mmol.1⁻¹) prior to treatment (Rucinska et al, 1989). Non productive cough is an often quoted side effect yet has proved difficult to quantify. It has been reported relatively infrequently (2- 4%) in clinical trials. However its true incidence in clinical practice may be nearer 10-15%. Idiosyncratic dermatological reactions seen with captopril have proven to be dose related (Irvin & Viau, 1986) and cross-reactivity between various agents is invariably limited when proteinuria, skin rash and taste disturbance are considered (Jackson et al, 1988c).

In the largest clinical studies with perindopril so far published, Zanchetti and Desche (1989) recorded patient withdrawal in 14 of 249 patients treated with perindopril compared with 18 of 254 patients treated with alternative therapies excluding placebo. These figures include non compliance and personal reasons for withdrawal and all recorded symptomatic withdrawals were minor and infrequent. A summary of the limited side effect data available from this experience is given in Table 2.3.

 Table 2.3: Incidence of side effects in a multicentre trial of oral perindopril in patients

 with essential hypertension (after Zanchetti & Desche, 1989).

SIDE EFFECT	NUMBER O EFFECT SU WITHDRAV	NUMBER OF PATIENTS EXPERIENCING SIDE EFFECT SUFFICIENT TO CAUSE DRUG WITHDRAWAL				
	PERINDOPRIL (n=249)	CAPTOPRIL (n=83)	ATENOLOL (n=88)	CO-AMILOZIDE (n=83)		
Rash	2	1	-			
Dizziness	1	1	1	2		
Headache	1		1	1.5-2.6		
Flushing	1	1.1.1.1.1.1	10.			
Nausea		1	1	-		
Hypotension				2		
Aggravation of	f 1	1 (MI)		1 (CCF)		
Electrolyte disturbances		-	-	1		
Overall S/E(%) 3.6	3.6	4.5	4.8		

CHAPTER 3

THE TISSUE AND PLASMA BASED RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE; kininase II; EC 3.4.15.1) is a zinc based metalloprotease closely related in structure and function to pancreatic carboxipeptidase A. Inhibitors of the ACE enzyme developed from the mechanistically related zinc metalloprotease bovine pancreatic carboxypeptidase A (Martin et al,1989). ACE has been extensively studied since it was first described by Skeggs and colleagues in horse plasma in 1956 (Skeggs et al, 1956). The enzyme is known to circulate in soluble form and can also be found anchored by carbohydrate residues to a variety of membrane structures. It operates primarily as an exopeptidase but also has recently described endopeptidase functions (Ehlers & Riordan, 1989). The molecular structure of the enzyme is known to include two identical putative active sites. Probably only one functional site is involved in catalysis. This high affinity binding site incorporates a single zinc atom providing competitive interaction with a variety of substrates, primarily angiotensin I or ACE inhibitors (Shapiro & Riordon, 1984; Strittmatter & Snyder, 1985; Martin et al, 1989).

In phylogenetic terms the enzyme is widely distributed among invertebrate and vertebrate species as a tissue based system with the addition of a circulating renin angiotensin system (RAS) appearing in species more advanced than the chondrichthian fish (Nishimura et al, 1973). In general terms the enzyme is non specific interacting with a range of peptide substrates in addition to its major role in the generation of angiotensin II (AII) from angiotensin I (AI) and to a lesser extent in the degradation of bradykinin. Alternative routes for the generation of angiotensin II from angiotensin I have been demonstrated both in plasma and tissues (de Silva et al, 1988; Jacobsen et al,

1988; Johnson & Drummer, 1988; Okamura et al, 1990).

Specific inhibitors of ACE activity were initially purified from the venom of the snake Bothrops Jararaca which led to the peptide intravenous ACE inhibitor, teprotide (Ondetti et al, 1971) and subsequently to studies with the first oral derivative, captopril, in man some years later (Ondetti, Rubin & Cushman, 1977). Since that time numerous developments in ACE inhibitor structure have led to the production of prodrug and non prodrug molecules, further sulphydril group containing inhibitors, the availability of intravenous diacids and a variety of hepatic and renal routes of elimination to the extent that recent estimates suggest that some 50 compounds are undergoing various stages of clinical development or clinical use (Brunner et al, 1985; Johnson, 1988). One such compound, perindopril, has been used as an illustrative example in the preceding chapter.

The purpose of the following review is to highlight the evidence available for the existence and functional importance of a tissue based renin angiotensin system and the importance, if any, of differential interaction between ACE inhibitors with tissue and plasma ACE in a variety of sites.

3.1. DEFINITION OF THE TISSUE RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

Tissue based elements of the renin angiotensin system have been studied for the past ten years in an attempt to delineate the contribution of circulating and "tissue fixed" systems to biological effects in a range of key organs (Ganten et al, 1983). In general terms membrane bound ACE is known to be susceptible to hormone based induction which is clearly demonstrable in the maturation of monocyte cells towards macrophages and the changes noticed in granulomatous diseases such as sarcoidosis (Friedland et al, 1978). The enzyme maturation and induction found in these circumstances is glucocorticoid dependent and relatively specific (Hinman et al, 1979; Vuk-Pavlovic et al, 1989). Studies in experimental animals have shown that the tissue renin angiotensin renin gene expression (Metzger et al, 1988). These and other general controlling factors are summarised in Table 3.1.

The evidence regarding the tissue specific distribution of ACE activity and a tissue RAS will be considered systematically for the major sites (i.e. vascular, pulmonary, cardiac, brain and renal) in the following sections. One tissue which has received considerable attention which will not be considered in detail is the ACE activity which has been identified in the testis. This isoenzyme of ACE is known to have a different peptide structure from either plasma or pulmonary enzyme and has been widely demonstrated as inaccessible to the effects of circulating ACE inhibitors in a variety of acute animal studies (El-Dorry et al, 1982; Velletri et al, 1985; Jackson et al, 1988; Johnston et al, 1989). The role of this enzyme, presumably during developmental reproductive biology is as yet unclear.

3.1.1. Vascular renin angiotensin system and ACE activity

The tissue based RAS of the vascular tree has been intensively studied as the most logical source mediating the haemodynamic effects of ACE inhibition. A major assumption in the majority of experimental work is that studies in large bore conducting vessels have relevance to more distal resistance vessel structure and response. All the components of the RAS are evident in isolated vascular tissue when studied using the techniques of molecular biology in animals (Dzau, 1986). The key elements of renin and angiotensinogen have been documented to the level of messenger RNA. The peptides can be generated locally or can be taken up from the circulating pool. Due care must be taken to exclude artefactual generation or degradation of angiotensins from simple in vitro pH changes or non specific protease activity (Swales & Hegerty, 1987; Campbell, 1985, 1987). The production of angiotensin II by synthesis and release into culture media has been demonstrated in vitro and in several experimental preparations of isolated

 Table 3.1: Some general factors controlling the renin angiotensin system

- Na⁺/RENIN STATUS
- GLUCOCORTICOIDS
- ANDROGENS
- ACE INHIBITOR THERAPY

and perfused hind limbs without circulating renin or angiotensinogen (Okamura et al, 1986; Mizuno et al, 1988). In these studies exogenous renin was shown to produce a temporal dissociation of an induced pressor response to angiotensin in nephrectomised animals whose circulating renin activity was low or absent. Measured arteriovenous differences in the clearance of exogenous renin implied tight binding of the enzyme to tissue sites with consequent activation of the tissue based renin angiotensin system and subsequent angiotensin II production. Similar experiments documented by Oliver and Sciacca (1984) demonstrated that the pressor response to angiotensinogen and angiotensin I in isolated perfused hindquarters could be ablated by concurrent captopril or peptide renin antagonist. In this situation the tissues generated renin activity over and above the quantity supplied in the infusate.

Although the accurate determination of angiotensin peptides in plasma and tissue are well known to be susceptible to methodological and analytical difficulties (de Silva et al, 1988) including the possibility of alternative routes for the hydrolysis of angiotensin I (Johnson & Drummer, 1988; Ideishi et al, 1990) careful studies on peptide kinetics have given valuable further evidence.

Campbell (1985), considering experimental data on the arteriovenous gradients of angiotensin peptides within subjects calculated a substantial production of angiotensin II in addition to the inactivation of arterial angiotensin II by tissues as demonstrated in classical isolated organ experiments (Ng & Vane, 1968). Using approximations of 40% angiotensin I conversion and 65% for the rates of angiotensin I and II inactivation he calculated that local production of angiotensin I was responsible for 83% of the total venous concentration of angiotensin I and similarly that local production of angiotensin II accounted for 68% of the total venous angiotensin II.

These approximations were recently borne out by elegant studies conducted in man to define the regional generation of angiotensin I in the renal, antecubital, hepatomesenteric and femoral circulations using steady state tracer infusions of exogenous peptide and concomitant captopril therapy. Schalekamp and colleagues demonstrated that 40-90% of venous angiotensin I in these vascular beds was in fact generated by regional production from angiotensinogen (Schalekamp et al, 1989; Admiraal et al, 1990). Similar, though less extensive, studies have been documented by other groups (Reams et al, 1989).

ACE activity has been demonstrated immunohistochemically on vascular endothelium (Ryan et al, 1975; Caldwell et al, 1986) and furthermore the amino acid sequence and molecular structure of vascular ACE has been defined by cDNA cloning techniques (Alhenc-Gelas et al, 1989). The existence of a tissue based renin angiotensin system seems accepted from a number of different viewpoints. However, each element in the system of course must be demonstrated to be co-localised and to interact. As was suggested above for the case of angiotensin I to angiotensin II processing it has to be clear that only one specific enzyme is mediating any extra-vascular processing. This is questioned with regard to renin, since a significant fraction of renin-like activity appears not to be inhibited by renin specific antibodies in some studies (Rosenthal et al, 1984). Whereas co-localisation, specific action and functional interaction have been agreed for some tissues in experimental animals this full picture in the vasculature has been questioned by some authors (Corvol et al, 1989). A key element must be the degree of interaction and interchange of substrates with the circulating endocrine renin angiotensin system.

3.1.2. Pulmonary renin angiotensin system and ACE activity

The pulmonary circulation, on the basis of ex vivo pharmacology (Ng & Vane, 1968), has long been regarded as the most important if not exclusive site for the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II by ACE activity. It has been regarded as the major endocrine function of the lungs (Said, 1982). This view has undergone revision with the more precise definition of tissue renin angiotensin systems in many other sites. Within the lung, ACE activity has been localised on the endothelium of the pulmonary vasculature (Ryan et al, 1980; 1985) but is also present on other parenchymal sites and is widely recognised as a marker of lung injury (Kelley, 1988; Foresti et al, 1989) or of hypoxia (Joderlinic et al, 1988; Oliver et al, 1989).

The anatomy of the pulmonary circulation has allowed this site of tissue ACE activity to be studied using elegant single pass kinetic studies in animals which allow the definition of the enzyme in vivo (Chen et al, 1984; Catravas & White, 1984; Moalli et al, 1985; Linehan et al, 1990). Multiple indicator dilution techniques employing time paired samples of a relevant indicator and an ACE substrate have been applied to the pulmonary circulation (Linehan et al, 1985). The kinetic profile on single transpulmonary passage is mapped employing the synthetic substrate tritiated benzoylphenylalanyl-alanyl proline (³H-BPAP) which is specific substrate for ACE. This sophisticated technique has not been applied to the human pulmonary circulation and has only been used to define the broad responsiveness to ACE inhibition rather than comparing different agents. However Chen et al (1984) showed a markedly attenuated lung metabolism of BPAP produced by 6 days of intravenous captopril bolus dosing in the face of rapid recovery of plasma ACE activity. The time course of pressor responses to angiotensin I after captopril followed the pattern of plasma ACE inhibition, i.e. rapid recovery after each dosing, and did not reflect continuing pulmonary tissue ACE inhibition between dosing. Of great importance was the fact that the mean hypotensive response followed neither the pattern of plasma ACE inhibition nor pressor response to exogenous angiotensin I but the pattern of persistent pulmonary ACE inhibition. This finding is qualitatively similar to the patterns observed in both ex vivo and in vitro studies of the temporal course of pulmonary ACE inhibition after a variety of ACE

inhibitors (Cohen & Kurz, 1982; Sakaguchi et al, 1988; 1989; Welsch et al, 1989).

As with other sites direct comparative studies on the reactivity of pulmonary ACE to different ACE inhibitors are complex in that equipotent doses should be administered preferably by intravenous injection or infusion. Unger et al (1985) demonstrated a slower recovery of pulmonary ACE after single dose ramipril than after enalapril in experimental animals. Relevant information on human tissue ACE, particularly at steady state dosing with ACE inhibitors, is not available. Further experimental studies show that induction of pulmonary ACE occurs on chronic ACE inhibitor therapy (Fyhrquist et al, 1982). Such enzyme induction is a general biochemical principle and may be relevant to the mediation of responses as considered later in the thesis.

In contrast to other circulations there are limited data on the transpulmonary conversion of angiotensin I in man. It may be that this is predominantly related to vascular endothelial ACE and its interaction with the circulating renin angiotensin system. However like other circulations it is complicated by the tissue generation and metabolism of peptides, previously described peptide assay problems and difficulties in differentiating between the tissue and plasma elements. A novel study by Neilly and colleagues (1987) demonstrated a wide range of transpulmonary angiotensin II formation rates in a rather heterogeneous population of cardiac and respiratory patients with cor pulmonale. The latter group of hypoxic patients showed no changes in transpulmonary angiotensin II formation during oxygen supplementation. This is perhaps somewhat surprising given the documented sensitivity of the enzyme to hypoxia and ion balance in vitro (Skoglof et al,1990).

3.1.3. Cardiac renin angiotensin system and ACE activity

As the central organ of the cardiovascular system the heart has been of particular

myotropic actions of angiotensin II (Koch-Weser, 1964) and its indirect neurogenic facilitation of the sympathetic tone (Xiang et al, 1985). A summary of the actions of angiotensin II on the heart is given in Table 3.2.

As with other tissues the key elements of the renin angiotensin system have been demonstrated using molecular biology and once more the co-localisation and functional significance of the findings is controversial (Mebazaa et al, 1989; Dzau, 1988). Studies of the localisation of angiotensin II, its specific receptors and generation of the peptide have shown that the right sided cardiac chambers and the right atrium in particular are key sites for angiotensin II production (Lindpainter et al, 1987; Rosenthal et al, 1987). Persistent detection and generation of angiotensin II can be seen in the heart following ablation of the circulating renin angiotensin system by bilateral nephrectomy (Mebazaa et al, 1989).

ACE activity is readily demonstrable in the heart with the similar increased activity in right sided chambers, especially the atrium, that is found with angiotensin peptide (Johnson et al, 1989). It is suggested that the majority of the enzyme is found in association with the vasculature and that only a small component is associated with myocardium. There is a high concentration on the surfaces of the cardiac valves. No ACE activity is found in association with the conducting system or in the region of the inter-ventricular septum (Saito et al, 1987; Yamada et al, 1989). There is some evidence to suggest that the molecular weight (Polsky-Cykin & Fanburg, 1979), carbohydrate content, primary (Iwata et al, 1982) and tertiary structure (Polsky-Cykin & Fanburg, 1979; Velletri et al, 1985) are different for cardiac with respect to soluble plasma ACE. Certain in vitro physicochemical properties of ACE isolated from the human heart similarly differ from that isolated from other tissues (Sakharov et al, 1987). There is no data to suggest that these laboratory findings are of functional significance.

ACE inhibitors have not been frequently used to define the specificity of the

- Vascular constriction		direct	
	1	indirect	- (autonomic tone) - (prostaglandin synthesis) - (kinin potentiation)
- Inotropic effects	-	direct	
	-	indirect	- (sympathetic facilitation)
- Mitogenic effects	-	potentiation of	of myocyte growth
	-	fibrosis	
- Myocardial conduction	•	? secondary to	o - structural changes - altered vasomotor tone/ ischaemia

 Table 3.2 : Actions of Angiotensin II on the heart

interaction with cardiac tissue ACE but Fabris and colleagues (1989) have done a small experimental study in rat tissue. They were able to confirm concentration dependent binding in which the relative binding affinity of a range of ACE inhibitors was higher in right than left sided myocardial ACE. A similar rank order of potency was found for six ACE inhibitors of differing lipophilicity but the differences in ligand binding properties were not reflected in a small examination of the temporal degree of ACE inhibition to the compound quinapril. These authors therefore felt that the altered binding affinity between atrial and ventricular ACE was not of functional importance. They did not compare the temporal binding characteristics of the full range of the ACE inhibitors employed.

The functional importance of the renin angiotensin system to the heart is supported by clinical and experimental studies showing that ACE inhibitor therapy can reduce infarct size (Ertl et al, 1982), inhibit the progressive ventricular dilatation following experimental and clinical myocardial infarction (Pfeffer et al, 1985, 1988, 1992; SOLVD 1991,1992a) and have an important role to play in limiting ventricular fibrosis and remodelling ventricular hypertrophy from a variety of causes (Yoshimura et al, 1989; Swynghedauw, 1989; Michel et al, 1988). Most recently it has become clear that ACEI therapy can reduce the incidence of reinfarction in chronic heart failure patients whose initial cardiac damage originated in an index infarction (SOLVD 1992b) As in the lung there are a number of separate issues in relation to the role of the renin angiotensin system in the modulation of coronary vasomotor tone during normal perfusion or ischaemia which will not be considered in detail here (Ertl, 1988; Van Gilst et al, 1988; Gasic et al, 1990; Packer,1992).

Evidence to suggest interactions of tissue ACE with the conducting system is controversial and based more on indications of putative antiarrhythmic activity with some ACE inhibitors but not with others (Van Gilst et al, 1986; Westlin & Mullane, 1988; Ferrari et al,1992). The relevance of the tissue based renin angiotensin system to this phenomenon is unclear but there is experimental evidence confirming alterations in ventricular hypertrophy with ACE inhibitor therapy are associated with beneficial changes in electrophysiological conduction (Thollon et al, 1989).

3.1.4. Brain renin angiotensin system and ACE activity

A brain renin angiotensin system has been identified in a number of species and has important functions in stimulating thirst to increase extracellular fluid volume (Ganong, 1984). Angiotensin converting enzyme has been specifically localised in the central nervous system (Strittmatter et al, 1985) and its relationship to angiotensin receptors defined (Chai et al, 1986; Allen et al, 1988). The inhibition of central ACE activity may be an important point in generating the chronic haemodynamic response to ACE inhibition as is suggested by the hypotensive response to intra-cerebroventricular ACE inhibitors in animals with experimental hypertension where there is no peripheral ACE inhibition (Phillips & Kimura, 1986; Sakaguchi et al, 1988). Brain ACE is active in vivo as is demonstrated by the inhibition of the pressor response to intracerebroventricular angiotensin I but not to angiotensin II in the presence of concurrent intraventricular ACE inhibitor treatment. Studies of the penetration of ACE inhibitors beyond the blood brain barrier have revealed a concentration dependent phenomenon. Although the circumventricular organs lying outwith the blood brain barrier are readily inhibited by circulating ACE inhibitors excessive "pharmacological" doses are required to penetrate deeper structures such as the basal ganglia in acute studies and indeed some agents do not penetrate in the doses chosen (Sakaguchi et al, 1988). Again the issue of relative potency and the doses chosen in such studies is of critical importance. The significance of these acute studies to chronic therapy in man is unclear.

Although these animal studies involved the circumventricular organs which do

not have a major role in human central vasomotor control the tissue angiotensin system is also evident in areas of the ventrolateral medulla in post mortem human specimens (Chai et al, 1990). These areas are more closely associated with blood pressure control (Allen et al, 1988). Animal studies with respect to this region of the brainstem indicate that the angiotensin system may modulate the control of vasomotor outflow (Chevillard & Saavedra, 1982; Andreatta et al, 1988).

3.1.5. Renal renin angiotensin system and ACE activity

Tissue based elements of the renin angiotensin system are of central importance in the kidneys due to the role of this organ in normal fluid and electrolyte balance and in the pathological genesis and perpetuation of hypertension (Klahr, 1989) and chronic cardiac failure (Stanton & Bremner, 1986). The origin of the circulating renin angiotensin system within the kidney is well established. However, a local paracrine and autocrine function for tissue generated angiotensin II is now supported by increasing evidence. As with the other organs there is certainly an element of renal ACE related to vascular endothelium. However the enzyme can also be identified on the tubular cells and intercellular membranes.

As with the other sites renin, angiotensinogen and ACE have been identified using the techniques of molecular biology in fetal renal tissue and it has been suggested that these tissue based elements have a role in controlling organ development (Mournier et al, 1987). As with the other tissues the local functional significance of these observations is still a matter of debate.

ACE is associated primarily with the proximal tubular cell in man but is also present in more distal structures in other species (Takada et al, 1982a). Experimental work in isolated nephrons by Marchetti et al (1987) suggests that there may be a gradation of activity from proximal to more distal segments of the tubule. However these animal studies must be set in the context of interspecies differences which have been shown 1) in *in vitro* characteristics of kidney ACE (Takada et al, 1982b), 2) in the total content and distribution of the enzyme (Morin et al, 1989) and 3) with the known presence of other non specific tubular peptidases.

The biochemical structure of kidney ACE is again suggested to be altered with respect to carbohydrate content from the circulating soluble enzyme. However the authors who described these changes declared them to be irrelevant to functional activity and regarded the immunoreactivity of renal ACE as identical to that in the lung (Alhenc-Gelas et al, 1983).

Interestingly the temporal inhibition of renal ACE activity following ACE inhibitors tends to follow the pattern set by aortic vascular ACE which recovers more rapidly than that extracted from the lung (Sakaguchi et al, 1988; Jackson et al, 1988). As with other tissues renal ACE inhibition is markedly dissociated from the profile of plasma ACE inhibition (Unger et al, 1985). Intercomparison between agents is again complicated by variable potency and the use of potentially non equivalent doses. Even so, different patterns of inhibition in renal cortical ACE have been demonstrated between agents for example in the studies of Chevillard and colleagues using enalapril and trandolapril (Chevillard et al, 1989).

The generation of angiotensin II within the renal circulation has a potent local vasoconstrictor effect particularly affecting the postglomerular intravascular pressure which controls glomerular filtration and hydrostatic pressure. The effect of changes in circulating angiotensin II are therefore most evident in sodium deplete states and in the presence of renal artery stenosis (Navar & Rosivall, 1984). From studies in the isolated rat kidney it has been suggested that the relatively reduced quantity of ACE available may allow ACE to take on the role as the rate limiting step in angiotensin II formation (Misumi et al, 1989) which is not the case in other sites (Erdos, 1975). Studies of the

regional extraction of angiotensin I across the renal circulation give estimates in the region of 80%. Local generation of angiotensin I results in only a marginal arteriovenous gradient (Schalekamp et al, 1989; Admiraal et al, 1990).

The effects of ACE inhibitor therapy are predominantly focused on the haemodynamic effects, on renal function and certainly on the possibility of detrimental effects on kidneys affected by renal artery stenosis (Burnier et al, 1989). The beneficial effects of ACE inhibitor therapy in kidneys affected by diabetic hyperfiltration (Taguma et al, 1985; Marre et al, 1987; Romanelli et al, 1989) or hypertensive nephropathy (Ikeda et al, 1989) are equally felt to be based primarily on haemodynamic alterations (Raij et al, 1989). The interaction between overall blood flow, regional intrarenal flow and glomerulotubular pressures are complex and there is still considerable debate as to the relative importance of tissue based endothelial or tubular ACE in generating positive or negative responses to ACE inhibitors in various renal diseases. This is reflected in the continuing clinical debate over the net efficacy of ACE inhibitor treatment in progressive renal insufficiency (Keane et al, 1989).

3.2. ACE INHIBITORS AND TISSUE ACE INHIBITION

3.2.1. Analytical aspects

The definition of ACE activity in plasma and in tissue extracts is associated with well defined problems of methodology. The majority of analyses in clinical use are based on the generation of a chromophobe from a variety of peptide substrates for the quantitative description of peptide hydrolysis (Piquilloud et al, 1970; Cushman & Cheung, 1971; Ryan et al, 1977). Alternatively ACE activity has been expressed employing competitive binding inhibition of a radiolabelled tyrosyl derivative of enalaprilat (¹²⁵I-MK351A) which has the advantage of describing either ACE activity, by competitive displacement, or the concentration of any given ACE inhibitor (Fyhrquist

et al, 1984; Jackson et al, 1986; Johnson et al, 1987).

The results achieved with different chromophobes have been criticised by some workers who believe that inhibition of the renin angiotensin system either in plasma or tissue must be related directly to local or circulating ratios of angiotensin II to angiotensin I (Biollaz et al, 1982; Nussberger et al, 1988, 1989). This is not easily achieved. The cross reactivity of angiotensin peptides, and there are a variety of more or less bioactive breakdown products, hexapeptides, heptapeptides etc, causing an overestimation of key effector substance, AngII octapeptide. This can only be circumvented by incorporating preliminary separation of peptides with high pressure liquid chromatography and subsequent sensitive angiotensin II octapeptide radioimmunoassay. This is a particularly time consuming and difficult analysis which is expensive to perform. There is disagreement whether or not even the effects of different ACE inhibitors can be compared even using the same chromophobe assay to detect ACE activity (Burnier et al, 1989).

In vitro studies of serum ACE activity as defined using chromophobe techniques have demonstrated significant differences in the kinetic and inhibitory constants to captopril between species. In addition the level of circulating enzyme is well described as being variable between species (Ibarra-Rubio et al, 1989). Thus comparisons of plasma and tissue ACE deduced from animal experimentation using various methodologies should be treated with caution.

3.2.2. Acute vs chronic ACE inhibitor treatment

A large volume of published work studying serum and tissue ACE is based on experimental and clinical studies in which drug therapy is given either on a single dose basis or on short term administration lasting days or at the most a few weeks. There is little doubt that the acute and chronic responses of the renin angiotensin system to ACE inhibitor therapy differ considerably. There is an interaction between the analytical technique used to define plasma ACE and the definition of the changes on chronic therapy. Studies in normal volunteers have shown reactive hyper-reninaemia which is associated with the re-appearance of bioactive angiotensin II octapeptide despite maximal ACE inhibition when defined by chromophobe techniques (Mooser et al, 1990). Such hormonal changes are of considerable importance in the definition of haemodynamic responses in that some authors suggest that both renin and by implication angiotensin II entirely explain the response to ACE inhibitors (Case et al, 1977). In effect responses to ACE inhibitors, for example in hypertension, can be defined on the basis of renal perfusion and local renin production in the kidney (Cody, 1984; Buhler, 1986; Laragh, 1989). These theories do not explain the re-emergence of circulating angiotensin II and a continuing and developing response to ACE inhibition with chronic treatment nor evidence of responses to ACE inhibitors in low renin states (Chatterjee & Opie, 1987).

3.2.3. Kininase II inhibition

In terms of alternative substrates for ACE the major interest in haemodynamic and stuctural effects mediated by ACE inhibiton lies in the local potentiation of bradykinin mediated by kininase II/ACE inhibition. Mammalian ACE can more efficiently degrade bradykinin ($K_m = 8 \times 10^{-7}$ M) than activate angiotensin I ($K_m = 3.3 \times 10^{-5}$ M) (Ryan, 1983) and it has been suggested that the secondary association of ACE with the renin angiotensin system seen from phylogenetic studies supports the importance of kinins as the major substrate for ACE (Lipke & Olson, 1988).

There is some evidence from experiments in anaesthetised animals that the acute hypotensive effects of captopril can be partially reversed by competitive antagonists of bradykinin in excess of the pressor effect caused by the infusion of the kinin antagonist alone (Seino et al, 1989). The antihypertensive effect of chronic ramipril therapy in SHR rats can be partially reversed by the addition of a bardykinin antagonist (Bao et al,1992). A remarkable series of studies by Linz and colleagues has suggested that kinin antagonism can block the anti hypertrophic response seen following low dose ACE inhibition in rats who have left ventricular hypertrophy induced by surgical aortic constriction (Linz et al,1992). This series has also demonstrated a remarkable concentration dependency in that the anti hypertrophic effects were evident at doses of the ACE inhibitor which were devoid of haemodynamic effect (Linz et al,1989).

In addition localised studies on human forearm vascular tone by Benjamin and colleagues showed that without generalised ACE inhibition or haemodynamic changes, infusion of the ACE inhibitor enalaprilat has local effects whose onset and extent are mediated through angiotensin II but possibly also through bradykinin (Benjamin et al, 1989). This and similar studies showing potentiation of a range of bradykinin mediated effects such as intradermal wheals (Ferner et al, 1989) or increased forearm blood flow in response to intra-arterial bradykinin (Kiowski et al, 1982) have been used to suggest that this effect might explain the hypotensive effects of ACE inhibitors in low renin states (Swartz et al, 1979). The key element of course is the nature of the interaction: whether this is direct, as suggested by the workers above, or is in fact simply an indirect phenomenon. Nonetheless kinins are emerging as a strong candidate for future research as mediators of some ACE inhibitor effects (Kiowski et al, 1992).

3.2.4. Tissue distribution of ACE inhibitors

The matter of physicochemical differences between ACE isolated from different organs and from different species has partly been addressed in preceding sections. Tissue and plasma ACE are likely to originate from one gene product but the possibility of a variety of isoenzymes responsible for variable properties is acknowledged (Strittmatter et al, 1985; Bernstein et al, 1988). Recently there has been much speculation as to the functional significance of variations in ACE genotype in defining increased cardiovascular risk in a non-obese population of patients with myocardial infarction who had an otherwise low rating of "conventional" cardiovascular risk factors (Cambien et al, 1992). Structural differences are highlighted particularly for the testicular enzyme (Iwata et al, 1982; Velletri, 1985) but the again the functional significance of this site and its differing structure remain unclear from ex vivo studies (Jackson et al, 1988).

The distribution of the drug between the plasma compartment and the tissue sites whether they are endothelial, epithelial or in deeper structures must be a concentration dependent equilibrium. This depends upon the quantitative availability of binding sites in the plasma and tissue and a range of factors related to the structure of the ACE inhibitor and the tissue enzyme such that interaction can occur. These factors are outlined in Table 3.3. The majority of comparative data on different ACE inhibitor profiles for tissue ACE inhibition have necessarily been gathered in animals using short term or acute doses of drugs. A large body of work has come from the group at the University of Melbourne (Johnston et al, 1988, 1989) using temporal ex vivo radioligand binding studies of tissue ACE. Whether simple tissue bioavailability or true differing tissue interactions with the enzyme are responsible for differential regional effects between ACE inhibitors is unclear. As the physicochemical properties of the ACE inhibitor also provide the more general pharmacokinetic properties of the drugs the interaction between plasma concentration time profiles and tissue binding has achieved considerable interest especially as there are marked differences in the conventional pharmacokinetic profiles between agents (Kubo & Cody, 1985; Belz et al, 1988).

3.2.5. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ACE inhibitors and tissue ACE

Circulating plasma ACE inhibition, regardless of the technique of determination,

Table 3.3: Factors influencing the tissue distribution of ACE inhibitors

PLASMA CONCENTRATION (ESTER/DIACID)

LIPOPHILICITY

RELATIVE PLASMA/TISSUE BINDING SITES

ESTER/DIACID INTERCONVERSION (PLASMA/TISSUE)

MEMBRANE BARRIERS (BLOOD/BRAIN/TESTIS)

ELIMINATION

is thought to correlate closely with simultaneous plasma drug concentrations without any significant hysteresis in this biochemical effect of the drug (Ajayi et al, 1987; Francis et al, 1987). However, theoretically this relationship should obey the laws of mass action and a non linear saturable binding phenomenon should be observed. In many instances the accumulation of drug is such that the very earliest phases of drug accumulation and ACE inhibition are not well described even in oral dosing studies (Francis et al, 1987). Similar non linear relationships have been described where in vivo ACE inhibition is defined using angiotensin peptide ratios (Biollaz et al, 1982) although the exact description of the observed data is a matter of debate (Kelman et al, 1983). Preliminary studies using low dose intravenous infusions of ACE inhibitors have suggested that a sigmoid drug accumulation profile in venous plasma is evident. This is best described by non linear saturable binding in which the model incorporates terms indicative of the proportions of drug bound to both plasma and tissue ACE (Lees et al, 1989). These studies have attempted to include statistical validation of the "goodness of fit" of the model but require further definition of the validity of the parameters generated. These parameters may give ar. alternative means of describing human tissue ACE inhibition in vivo.

The clinically important relationship centres upon that relating drug concentration to haemodynamic effect. Thus although ACE inhibition has been frequently compared to haemodynamic effects in a large number of normal and pathological states with a range of age groups and renin status, rarely if ever has drug concentration been quantitatively applied to individual subjects in the general terms of drug concentration effect modelling (Holford & Sheiner, 1981; Donnelly et al, 1989). In terms of acute hypotensive responses to ACE inhibitors or renin inhibition, temporal dissociation from circulating ACE activity or drug concentrations is well documented in a variety of animal models (Waeber et al, 1980; Boomsma et al, 1981; Blaine et al, 1984; Unger et al, 1986;

Kamei et al, 1989). The interpretation of this basic observation is at the heart of the complex and previously discussed points regarding definition of plasma ACE inhibition, peptide analysis and interaction with alternative vasoactive substrates are clearly pertinent. Although the existence and importance of tissue ACE are frequently cited as the explanation for this failure to correlate observations with response it should be noted that there are a number of single dose animal studies which suggest a close correlation between ACE inhibition and blood pressure fall (Sweet et al, 1981; Jackson et al, 1984). Studies with alternative means of blocking the renin angiotensin system such as specific renin inhibitors or angiotensin receptor antagonists (see chapter 8) are as yet too limited and do not define the temporal excursion of angiotensin II in sufficient detail to explain the discrepancy although again there is limited evidence of a direct relationship (Szelke et al, 1985).

In quantitative terms the discrepancy between drug concentration and haemodynamic effect is described over time a prosteresis (anticlockwise hysteresis) where the haemodynamic response lags behind drug concentration (Belz et al, 1989). This is common to a number of vasoactive agents (Donnelly et al, 1989). The suggestion that the delay is due to the equilibration of drug into key tissue sites and interaction with tissue ACE is tempting. Kirch and colleagues (1988) found that the shape of the blood pressure to ACE inhibition curve for cilazapril in hypertension was retained after 2 weeks therapy with a more rapid initial response to dosing and some reduction in the area of hysteresis. They suggested therefore that the eventual degree of haemodynamic effect was well described after the initial dose but that the duration of the effect was underestimated.

3.2.6. Activated renin angiotensin system in heart failure

In explaining the haemodynamic effects of inhibiting the renin angiotensin system it has been suggested that the fluid and sodium status and changes in the activation of the circulating renin angiotensin system combine to define completely the extent of the first dose response to an ACE inhibitor (Dzau, 1989). For example, in renovascular hypertension it is suggested that where there is no increase in extra-cellular volume nor sodium loss then there is in effect no acute blood pressure response to ACE inhibitor treatment. This is not a universal experience and marked hypotension is documented in this setting (Hodsman et al, 1983). The role of diuretic mediated natriuresis and volume depletion and secondary hyper-reninaemia are of significance. Equally in renovascular hypertension there is some evidence to suggest tissue based vascular ACE is the unquantified element in describing this haemodynamic response (Okamura et al, 1986).

Hyper-reninaemia was first suggested to play a role in the vasoconstriction of the chronic cardiac failure syndrome in the mid 1940s (Merrill et al, 1946). In addition to the circulating system there is clearly scope for quantitative alterations in the tissue elements of the renin angiotensin system in response to chronic changes such as occur in hypertension (Lever, 1989) and in cardiac failure (Anand et al, 1989). Animal studies support the activation of the tissue based renin angiotensin system at a number of levels in experimental heart failure (Fabris et al, 1990; Hirsch et al, 1991, 1992). Both tissue and circulating systems are liable to be influenced by prior or concomitant drug therapy known to act directly or indirectly with the renin angiotensin system, diuretic therapy in particular (Bayliss et al, 1987).

The renin angiotensin system is centrally involved in the response to heart failure as one of the primary homeostatic systems controlling cardiovascular function. These are relevant to the pathology of heart failure in generating peripheral regional
vasoconstriction acting via the pressor peptide AngII. Activation is mediated by the fall in renal perfusion during heart failure activating baroreceptor mediated renin release. The sensitivity of various vascular beds to angiotensin II varies (Motwani & Struthers,1992) and this affects the response to activation of the system in heart failure. Fluid and electrolyte balance is also altered resulting in potassium loss, sodium and water retention intrinsic to the heart failure syndrome. This gives rise to the fluid overload at least partially responsible for the symptoms of heart failure (Schrier,1988). Management with diuretic drugs in patients with heart failure and a variety of other vasodilator agents also acts as a stimulus to the renin angiotensin systems (Doig et al,1992).

In chronic cardiac failure the first dose response to ACE inhibition has been associated with marked hypotension usually catalogued in small series or in isolated case reports (see Table 3.4). The exact incidence and severity of these events is unclear yet strategies of dose reduction, hospitalisation for initiation of therapy, and an initial choice of short acting ACE inhibitors appear to be common in clinical practice when this has been audited (McMurray et al, 1989). It is as yet unclear whether these episodes reflect a distribution of individual responsiveness, whether they are agent or dose related, or whether they simply reflect vagally mediated reflex hypotension which is common with a number of hypotensive drugs (Semple et al, 1988). The belief in an idiosyncratic first dose response which is not dose related has emerged to the extent that some groups employ small "test doses" prior to treatment although the rationale for these is unclear (Rademaker et al, 1986). As has been suggested for renovascular hypertension, hyperreninaemia has been employed whether related to disease or diuretic therapy as the whole explanation for the magnitude of first dose response (Cody, 1984; Packer et al, 1985; Kubo et al, 1987; Dzau, 1989). However individual patterns of the response, where presented in detail, frequently show a sudden collapse in blood pressure (Cleland et al, 1985; Lantz et al, 1984) rather than any more rapid decline than expected and the

Report	n	NYHA Grade	Diuretic	Agent	Dose
Acampora et al (1989)	1	П	-	Enalaprilat	0.625mg(IV)
Ader et al (1980)	10(2)	III-IV	+	Captopril	25 mg
Cleland et al (1984)	10	III-IV	+	Captopril	6.25mg
Cleland et al (1985)	26	II-IV	+/-	Enalapril	5/ 10mg
Kramer et al (1982)	15	II-IV	+	Captopril	25 mg
La Barre et al (1982)	1	IV	?	Captopril	6.25mg
Lantz et al (1984)	16	III	?	Captopril	12.5/6.25mg
Mujais et al (1984)	10	III-IV	+	Captopril	25 mg
Packer et al (1983)	7	IV	+	Captopril	25 mg

Table 3.4: Reports of hypotension following ACE inhibition

has never been documented and indeed only very recently has a placebo controlled trial of the initial response to ACE inhibitor therapy in chronic cardiac failure been published (Herrlin et al, 1990). The importance of placebo control to any scientific study is as true for heart failure as any other area of therapeutics (Packer, 1990).

Although ACE inhibitors are available as intravenous formulations (Kubo et al, 1985; Hornung & Hillis, 1987; Semple et al, 1987; De Marco et al, 1987; Walinsky et al, 1987) and have been suggested to be valuable in the management of severe acute heart failure (Rademaker et al, 1986; Flynn et al, 1988) they have not been studied in detail with respect to the concentration effect relationship of their first dose response.

Although this pattern of haemodynamic response to ACE inhibitors may provide further valuable insights into the balance between circulating and tissue ACE activity in generation of a response it should be noted that where studied this response apparently does not reflect a likelihood of overall clinical benefit from chronic therapy with ACE inhibitors in heart failure (Massie et al, 1984; Packer et al, 1985). Patterns of symptomatic response in individual patients appear to be variable and certainly emerge over 6-8 weeks of continuous therapy (Packer et al, 1983). Unfortunately many studies concentrate on acute short term central haemodynamic changes which have little relevance to long term efficacy (Lipkin & Poole Wilson, 1985; Packer, 1988). Moreover such invasive studies involve well documented placebo changes in pressures related to cardiac catherisation and as stated above placebo therapy is rarely documented (Massie et al, 1984; Packer et al, 1985; Siemienczuk et al, 1986; Gibbs et al, 1989).

Chronic therapy with ACE inhibitors has been demonstrated in large numbers of patients to reduce the morbidity and mortality of chronic cardiac failure. However many if not all of these studies incorporate concomitant diuretic and digitalis therapy (Cleland et al, 1984,1985; Consensus Study Group, 1987; Giles et al, 1989; Gheorghiade et al, 1989; Cohn et al,1991; SOLVD,1991,1992a,b). It is clear that beneficial effects produced

by such combination treatment may not be entirely related to haemodynamic changes. Alternatives include amelioration of the chronic electrolyte abnormalities of the syndrome (Cleland et al, 1987) or attenuation of primary or secondary neurohormonal changes induced by diuretic therapy (Bayliss et al, 1987). These may be a major cause of mortality, an important mechanism of action of ACE inhibitors and possibly a reason for differences in efficacy among ACE inhibitors (Packer et al, 1986a,1987a,1987b).

The significance of initial hypotensive effects for patients is unclear although cerebral and renal hypoperfusion have been documented with transient dysfunction (Rajogopalan et al, 1984; Mujais et al, 1984). Similarly in many patients with cardiac failure secondary to ischaemic cardiomyopathy or coronary artery disease transient episodes of significant systemic hypotension might be expected to decompensate coronary perfusion and cause silent myocardial ischaemia. There is little definitive evidence in this important area although Gibbs et al (1989) found individuals with chronic stable angina pectoris who tolerated enalapril therapy poorly when assessed by electrocardiographic changes to exercise. Similarly, a retrospective analysis of previously published data have also suggested an aggravation of myocardial ischaemia, with subjective and objective indices, in heart failure patients who have active chest pain during controlled studies of ACE inhibition (Cleland et al, 1992). The direct effects of ACE inhibitors on coronary perfusion are complex. Whereas some authors have suggested a "coronary steal" phenomenon diverting blood away from the ischaemic areas (Ertl, 1988) others conclude the opposite (Gasic et al, 1990). In balance the exact role of ACE inhibition in the ischaemic myocardium is as yet unclear. It is essential that the selected populations who recieve overall benefit should not be confused to the extent that ACE inhibition becomes a ubiquitous treatment for "heart disease"!. There is a worrying trend towards this assumption in recent published commentary about these drugs.

CHAPTER 4

CHRONIC HEART FAILURE AND ITS THERAPY

4.1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

The characteristic symptoms of cardiac failure are lethargy, limitation of exercise capacity, breathlessness on progressively less exertion or at rest, and fluid retention and oedema (Poole-Wilson,1988). The exact relationship of the clinical signs and symptoms of heart failure to underlying central or peripheral perfusion, primary or secondary neurohormonal responses and tissue oxygenation and substrate or electrolyte metabolism is unclear (Massie,1988;Editorial,1989). What is abundantly obvious is the relentless morbidity and mortality of this sequence of events (Sutton, 1990;Kannel et al,1988;Schocken et al,1992). This is manifest as a cycle of episodes of fluid overload and pulmonary oedema requiring hospital admission with progressive reduction in mobility. Furthermore and possibly of differing origin is the high prevalence of sudden cardiac death in this patient group which is often attributed to the presence of life threatening arrhythmias (Cleland et al,1987).

Estimates of overall mortality for heart failure are complex as clinical diagnosis is fraught with problems despite the simplicity and common nature of the complaint (Wheldon et al,1993). Symptoms are relatively non-specific particularly where there is coincident pulmonary disease. Clinical signs (Remes et al,1991;Ghali et al,1991) and radiological features (Chakko et al,1991) are open to misinterpretation. Aetiology and subclassification of predisposing illness are rarely stratified eg sex, diabetes, hypertension, cardiomyopathies of varying types, non-stenotic valvular heart disease, myocardial ischaemia and/or post myocardial infarction. These may have variable outcomes and differing prognoses (Packer,1988). Despite these caveats and the potential for wrong diagnoses and misclassification the mortality of severe heart failure in community terms is comparable, and in individual instances greater than, other terminal illnesses such as common neoplasms (Kannel, 1989).

Somewhat distinct from this group but also relevant in terms of discussing the place of ACE inhibitor therapy and ventricular dysfunction are the population of patients with minimally symptomatic or asymptomatic cardiac dysfunction evident only during quantitative stress testing or non invasive monitoring of cardiac function for example using echocardiography (Yusef et al,1990).

Another relatively asymptomatic group of patients who have come under scrutiny as a target for ACE inhibitor treatment are those patients with recent myocardial infarction who have the "potential" for progressive ventricular dysfunction.

4.2. GENERAL THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES

All patients with heart failure are managed within a strategy of graded exercise. This is somewhat of a reversal of previous general policies of bed rest and exercise limitation (Drexler,1992). The change is clearly based on well controlled clinical trials published in recent years (Coats et al,1990).

4.3. DRUG TREATMENTS

4.3.1. DIURETICS, FLUID BALANCE AND SODIUM STATUS

General management of the patient with heart failure is primarily based on control of fluid balance, in the first instance by combination of dietary sodium and fluid intake restriction. All patients with will require the use of diuretic drugs and in the majority this will imply the use of more potent loop acting agents in order to achieve adequate diuresis and natriuresis. A small proportion will be adequately controlled on less potent (in diuretic terms) thiazide agents. In more severe fluid imbalance combination therapy may be required using aldosterone antagonists or ultimately both thiazide and loop acting drugs together which is a particularly potent natriuretic and diuretic regimen (Dargie,1989). It is clear from clinical observational studies that optimal fluid balance and diuretic administration can be achieved by simple clinical assessment and drug titration in accordance with reproducible and accurate measurement of body weight (Anand et al,1989b). There is general agreement that monotherapy with ACE inhibitor drugs is not an adequate treatment, regardless of the degree of myocardial dysfunction, in symptomatic patients (Cowley et al,1986;Richardson et al,1987;Anand et al,1990)

4.3.2 VASODILATORS

For the most part vasodilator therapy in heart failure is based on the simple relationship between central cardiac filling pressures and cardiac output. With cardiac failure of whatever cause the optimal pressure-output relationship at rest and/or during exercise is disrupted. In the process of trying to sustain optimal perfusion the neurohormonal modulators of cardiac function, peripheral blood flow and autonomic tone (such as catecholamines, angiotensin, natriuretic factors, vasopressin etc) generate a peripheral vasoconstriction inappropriate for optimal organ perfusion and function. The responses initially designed to maintain homeostasis ultimately perpetuate the syndrome generating sodium and fluid retention. A variety of vasodilator drugs have been tested in attempts to break this cycle. Some act primarily on the arteriolar system, some the venous system, some affect both to a variable degree and others have accessory properties such as positive inotropic activity (table 4.1.).

Examples of these agents will be considered in turn. In real terms not only individual activity is important. Most vasodilators will, in practice, be used with other drugs. Heart failure treatment is one of the few areas of clinical therapeutics where
 Table 4.1 Vasodilator therapy for heart failure

Arterial vasodilators A: α_1 adrenoceptor antagonists e.g. prazosin, trimazosin, (i) doxazosin Calcium channel blocking drugs e.g. dihydropyridines, (ii) nifedipine etc; diltiazem Dopaminergic agents, e.g. dopexamine, ibopamine, (iii) fenoldopam (SKF 82526) B: Mixed acting vasodilators Flosequinan (BTS 49465); hydralazine; pimobendan (UDCG 115 BS) C: Venous vasodilators Nitrates; Nicorandil Inotropic drugs with vasodilator activity D:

Phosphodiesterase III inhibitors: e.g. Milrinone; Enoximone (MDL 17043); Piroximone (MDL 19205)

Vasodilator drugs have obvious haemodynamic endpoints and in principle are expected to alter central cardiac haemodynamics. This is the first activity which tends to be documented for new and existing agents to suggest efficacy in heart failure. Unfortunately central haemodynamic changes have little relevance to clinical symptomsin chronic heart failure patients and do not reliably predict whether these will be improved by treatment (Chattergee, 1989; Franciosa et al, 1981). Furthermore, haemodynamic studies, although relatively easy to perform in the cardiac catheterisation laboratory, are notoriously difficult to interpret. Placebo treatment is frequently omitted from studies. The placebo response in heart failure mimics a vasodilator drug (Packer, 1990a). Supine haemodynamics are less relevant than the response to exercise although it is the former which are usually documented. Everyday activities such as feeding have well described "vasodilator" effects (Herrlin et al, 1990). These are often specifically excluded from study and therefore the true response in practice remains unknown. The incidence of acute myocardial ischaemia/infarction and the decompensation of CCF follows a well described diurnal pattern with a peak onset of events during night-time (Muller et al, 1989). Effective treatment should cover this nocturnal phase yet this is rarely studied with respect to haemodynamic drug responses (Giles, 1991). Open, sequential or stepped dose pilot studies in small numbers of patients are of limited value but seem to be common relative to double-blind placebo controlled designs. This is a particular problem in heart failure (Lipkin et al, 1985). Of prime importance, although some studies do support the relationship between certain central haemodynamic parameters and the length of survival, mortality studies with vasodilator treatments are rare with notable exceptions.

69

A. Arterial vasodilators

Predominantly arteriolar dilatation has been studied with alpha₁ antagonists (prazosin, trimazosin) calcium channel blocking drugs (dihydropyridine drugs, eg, nimodipine, nifedipine etc or diltiazem) or prostacyclin analogues. Studies largely document the effects of acute treatment on reducing cardiac filling pressures specifically right atrial pressure, pulmonary capillary wedge pressure and reductions in calculated systemic vascular resistance and arterial pressure. These studies are relevant to the management of acute heart failure, for example, during acute myocardial infarction. In chronic cardiac failure persistent haemodynamic effects have not always been evident. This is particularly relevant to alpha blockade (Bayliss et al, 1985; Kirlin et al, 1985). Prostacyclin derivatives, with no oral bioavailability, have not been tested on repeated administration.

The use of calcium channel blocking drugs in chronic heart failure has been described as a matter of concern (Editorial,1991; Packer,1990b). Although persistent changes in haemodynamic parameters can be documented in some studies, the failure of these drugs to increase exercise tolerance in small randomised, double-blind studies (Tan et al,1987) and evidence of clinical deterioration with increased hospital admission during treatment (Dunselman et al,1990; Jezek et al,1990) has led to a reappraisal of their value. Diltiazem shares these deleterious effects (Goldstein et al,1991). There is little to distinguish any calcium antagonist suggested to have less negative inotropic properties. Despite these results conflicting reports based on the haemodynamic efficacy of calcium antagonists in heart failure continue to occur (Reicher-Reiss & Barasch,1991; Thomas et al,1989).

Drugs acting to stimulate arterial vasodilatation through vascular dopamine receptors have been studied in heart failure. These agents have complicated dose and concentration dependent pharmacology and some such as ibopamine also act as alpha₁

70

and beta₂ adrenoceptor agonists (Marchetti,1990). The most frequently studied agent in this class is ibopamine. Evidence of clinical efficacy with this group of agents is limited to demonstrations of vasodilatation on central haemodynamic studies. However, there are studies which show a symptomatic improvement with ibopamine (Barbino et al,1991) based on clinical assessment of heart failure. Diuretic effects of this group of drugs have been highlighted as an additional beneficial property. The diuresis is at best modest (Baumann et al,1990; Wehling et al,1990) and quantitatively unlikely to be relevant to the management of heart failure. As with some other drugs even in acute studies partial haemodynamic tolerance has been shown to occur during fenoldopam infusion within 24 hours (Munger et al,1990).

B. "Balanced" vasodilators

Mixed arterial and venous dilatation is produced by a variety of drugs dependent on dosage. The most recent agent studied with this predominant mode of action is flosequinan. This has the characteristic haemodynamic profile (Reigger et al,1990; Markus & Cowley,1991) and has been suggested to improve exercise parameters (Silke et al,1992, Elborn et al,1990). It is felt that the venous dilatation is relevant to the mode of action of this drug and a degree of positive inotropic activity is also suspected (Corin et al,1991). The place of this drug in treatment is unclear but early studies based on improved exercise capacity are promising.

C. Venous "offloading"

Oral nitrate therapy has long been a part of heart failure treatment. For the most part this is felt to act by venous dilatation and reduced right heart pressure. However, it has become apparent that high doses of nitrates are required in the treatment of heart failure and selective venodilatation is unlikely to be relevant (Cohn,1985). Tolerance to haemodynamic effects is readily produced unless a nitrate free interval is present (Sharpe et al,1987; Elkayam et al,1991; Jordan et al,1985) although there is some interesting if flawed evidence that combinations of nitrovasodilators and ACE inhibitors might ameliorate this problem (Katz et al,1991;Mehra et al,1992). Alternative routes of administration such as transdermal preparations (Jordan et al,1985) or different structures such as nicorandil (Galie et al,1990) probably have little to offer over oral nitrate. A recent study employing seven day therapy with a range of ACE inhibitors in normal volunteers using forearm venous plethysmography to assess the response to a low dose transdermal nitrate patch has suggested that nitrate tolerance might be avoided with this combination (Katz et al,1991). With the established role of ACE inhibitors in treatment this finding merits further study in heart failure. Fluid imbalance or sub-optimal diuretic therapy may also be a factor in nitrate tolerance in heart failure (Varriale et al,1991).

D. Vasodilator drugs with inotropic properties

A final group of agents with a component of vasodilator activity in addition to more direct positive inotropic properties has been extensively studied in heart failure. Based largely on favourable changes in the acute haemodynamic profile, a series of orally active, selective, inhibitors of phosphodiesterase III; eg enoximone, milrinone and piroximone, have been developed. Despite the favourable changes recorded in cardiac pressures, even in the early stages of clinical study, concern was expressed about a lack of symptomatic benefit and increased prevalence of arrhythmias in treated patients (Rubin et al,1985). Well designed studies have failed to document changes in exercise capacity and have confirmed an increase in mortality on longer term treatment with these drugs (Uretsky et al,1990; Packer et al,1991). Although this class of treatment appears to have little future in population terms for the management of chronic heart failure they may still prove useful in acute heart failure and exceptionally in individual patients in the longer term (Chattergee, 1989).

E. Vasodilators and mortality in heart failure

Due to the undoubted need for combinations of drugs in the treatment of heart failure it is interesting to note that the best evidence for symptomatic efficacy and reduced mortality through vasodilator therapy comes from a combination regimen. The two multicentre Veterans Administration Cooperative studies examined large numbers of patients receiving hydralazine (300 mg/day) and isosorbide dinitrate (160mg/day) in a double blind randomised study compared to prazosin or placebo in the first study (Cohn et al,1986) or to the ACE inhibitor, enalapril, in the second study (Cohn et al,1991). Although of borderline statistical significance (not significant statistically speaking but regarded as clinically significant), the first study showed a reduction in mortality (%) with hydralazine/ISDN (25.6) compared to placebo (34.3) or prazosin (34.1) at 2 years. Although the second study revealed significantly greater benefits in terms of reduced mortality for the patients receiving the ACE inhibitor enalapril over the vasodilator combination, it was felt that the pattern of mortality differed between the treatments. The incidence of sudden death was particularly affected by enalapril and the combination of vasodilator treatment with ACEI treatment could provide a greater mortality reduction. The success of the hydralazine/isosorbide dinitrate therapy in both Veterans Administration studies is clear. It appears to be dose dependent for both agents and the role each of each component in the overall response remains unclear (Remme, 1989).

F. Development areas of vasodilator therapy

The scope for further improvements in the response and use of vasodilator treatments in heart failure is considerable. Although many invasive studies of acute pressure changes in small numbers of patients do not seem to reliably identify those treatments which will have an impact on symptoms and mortality, they do indicate drugs which should prove efficacious at least in acute heart failure. Furthermore on an individual patient basis the pattern of actiology of heart failure, long neglected as a prognostic or therapeutic indicator, may be employed with haemodynamic response in attempts to select sub-populations who will benefit from treatments at least on a symptomatic basis. What needs to be used in combination with this are simple methods for controlled assessment of response which are readily applied to individual subjects (Guyatt et al,1986). As the Veterans Administration Heart Failure investigators suggest the future undoubtedly revolves around developing better combinations of vasodilators, exploring the efficacy of high dose nitrates and hydralazine and the power of combinations involving other vasodilators, diuretics, digoxin, ACE inhibition and antiarrhythmic drugs.

4.3.3 ACE INHIBITION IN HEART FAILURE

The theoretical basis for the use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI) in the management of congestive cardiac failure is blockade of the neuroendocrine activation which accompanies heart failure and in response to the management of fluid overload with diuretic drugs (Packer, 1988). The primary effector peptide of the renin angiotensin system (RAS), Angiotensin II (AngII), has detrimental effects on cardiac structure (Tan et al, 1991; Pfeffer et al, 1991), perfusion (Ertl, 1988) and overall function (Moch²zuki et al, 1992). There are additional deleterious effects on renal function, overall electrolyte balance and peripheral skeletal muscle perfusion. Ultimately the neurohormonal reflexes, primarily those involving the renin angiotensin system but with important contributions from the sympathetic nervous system (Francis, 1989) and other humoral factors such as natriuretic peptides (Uretsky et al, 1990) , initially designed to maintain peripheral organ perfusion, become deleterious (Packer, 1992).

Blockade of the renin angiotensin system by ACE inhibitors has been shown unequivocally to have beneficial effects on the key end points in heart failure. These are overall patient mortality, whether related to decompensation of heart failure to a terminal state of fluid imbalance and organ failure or sudden cardiac death (CONSENSUS Trial Study Group,1987;SOLVD investigators,1991;1992). In addition frequency of hospital admission, an excellent indicator of impact on morbidity and general quality of life, is also significantly reduced in real terms by ACE inhibitor therapy (Cohn et al,1991). Although exercise capacity and the related parameters of oxygenation, symptoms of dyspnoea, or heart failure classification are very difficult parameters to stratify and interpret in controlled therapeutic trials (Poole-Wilson,1989) in general terms there is a considerable body of data to attest to the efficacy of ACE inhibitor therapy on such "symptom based" parameters in patients with heart failure (Cleland et al,1984;Creager et al,1985). With this data available drug treatment of individual patients should include an ACE inhibitor as a cornerstone of treatment along with diuretic therapy (Braunwald,1991;Editorial,1992).

4.4 PHARMACOLOGY OF ACE INHIBITION IN HEART FAILURE: THE EXAMPLE OF PERINDOPRIL

4.4.1. Experimental studies - general principles

In experimental animals the syndrome of heart failure is simulated by a variety of techniques. Either volume or fluid overload of the heart can be created by a variety of surgical techniques eg, aortic or pulmonary banding or ligation, or valve rupture. Failure of the ventricles can be induced by a variety of pacing techniques (Dibner-Dunlap & Thames, 1990). Direct injury to cardiac muscle can be created eg by cryo-injury (Lefer et al, 1986), ligation of coronary arteries (Howes et al, 1991) or microsphere occlusion of

coronary arteries (Gorodetskaya et al,1990). A toxic cardiomyopathy can be induced by a variety of agents, the most commonly used being the cytotoxic antibiotic, doxorubicin (Årnolda et al,1985;Wanless et al,1987). A range of genetically based cardiomyopathies are available (Hirakata et al,1990; Haleen et al,1991). Although each of these models has its own limitations (Smith & Nuttall,1985) in general low output models with a chronic course which generate the appropriate neurohormonal responses to those seen in man are preferred. Pharmacological treatments can be employed in an attempt to mimic the autonomic dysfunction common in heart failure (Hof et al,1992). In the main the animals studies do not receive any additional therapy such as diuretic drugs which are intrinsic to the management of human heart failure. Such models have been used to characterise the pharmacology of perindopril and perindoprilat.

4.4.2. Hormonal effects

Experimental studies have shown that the renin angiotensin system is an essential component to the response to heart failure resulting in a peripheral vasoconstriction affecting perfusion of the kidneys and skeletal muscle beds. The former responds by initiating fluid and sodium retention (Anand et al,1989) and the latter may be involved in the generation of further reductions in exercise capacity typical of heart failure (Myers & Froelicher,1991). Perindopril has been shown to effectively provide blockade of the renin angiotensin system resulting in ACE inhibition, reactive elevation in renin, reduction in infarction related rises in natriuretic factor but little effect on plasma aldosterone (Michel et al,1988).

Experimental myocardial infarction and heart failure are associated with activation of the sympathetic nervous system at a variety of levels primarily due to increased secretion and occurring in association with receptor down regulation (Abraham et al,1990;Bristow et al,1989). Activity of the sympathetic nervous system as portrayed in elevated serum catecholamines has been defined as a sensitive indicator of poor prognosis in heart failure (Cohn et al,1984). In experimental animals Howes and coworkers demonstrated that perindopril treatment whether introduced early or late after experimental infarction produced complete attenuation of infarction related augmentation in sympathetic activity as indicated by the ratio of dihydroxyphenylethylene glycol to noradrenaline (Howes et al,1991).

4.4.3. Vascular structure

The effect of perindopril in reversing the vasculopathy associated with experimental hypertension has been documented in detail (Levy et al,1991). Altered vascular structure and reactivity are features of the response to heart failure and deficits in blood flow during exercise may at least play a partial role in the generation of fatigue in heart failure patients (Drexler et al,1988). It is clear that altered muscle structure and metabolism are common in heart failure and these effects may interact with flow abnormalities or even dominate the peripheral generation of symptoms (Arnold et al,1990;Buller et al,1991; Massie et al,1987)

4.4.4. Cardiac hypertrophy/infarction and remodelling

During all its clinical phases from the asymptomatic stage through to terminal pump failure the myocardium during heart failure undergoes a complex process of adaptation. This involves concurrent thinning, regional dilatation and expansion and compensatory hypertrophy of the ventricular walls, altered myocardial structure and composition (Swynghedauw,1989; Pfeffer et al,1991). The renin angiotensin system is at least a major element, if not the major element controlling these responses to myocardial damage and/or heart failure (Katz,1990;Weber et al,1992).

As has been recorded for other ACE inhibitors perindopril effectively blocks or

reverses the process of ventricular dilatation and increased heart size following experimental myocardial infarction (Howes et al,1991). Sensitive studies by Michel and colleagues demonstrated a trend towards normalisation of the ventricular myosin isoenzyme profile and collagen content following experimental infarction in rats treated with perindopril (Michel et al,1988).

Electrophysiological abnormalities are common in all patients with heart failure and sudden cardiac death, often attributed to the onset of a lethal arrhythmia, is a common mode of death for patients with this disease (Cleland et al,1987). Experimental models have been employed to examine this aspect of heart failure pathology only infrequently (Doherty & Cobbe,1990). Thollon and colleagues (1989) examined the effect of perindopril therapy on the electrophysiological consequences of myocardial infarction. They observed increased action potential lengthening in association with cardiac remodelling after infarction. Perindopril therapy prevented the development of cardiomegaly and attenuated the increase in action potential duration significantly. Direct effects of perindoprilat on the inward calcium current of isolated porcine ventricular myocytes has also been demonstrated which acts to inhibit the action of noradrenaline (Enous et al,1992). These findings suggest potential anti-arrhythmic effects of perindopril treatment relevant to heart failure. A small acute study in a peri-infarction model in pigs failed to demonstrate significant abnormalities despite a significant reduction in mortality in the perindopril treated group (Tobe et al,1992)

4.4.5. Tissue renin angiotensin systems

Although human heart failure is widely regarded as being accompanied by an activation of the renin angiotensin system much confusion is caused by the concurrent use of diuretic therapy. In untreated heart failure there may only be small elevation in circulating renin in keeping with the increased intravascular fluid volume (Anand et

al,1989). However in experimental models of low output heart failure activation is demonstrable at the level of the tissue based system (Hirsch et al,1991,1992; Schkunert et al,1990;Fabris et al,1990). In addition it is clear that other non converting enzyme dependent pathways for the local generation of AngII are also activated in heart failure (Urata et al,1990).

4.4.6. Mortality

Clearly one of the most significant levels of efficacy in heart failure treatment must be the effect on mortality. Experimental studies in rats treated with captopril after myocardial infarction clearly show reductions in long term mortality with ACE inhibitor treatment (Pfeffer et al,1985). Short term studies with perindopril in similar models of left ventricular infarction in rats show no appreciable difference between sham operated placebo treated controls and perindopril (Michel et al,1988). This is largely due to the duration of study than any real suggestion of anything other than a class related activity. In longer term studies with a similar long acting ACE inhibitor, quinapril, hamsters with a genetic cardiomyopathy showed a decreased mortality compared to placebo controls (Haleen et al,1991). Similar results have been documented with enalapril (Sweet et al,1987). A relatively small study examining the effect of intravenous perindoprilat (0.06mg/kg) on experimental myocardial infarction in pigs showed a significant reduction in the death rate 7 of 12 controls compared with 2 of 12 treated animals over the 2 weeks following coronary occlusion (Tobe et al,1992).

In the context of experimental studies the reasons given for the observed reductions in mortality tend to focus on myocardial changes. Altered myocardial structure is often cited as a major factor. Specifically the reduction in myocardial fibrosis following infarction demonstrated clearly by Michel and colleagues (1988) using perindopril is felt to be a central element in the concept of "cardioprotection" manifest as

79

improved cardiac haemodynamics and coronary perfusion, attenuated progression of myocardial failure and inhibition of acute events such as the tendency towards arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death (Gavras & Gavras,1991). While theoretically appealing the concept originates in animal observations and the treatments employed do not always mimic the clinical situation (McMurray et al,1991). This remains an exciting area for further definition of the mechanism of action of ACE inhibitor treatment. Experimental studies tend to examine the contribution of one of the above mechanisms in isolation and tend not to give an integrated answer to the mechanism of action in man.

4.5. CLINICAL STUDIES

4.5.1 PHARMACOKINETICS

A. GENERAL

It is important to remember that the duration of action of ACE inhibitors has important functional implications. The incidence of a variety of cardiovascular emergencies follows a well described periodicity. The majority of events, and this includes the onset of acute cardiac decompensation, peak in the late evening or early hours of the morning (Cugini et al,1990;Muller et al,1989). This has important implications for drug therapy and it is a notable omission that many heart failure treatments are not studied for efficacy at the peak hours of onset of the disease, namely in the middle of the night (Giles,1990). This has recently been a focus of attention in the description of the efficacy of anti-hypertensive drugs .

The pharmacokinetics of perindopril in heart failure are affected by some simple principles applicable to most drugs used in this condition (Table 4.2).

 Table 4.2: General effects of heart failure on the pharmacokinetics of cardiovascular

 drugs

.

ABSORPTION- reduced blood flow to gut and muscleFIRST PASS METABOLISM- reduced hepatic blood flow- reduced hepatic metabolismVOLUME OF DISTRIBUTION- interstitial fluid accumulation (little impact)ELIMINATION- interaction with alterations in volume of
distribution, associated renal/hepatic dysfunction

moderate to severe heart failure, continued on their normal diuretic regimen but off vasodilators for 48 hours, the time to peak perindopril concentration (2 hours) was only slightly prolonged compared with that expected in healthy age matched controls receiving a single 4mg oral dose. This was thought to be due to a delay in drug absorption. The peak plasma concentration of perindopril was higher (112.6±12.7ng/ml) and apparent half life (3.54±0.46hr) prolonged. Perindoprilat appearance was delayed (8.22±0.85hr) as was ACE inhibition in plasma. Calculated elimination constants are similar to healthy controls but their definition hinges largely on the sensitivity of the assay system employed. The peak plasma ACE inhibition remained unaltered.

B. AGE

People who have heart failure are in the main elderly. The condition has a high prevalence in those above the age of 65 years. It is responsible for nearly 10% of all acute hospital admissions in this age group (McMurray & McDevitt,1990). Elderly patients may be particularly susceptible to the haemodynamic effects of these drugs (Reid,1987). Considering age alone there is clear evidence of reductions in the clearance of perindopril. Lees and colleagues showed that the mean AUC for a single oral dose of 8mg perindopril was increased from 119.7 ng/ml/hr to 295.3 ng/ml/hr comparing young and elderly normal volunteers. This may be related to a reduction in renal clearance of perindoprilat but the relationship is not direct. This is similar to the findings for other prodrug ACE inhibitors (Hockings et al,1986).

Gilgenkrantz and Flammang (1987) studied 33 heart failure patients (35-77 years) over three months perindopril therapy in the dose range from 1-4mg once daily. Model independent pharmacokinetic parameters increased in a dose related manner both for perindopril and perindoprilat (see table 4.3).

Table 4.3: Pharmacokinetics of perindpril in heart failure patients. data on file fromstudy PKH 07.02, Gilgenkrantz and Flammang,1991; Servier Europe Courbevoie,France.

Population	t _{max}	C _{max}	AUC	tł,2
	(h)	(ng.ml ⁻¹)	(ng.ml ⁻¹ .h)	(h)
Heart failure patients (n = 10)	1.85 ± 0.39 (0.5 - 4.0)	112.55 ± 12.67 (28.7 - 172.1)	577.01 ± 111.46 93.3 - 1261.9)	3.54 ± 0.46 (1.3 - 6.0)
Healthy subjects	1.0**	73.27*	168.90*	0.89*
	(0.5 / 3.0)	19.74 / 126.79	(38.77 / 298.94)	(0.31 / 1.47)
	(n = 66)	(n = 66)	(n = 66)	(n = 54)

= mean (95% confidence limits)

- **
- = median (extreme experimental values)

three month treatment interval. The increment in perindoprilat AUC of approximately 1.5 is typical of that seen with other ACE inhibitors and heart failure does not significantly alter this phenomenon in comparison to normal individuals or patients with hypertension.

Reduction in the total body clearance of perindopril and perindoprilat occurs in elderly patients with heart failure as seen by the higher plasma concentrations again in comparison to reference data from normal volunteers or patients with hypertension.

C. RENAL IMPAIRMENT

Renal responses are central to the development of heart failure. Through a variety of mechanisms renal impairment is a common feature of many patients (Ritz & Fliser,1991;Naschitz et al,1990). As the major route of elimination of perindopril is by metabolism, largely hepatic, and that of perindoprilat is excretion by the kidneys as expected renal impairment affects the pharmacokinetics of perindoprilat rather than perindopril. In stable chronic renal impairment there is a direct positive correlation between cumulative clearance of perindoprilat and creatinine (Verpooten et al,1991;Sennesael et al,1992; see figure 4.1).

This results in elevation of maximal plasma perindoprilat concentrations and AUC in proportion to the degree of renal impairment. Terminal elimination half life, which reflects in part distribution of the drug to tissue compartments (Lees et al,1989), is unaltered by renal failure. Proportionally a reduction in perindopril dosage is required where renal function is impaired.

D. HEPATIC IMPAIRMENT

Liver dysfunction is a feature of heart failure. In the majority of instances this is a reflection of hepatic congestion which can be in part corrected by appropriate diuretic



Figure 4.2 The relationship between cumulative renal clearance of perindoprilat (CL_R and creatinine clearance (CL_{Cr}) (data from Sennesael et al,1992)

unclear. The de-esterification of prodrug ACE inhibitors is a diffuse process occurring in a variety of sites. However the majority of this step is conducted in the liver (Larmour et al,1985). Studies by Tsai (Tsai et al,1989) and Thiollet (Thiollet et al, 1992) have examined clearance of perindopril and its metabolites in patients with established cirrhosis. Both these investigators suggested increases in the AUC for perindopril, roughly doubled (eg 602 ± 294 ng/ml/hr vs 266 ± 70 ng/ml/hr), but similar values for perindoprilat (eg 134 ± 139 ng/ml/hr vs 120 ± 29 ng/ml/hr) to those found in normal volunteers (Devissaguet et al,1990).

On the assumption that perindoprilat is the entity which generates the metabolic effects of treatment it was concluded that no dosage alteration was necessary. Similar observations have been made using other prodrug ACE inhibitors (Ohnishi et al,1989). Comparable studies are not available in heart failure but liver dysfunction per se does not appear to pose specific risks of drug accumulation requiring alterations in daily dose.

E. FOOD

Food has an important effect on drug bioavailability. In the context of heart failure responses and ACE inhibitor drugs this is doubly important as a meal will in addition have independent effects on blood pressure. The haemodynamic effects resemble the effect of vasodilator drug treatment and effectively enhance or overestimate the effects of ACE inhibitor treatment (Herrlin et al, 1990).

Generally the bioavailability of captopril and its haemodynamic effect are reduced and delayed respectively by concommitant food (Singhvi et al,1982;Mantyla et al,1984). This does not appear to be relevant to longer acting drugs such as enalapril (Swanson et al,1984). In twelve healthy volunteers Lecocq and colleagues (1990) found reductions in the bioavailability of perindoprilat and its fractional urinary excretion associated with reductions in the metabolism of perindopril to perindoprilat. Perindopril disposition was unaltered in this single dose study in which 4mg perindopril was studied. Plasma ACE activity was affected by the altered perindoprilat profile (Table 4.4).

The reduced interconversion of perindopril to perindoprilat was not due to altered total absorption as total urinary excretion remained unaltered.

4.5.2 PHARMACODYNAMICS

A. Hormonal effects

The effects of heart failure on the renin angiotensin system alone are difficult to address. In most instances patient studies are complicated by concurrent treatments which directly or indirectly affect the system. The most common example is diuretic therapy (Bayliss et al,1986), but any vasodilator treatment will also activate the renin angiotensin system (Dcig et al,1992). Rare studies in untreated severe heart failure indicate elevated renin activity but on a variable and unpredictable basis (Anand et al,1990). With the technical limitations of most common renin activity measurements this probably underestimates the extent of the elevation of renin in these circumstances (Plouin et al,1990).

Induction of the renin angiotensin system in human heart failure has been suggested to occur on chronic treatment with ACE inhibitors in man (O'Neill et al,1992). This may relate to the disease process per se in addition to being an effect of the drug treatment itself. In general the blockade of the renin angiotensin system is felt to be central to the efficacy of the drugs despite their non specific profile. The direct relationship to beneficial effects on symptoms or in reducing mortality is not yet clear. In the same respect the optimal dosage employed within the range of drugs available is also unclear both in terms of symptomatic relief and reducing mortality.

In an open study of 10 patients with moderate(5) and severe(5) heart failure

Table 4.4.: Pharmacokinetic parameters of perindoprilat following oral perindopril(4mg) in the fasted and fed states (data from Lecocq et al,1990).

	Fasted	Fed	p Value
C_{max} (ng · ml ⁻¹)	4.7 ± 1.6	3.6 ± 1.5	NS
t _{max} (hr)	3.6 ± 2.2	3.9 ± 2.5	NS
AUC(0-t) (ng · hr · ml ⁻¹)	52 ± 22	29 ± 17	<i>p</i> < 0.05
t _v ,	10.9(8.3-31.1)*	12.0-14.2**	×
F. (% dose)	19 ± 7	13 ± 4	p < 0.01
CL_{R} (ml · min ⁻¹)	171 ± 70	177 ± 70	NS
Relative amount o tion (AUC _{fed} /AU	f biotransforma- JC _{fased})	0.65 ±	: 0.42

*Median (range); $n = 6^{**}$ range; n = 2.

Data are mean values ± SD.

 C_{max} , Peak serum concentration; t_{max} , time to reach maximum concentration; AUC(0-t), area under the serum concentration-versus-time curve; t_{ν_2} , half-life; F_e, fractional urinary excretion; CL_R, renal clearance; NS, not significant. significantly greater and more prolonged than that observed in healthy normal volunteers Thuillez and colleagues (1990) showed that a single dose of perindopril 4mg, after 24hr diuretic withdrawal in sodium restricted state, produced approximately 70% inhibition of plasma ACE (Figure 4.2). There was an associated rise in plasma renin and fall in aldosterone (Lees & Reid 1987a,b). In summary Perindopril produces rapid onset of dose dependent inhibition of plasma ACE of a protracted nature with appropriate changes in renin and aldosterone (Table 4.5).

B. Cardiac Haemodynamics

Central cardiac haemodynamic studies are conducted in order to define the initial status of agents used in the treatment of heart failure. They serve as indicators of compounds which are likely to prove valuable in the management of acute heart failure through beneficial alterations in the Frank-Starling relationship defining cardiac output in relation to initial LVEDP and cardiac work. They may be valuable in the selection of therapy for individual patients with severe heart failure who have a poor prognosis despite multiple therapies (Chatterjee, 1989;Uretsky & Hua,1991).

Such studies are not efficient predictors of individual symptomatic responses to long term therapy in chronic heart failure. Some significance has been attributed to the pulmonary vascular response as a therapeutic predictor of response to long term ACE inhibitor therapy in individual patients (Packer et al,1985). This is surprising given the known resistance of the pulmonary circulation to the haemodynamic effects of AngII (de Bono et al,1966). Patients may have acute responses compatible with haemodynamic improvements which are either not sustained on chronic therapy or are not translated to functional benefits in terms of exercise studies.



Figure 4.2: Effects of oral perindopril (4mg) on plasma converting enzyme activity (PCEA), renin activity (PRA) and aldosterone (PA) in heart failure patients (data from Thuillez et al,1990)

Table 4.5: Inhibition of ACE following acute and chronic dosing with perindopril in a range of unpublished reports in heart failure patients (data on file from expert report, Dargie,1990)

ACE	CP	04.04 ute	CP 04.01 acute		CP04.02 CH acute a	CP04.03 acute	CP04.05/2 chronic	PKH06.02 chronic
inhibition	$\frac{1 \text{ mg}}{(n=11)}$	2 mg (n = 9)	2 mg $(n = 6)$	4 mg $(n = 6)$	2 mg (n = 12)	4 mg (n = 10)	4 mg (n = 11)	4 mg $(n = 12)$
Peak inhibition	44 % at 4 h	71 % at 12 h	53 % at 6 h r	79 % at 6 h	63% at 12 h	72 % at 12 h	86 % at 4 h	89 % at 5 h
Inhibition at 24 h	34 %	5 9 <i>%</i>	50 %	5 9 %	45 %	56 %	57 %	67 %

heart cardiac catheterisation with pressure monitoring and cardiac output determinations by thermodilution techniques. None of these studies has a placebo control. Interpretation is therefore difficult in the light of a well characterised placebo effect of instrumentation (Packer,1990), spontaneous improvements in cardiac function (Francis et al,1990), and diurnal variation in the haemodynamic aspects of the disease (Caruana et al,1988) and the response to treatment. However changes can be described with respect to baseline values.

Thuillez and colleagues (1990) demonstrated a significant and long lasting fall in systemic vascular resistance (-18%), right atrial pressure (-60%), and mean capillary wedge pressure (-28%) following perindopril 4mg in 10 patients with moderate to severe heart failure. There was an associated rise in cardiac index (+12%). Anguenot and colleagues (1987) saw delayed falls in systemic vascular resistance and mean pulmonary artery pressure at 24hrs compared to 12hrs in 14 patients with severe refractory heart failure. These are in keeping with the expected profile of vasodilatation expected to occur with acute ACE inhibition.

C. Regional blood flow

Thuillez and colleagues (1990) in their invasive study also observed the regional vascular responses to perindopril in heart failure patients. The regional sensitivity of the circulation to AngII is well described (Motwani and Struthers, 1992). ACE inhibition because it affects systems other than AngII generation would be expected to produce a pattern slightly different from simple AngII withdrawal and would be modified by the disease process itself.

Thuillez found that in addition to the central haemodynamic changes described above there was a marked increase in brachial (+130%) and renal (+34%) blood flow. The falls in forearm and renal vascular resistance appeared to be related to the basal circulating plasma noradrenaline concentrations rather than renin. As expected the vasodilatation was inhomogeneous in different vascular beds. In keeping with the insensitivity of the pulmonary circulation pulmonary arterial resistance was virtually unaltered.

These alterations in regional blood flow may be important in determining the beneficial effects of treatment on exercise symptoms originating in the poorly perfused skeletal muscle vascular beds (Cohen-Solal,1989). There appears to be a gradual increase in skeletal muscle flow with long term ACE inhibition (Drexler et al,1988;Drexler,1992). Although there is not a marked initial increase in flow the key element may be intra muscular redistribution of flow mediated by the blockade of the localised renin angiotensin system.

D. Blood pressure and first dose response

Where there is felt to be activation of the renin angiotensin system and a circulation dependent on AngII pressor tone, acute ACE inhibition has occasionally been associated with marked and symptomatic falls in blood pressure. The nature of this phenomenon is unclear but most individuals assume a direct relationship with the circulating or localised contribution of AngII to vascular tone. Concern has arisen as to the functional significance of such falls in blood pressure in heart failure patients where there is frequently concurrent renovascular, cerebrovascular or coronary vascular disease. Attention has been focused by anecdotal case reports (Cleland et al, 1985;Lantz et al, 1988;La Barre et al, 1982) and small series of patients where detrimental effects particularly on renal function have been documented in renovascular hypertension and heart failure (Hodsman et al, 1983;Mujais et al, 1984). The incidence of the problem and its overall clinical importance in the light of the potential benefits of ACE inhibitor therapy (Editorial, 1992) are unclear and controlled studies are lacking. The phenomenon

is seen with many cardiovascular agents (Semple et al,1988) or placebo and may represent effects on arterial, venous tone and autonomic function (Capewell & Capewell,1991).

The lack of initial haemodynamic response does not, as expected (Massie et al,1984) have implications for beneficial increases in exercise tolerance (see section 4.2.5). Longer term therapy with 2 or 4mg perindopril once daily was similarly not associated with significant falls in blood pressure (Bounhoure et al,1989). For this drug at least symptomatic improvement can occur without overt reductions in mean arterial pressure. This is, at present, a unique feature among the ACE inhibitors available for the treatment of heart failure.

E. Exercise Capacity

This is one of the key areas of documenting the beneficial effects of drug treatment in heart failure. This appears to have little to do with the acute effects of drugs on blood pressure or cardiac haemodynamics (Packer et al,1985;Massie et al,1984). Like haemodynamic studies placebo control, training effects and structured assessment are essential (Lipkin & Poole-Wilson,1985).

Kirlin and colleagues (Kirlin et al,1988) have suggested that the hormonal effects of ACE inhibitor drugs are affected by exercise. They found that a dose dependency was evident only following exercise which was not evident at rest. In their study the focus was concentrated around the short duration of effects on hormones found with the short acting drug captopril and the long acting drug, lisinopril. The authors conclude that full blockade of the system was important and that this may not always occur during exercise on chronic dosing despite similar resting levels of inhibition. Using hormonal responses (reactive rise in renin or falls in aldosterone) this was not achieved adequately. Although lisinopril is not a prodrug the profile of inhibition seen with perindopril most closely resembles this pattern.

Bounhoure and colleagues studied the effects of perindopril treatment (2 or 4mg daily) or matched placebo in a double blind parallel group design on clinical symptoms and exercise parameters (Bounhoure et al,1989). Patients received three months therapy. Little change was noted in blood pressure or heart rate. Placebo treatment was associated with initial reductions in symptom scores, NYHA classification and exercise time at 1 month. This is a common feature of most controlled studies, but as expected this was not sustained at the three month assessment. In contrast perindopril treatment produced significantly greater and sustained improvement in all these parameters at both 1 and three months of active treatment (Table 4.6). In addition there was also a small but statistically significant fall in cardiac size as reflected in cardiothoracic ratio. These results are in keeping with the emergence of efficacy in the 6-8weeks following the initiation of ACE inhibitor treatment (Massie et al, 1984, Packer et al, 1983)

It is clear that the dose of perindopril appropriate for the management of heart failure (2-4mg daily) is below that normally employed in the management of hypertension with this agent (Lees et al,1989).

4.6 SAFETY AND TOLERABILITY

Perindopril has been studied during long term treatment in relatively small numbers of heart failure patients in order to observe its record of safety and tolerability. In controlled studies there have been no major reports of significant biochemical or haematological adverse events. In particular there were no significant changes in biochemical indices of renal function although as expected a small but statistically significant rise in serum potassium can be documented.

Treatment withdrawal from controlled studies as expected shows a significant incidence of death and progression of heart failure (Table 4.7). Matched placebo data are

 Table 4.6: Exercise response to oral perindopril table 5 study C 04.01/2

	Before treatment	After 3 months treatment
Excercise test duration (sec)		
<u>Bicycle</u> – placebo $(n = 36)$	563.6 (25.9)	594.4 (33.8)
- perindopril $(n = 36)$	493.8 (23.6)	619.4 (28.2)
<u>Treadmill</u> – placebo (n = 16)	530.3 (49.4)	544.7 (70.4)
- perindopril $(n = 18)$	597.6 (50.0)	778.4 (60.1)
NYHA class		
- placebo $(n = 56)$	II = 38	I = 9
	III = 18	II = 32
		111 = 12
		1V = 3
- perindopril $(n = 56)$	II = 30	I = 12
	III = 26	II = 37
	이 이 가슴 같은 것이	III = 7
	5	IV = 0
Heart failure score		
- placebo $(n = 55)$	4.5 (0.3)	3.7 (0.4)
- perindopril $(n = 56)$	5.5 (0.4)	2.4 (0.3)
Table 4.7: Summary of treatment withdrawals in heart failure patients during a range ofclinical trials of oral perindopril therapy (data on file from Dargie, 1990).

	Str C 04	udy 1.01/2	Study	Study	Study	
	S 9490 (n = 61)	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{placebo} \\ (n = 64) \end{array}$	C 04.02 (n = 320)	CP 04.05/2 (n = 15)	r = 12	
Total no. of withdrawals	5	7	75	5	0	
Reasons						
Death	0	1	10	4	0	
Adverse event	2	4	38	1	0	
Worsening of heart failure	1	0	9	0	0	
Poor compliance	0	1	1	0	0	
Loss to follow-up	2	1	7	0	0	
Other	0	0	10	0	0	

not available for comparative purposes.

Generalised adverse events reported in the safety studies cover the usual range of non-specific symptoms (Table 4.8). There is little to distinguish the pattern of symptoms from those generally attributable to the class effects of ACE inhibitor treatment.

Table 4.8: Adverse symptoms reported (total number and percentage) during clinicalstudies with oral perindopril in heart failure patients (data on file, Dargie, 1990)

Symptom	C 04.01/2 3 months				C 04.02 up to 30 months		PKH 06.02 1 month	
	S 9490 (n = 61)		placebo $(n = 64)$		S 9490 (n = 320)		S 9490 (n = 12)	
	n	96	n	96	п	%	'n	%
Cardiorespiratory - anginal pain - orthostatic discomfort - dizziness - palpitations - heavy legs - oedema of lower limbs - cough	2 1 1 1 2	3.3 1.6 1.6 1.6 3.3	3 0 0 1	4.7 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0	8 6 13 5 1 2 32	2.5 1.9 4.1 1.6 0.3 0.6 10.0	2	17
- atypical chest pain - dyspnoea	1	1.6	0	0.0	22	0.6 0.6	12	8.0 17
CNS and behaviour - mood and/or sleep disturbances - tremor - concentration and coordination disturbances	 1 0 0	1.6 0.0 0.0	1 1 1	1.6 1.6 1.6	4.1	1.3		
ENT and opthalmology - tinnitus - runny nose - lacrimation	1 0 1	1.6 0.0 1.6	1 1 0	1.6 1.6 0.0	1	0.3 0.3		
Digestive system - taste disturbance - dry mouth - diarrhoea - nausea - vomiting - epigastric pain - abdominal pain	0 1 3 1 0 5 1	0.0 1.6 4.9 1.6 0.0 8.2 1.6	1 0 1 0 1 2 0	1.6 0.0 1.6 0.0 1.6 3.1 0	1 7 6 1 7 3	0.3 2.2 1.9 0.3 2.2 0.9	1	8.0
Locomotor system - joint pains - muscular cramps	13	1.6 4.9	3 0	4.7 0	3 5	0.9 1.6	1	8.0
General symptoms - tiredness - headache - sweating - hot flushes	4 2 2 0	6.6 3.3 3.3 0.0	2 2 1 1	3.1 3.1 1.6 1.6	8 4 3	2.5 1.3 0.9 3 1	1	8.0
- cutaneous signs - anorexia - asthenia - angioneurotic oedema		1.6	Ō	0.0	3 13 1	0.9 4.1 0.3	1	8.0

STUDIES ON ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITION

CHAPTER 5: GENERAL RECURRENT METHODS

5.1. Patient and Volunteer Studies

•

5.1.1. Blood Pressure and heart rate measurement

During all clinical studies, whether in patients or normal volunteers, the technique of blood pressure and heart rate measurement was uniform. Data was recorded using an established (Johnson & Kerr, 1985) semi-automatic device (Sentron, Bard, Sunderland UK), maintained and calibrated at regular intervals by the hospital Clinical Physics Department. This machine operates on an ocsillometric technique for indirect blood pressure and direct heart rate measurement. All subjects had supine blood pressure measurements recorded in triplicate after at least 30 minutes supine rest.

During the heart failure studies (Chapter 6) blood pressure was recorded continuously at 2 minute intervals to establish the baseline pressure, for safety reasons and to establish a trend analysis. In addition triplicate blood pressure measurements were meaned and constituted the data set used to compare drug effects.

Where relevant erect blood pressures were determined in triplicate at 1,2 and 5mins and meaned to constitute the data point.

5.1.2. Protocol and Patient Consent

All studies involving patients or human volunteers in clinical projects were the subject of detailed pre study protocols laid out in a standard format for the relevant local Research and Ethical committee. In all cases each protocol was reviewed and granted clearance prior to the conduct of the study with only minor modifications. All human subjects whether patient or normal volunteers were screened in terms of their clinical history and physical examination as suitable for inclusion in the particular study by myself. An information sheet as to the aims and details of the procedures involved in any given study was provided and written and informed consent to participated was subsequently obtained.

5.2. Analytical Methods

5.2.1. ACE activity

The determination of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) activity was based on the method of Chiknas (1979). This method is based on the measurement of the formation of hippuric acid from the synthetic tripeptide substrate Hippuryl-Histidine-Leucine (Hip-His-Leu). By quantifying the amount of hippuric acid formed by the action of ACE on Hip-His-Leu an indirect index of ACE activity can be calculated. One unit of ACE activity (1 EU/l) is that which produces 1 mole hippuric acid per minute at 37° C under controlled reaction conditions *in vitro*.

SOLUTIONS

100 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 8.3 (substrate buffer)

 $5.705 \text{ g of } \text{K}_2\text{HPO}_4 \text{ and } 4.375 \text{ g NaCl were dissolved in 250 ml distilled water.}$ 1.361 g of KH_2PO_4 was dissolved in 100 ml distilled water. The monopotassium salt was then added to the dipotassium salt until the pH reached 8.3.

5 mM Hip-His-Leu (substrate)

21.48 mg Hip-His-Leu was dissolved in 10 ml assay buffer. This was freshly made for each assay since there is a gradual degradation of the substrate to hippuric acid, the reaction product.

Internal standard

20.4 mg phthalic acid was dissolved in 20 ml methanol and made up to 100 ml with distilled water. The solution was then diluted 1:2:5 with distilled water to give the working solution (0.41 mmol/l).

Hippuric acid standards

179.2 mg of hippuric acid was added to 100 ml of distilled water, 2 ml of which was taken and made up to 20 ml with drug free plasma (5 mmol/l). A standard calibration line of hippuric acid over the range 0.05 to 1.0 mmol/l was prepared.

Mobile phase

 $5.44 \text{ g KH}_2\text{PO}_4$ (HPLC grade) was dissolved in 1.5 l distilled water and the pH adjusted to 4.0 with orthophosphoric acid. The volume was made up to 2.0 l with distilled water, 140 ml discarded and replaced with 140 ml methanol. The mobile phase was filtered through a 0.8 micron aqueous filter and finally degassed by bubbling helium through for a minimum of 10 minutes.

ANALYTICAL PROCEDURE

Procedure for standards

Into 4 ml polypropylene tubes in duplicate were placed;

- a) 200 ul substrate buffer.
- b) 50 ul 50%HCL (v/v). Vortex briefly.
- c) 20 ul standard plasma.
- d) 50 ul internal standard solution. Vortex briefly.
- e) 50 mg (approximately) NaCl. Vortex briefly.

- f) 1 ml ethyl acetate. Vortex for 15 seconds.
- g) Centrifuge at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes.

h) Remove 500 ul of the organic layer to a clean 4 ml. polypropylene tube and concentrate under air/N₂ at 37° C.

- i) When dry add 100 ul of mobile phase and vortex briefly.
- j) Inject 20 ul onto HPLC system.

Procedure for unknown samples

Into 4 ml polypropylene tubes in duplicate were placed:

- a) 200 ul 5 mmol Hip-His-Leu in substrate buffer.
- b) 20 ul unknown plasma sample. The reaction was started by vortexing briefly.
- c) Samples were incubated in a water bath at 37°C for 30 minutes.
- d) Reaction stopped by the addition of 50 ul 50% HCl and vortexing.
- e) Procedure as from step d) in procedure for Standards.

Quality control data

The minimum limit of quantitation was 0.2 EU/l. Using a quality control sample supplied by Sigma Chemicals the accuracy of the method was 104% whilst 10 replicate analyses of this 18 EU/l standard revealed intra- and inter-assay variability to be 2.0 and 3.3% respectively.

5.2.2. Drug concentration measurements

Drug concentrations of ester and diacid ACE inhibitors were analysed using the

standardised inhibition assay described by Tocco and colleagues (1982) and later modified by Francis (Francis et al, 1987). It is based on the above assay for angiotensin converting enzyme using Hip-His-Leu as substrate and generated hippurate detected by HPLC to quantify the presence of inhibitor. The source of high activity plasma ACE is rabbit plasma. Drug concentrations are determined against known standard curves. Ester prodrug ACE inhibitor concentrations can be determined by alkaline degradation of an aliquot in addition to the determination of free diacid. Simple subtraction of diacid from total substrate inhibition allows the definition of both ester and diacid from a plasma sample where both are present.

This assay is applicable to all prodrug ACE inhibitors and was used extensively for perindopril, perindoprilat; and enalapril, enalaprilat in the studies reported here. The minimum limit of quantitation was 0.5 mg/ml. Using quality control samples revealed intra- and inter-assay variability to be in the region of 3.5 and 6% respectively for both prodrugs and diacid metabolites.

5.2.3. Plasma renin activity

Plasma renin activity was determined by quantification of the rate of angiotensin I formation using exogenous sheep angiotensinogen added to plasma samples. Angiotensin I was measured by a sensitive and specific RIA with a detection limit (in terms of renin activity) of 0.1 ngAI/ml/hr and an inter assay coefficient of variation of 7% (Derkx et al,1979)

5.2.4. Plasma aldosterone

Plasma aldosterone was kindly measured in the steroid laboratory of Dr Robert Fraser of the MRC Blood Pressure Unit at the Western Infirmary. An established RIA was employed based on a commercial kit (Aldosterone MAIA, Biodata, SPA, Italy). Intra and inter assay coefficients of variation were 2.5 and 4.6% respectively.

5.2.5. Plasma angiotensin II

Plasma angiotensin II was kindly measured in the laboratory of Dr JJ Morton of the MRC Blood Pressure Unit at the Western Infirmary using the current technique of his own published radioimmunoassay system (Morton & Webb, 1985). Coefficients of variation are 5% and 7.8% respectively for intra and inter assay comparisons. The limit of detection of the assay is 0.5 pg/ml.

5.2.6. Plasma catecholamines

Plasma concentrations of noradrenaline and adrenaline were measured using a technique based on HPLC analysis of alumina extracted plasma. Samples collected and frozen (-70°C) after collection were processed following washing in acid washed alumina. They were eluted from alumina after washing with perchloric acid. Samples were separated on a reversed phase Spherisorb column after preliminary separation. Quantification was by concurrent internal standards and detection was based on an electrochemical signal system using a silver electrode (Howes et al,1985). The limits of detection for noradrenaline and adrenaline were 0.1nmol/L respectively. Inter and intraassay coefficients of variation were 8% and 3% respectively at the time of analysis.

5.3. Statistical Methods

Blood pressure and heart rate recordings were taken in triplicate at each recording time (section 5.1). The mean of these three recordings, rounded to the nearest whole digit, was used for the statistical analysis. Where relevant mean arterial pressure was calculated from systolic and diastolic pressure using the formula MAP = DBP + (SDP - DBP)/3. All blood pressure data are expressed in mmHg and all heart rate

data in beats per minute. Absolute or baseline corrected values of heart rate, mean arterial pressure and systolic or diastolic pressures were subjected to repeated measures analyses of variance using the statistical package, RUMMAGE on an ICL 3988 mainframe computer. The model included two fixed factors (time, with variable levels and treatment with variable levels) and one random factor (patients, with 8-12 levels dependent on the individual study). Treatment time interactions were estimated using Bonferroni correction for repeated comparisons, based on the premise that the only comparisons of interest were those between treatments at any given time point, i.e. individual times within each treatment were not compared.

Where the pre-treatment values for heart rate, mean arterial pressure or rate pressure product were significantly different between treatment groups, the data were baseline corrected by subtracting the pre-treatment value from all subsequent values before being subjected to statistical analysis. Statistical significance is assumed if p<0.05 was achieved.

Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition was calculated from the formula: % inhibition = 100 x (1-ACE/pre-treatment ACE).

The graphical representation of all data is based on mean values for each treatment group at a given time point with the error bars representing one standard deviation of the mean. All graphs show times following dosing on a linear scale with the 24-hour or later recordings shown separately on the far right.

Demographic data and baseline sodium creatinine and renin values etc were compared amongst the treatment groups using a Freidman one way analysis of variance. In chapter 6 the New York Heart Association Classification of Heart Failure Severity was compared amongst the treatment groups using an analysis of variance by ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) The effect of treatment on serum creatinine and other biochemical indices was assessed by comparing for the four treatment groups the difference between post-treatment and pre-treatment values, using one way analysis of variance.

Specific techniques applied only in certain sections are described at the appropriate point.

CHAPTER 6

ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITION IN HEART FAILURE 6.1 STUDIES WITH ORAL PRODRUG ESTER ACE INHIBITORS

This section set out to compare three oral agents in an observational study using standard clinical practice for introducing ACE inhibitors in heart failure. A non-invasive, double blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, parallel group study was conducted in elderly patients with stable chronic heart failure. The two standard ACE inhibitor in U.K. practice, captopril (6.25 mg) and enalapril (2.5 mg) were to be compared with each other and with the more recent long acting prodrug ACE inhibitor, perindopril (2 mg). These drugs were compared with placebo therapy in their recommended low starting doses for heart failure on a background of diuretic withdrawal and hospital supervision. The haemodynamic and neurohormonal responses of these drugs or placebo and the drug accumulation profiles were the main features to be studied.

6.1.1. PATIENTS AND METHODS

An observational study was conducted in unselected patients (n=48) (59 - 86 years; 31:17, M:F) admitted to hospital for initiation of ACE inhibitor treatment as adjunctive therapy for the management of heart failure. Patients were symptomatic on diuretic therapy (> 80 mg frusemide or equivalent daily) and none had significant fluid imbalance. All had stable renal function and normal serum sodium status (Na \geq 135 mmol) prior to treatment. The diagnosis was confirmed by symptomatic enquiry, clinical history, physical, radiological and electrocardiographic examination prior to treatment. The diagnosis had initially been established by a member of the consultant staff. The majority had impaired left ventricular function documented by echocardiographic examination or left ventriculography. All had NYHA symptoms Grades II - IV, the majority were grade III, symptomatic on minimal exertion. The clinical details of the four patient groups are given in Table 6.1.

Diuretic therapy was withdrawn under supervision for at least 24 hours prior to ACE inhibitor treatment and in the majority this was for 48 hours. All concomitant vasoactive drugs such as calcium antagonists or nitrate preparations were withheld on the day of treatment and until after monitoring was completed at 24 hours. Digoxin, where prescribed, was continued. On the morning of treatment (≈ 0730 hours) a heparinised peripheral venous cannula was inserted for blood sampling and the patients rested undisturbed, semi-supine in bed while baseline blood pressure was recorded semiautomatically at 2 minute intervals for at least 30 minutes (Sentron, Bard, Sunderland, U.K.). Oral treatments (captopril 6.25 mg, enalapril 2.5 mg, perindopril 2 mg, lactose placebo) were administered double blind in their standard formulations within a white hard gelatin capsule prepared in accord with a randomisation schedule held by the Department of Pharmacy. All patients received their normal meals throughout the study. They were kept supine from the start of the study till 10 hours after dosing. Patients were allowed up after this but were supine for at least 45 minutes prior to sampling and blood pressure measurement at 24 hours. Following supervised oral administration blood pressure was recorded supine at 2 minute intervals with supplemental triplicate determinations at set observation points when blood samples were also drawn for the determination of drug concentration, ACE activity and plasma renin activity.

At 24 hours following dosing, blood pressure, drug concentrations, hormones, routine biochemistry and haematology were determined after a period of supine rest. The nature of therapy was then obtained from the pharmacist to allow appropriate further treatment with an oral ACE inhibitor and re-instatement of diuretics and vasodilators. Patients who had received placebo continued on diuretic withdrawal and received oral

	PLACEBO	CAPTOPR	ILENALAPR	RIL PERINDOPRI
	(n=12)	(n=12)	(n=12)	(n=12)
Male/Female (n)	11:1	8:4	6:6	6:6
Age (Mean±1SD)	68.2±5.7	67.8±5.6	65.9±7.3	69.2 ± 7.9
NYHA Class				
II	3	6	4	3
III	9	5	8	9
IV	-	1	-	
Aetiology of Heart	Failure		See. 12	
Ischaemic heart	6	7	6	4
disease				
Alcohol related	1		-	
cardiomyopathy (C	CM)			
Dilated CM	1	-	3	3
Valvular disease		1	영화 김	6. S.
Combinations	4	4	3	5
Atrial fibrillation	2	2		3

 Table 6.1: Demographic data of study patients

captopril 6.25 mg as open therapy under normal nursing observation in hospital. These patients were **not** included in any subsequent active treatment group.

6.1.2 RESULTS

A. General

Each of the parallel groups contained patients of a similar age distribution, NYHA class, pretreatment serum sodium, creatinine and plasma renin activity (Table 6.2). No patient enrolled in the study experienced significant symptoms during the study day or in the preceding period of diuretic withdrawal prior to treatment. All left hospital after initiation of therapy adjustment of diuretic dosage and other drugs without ill effect. No treatment group showed a significant alteration in serum sodium, potassium, urea or creatinine 24 hours after study. In all cases there was the expected small fall in haemoglobin associated with venesection which was well tolerated. The individual changes in pre- and post-treatment laboratory indices are given in Table 6.3.

The pretreatment baseline blood pressure and heart rate values were not equal between the groups. Baseline mean arterial pressure (MAP) was significantly higher (p < 0.05) in the group who received enalapril (106.4±11.6 mmHg) than those who received captopril (98.4±10.8), perindopril (98.2±11.0) or placebo (100.3±12.8). In addition the baseline supine heart rate was significantly lower (p < 0.05) in the group who were treated with captopril (75.9±9.8 bts/min) than those who received enalapril (83.3±15.9), perindopril (77.1±10.4) or placebo (81.1±12.8). For these reasons the temporal pattern of response is described as the change from individual baseline pressures and heart rate rate rather than absolute values. Baseline values are meaned from the 2minute recordings recorded during the pretreatment period of 30-60 minutes rest.

Table 6.2:Summary of comparisons of pre and post treatment laboratory data, ageand NYHA class between treatment groups

	PLACEBO	CAPTOPRIL	ENALAPRIL	PERINDOPRIL	ANOVA P=
Age	-68.2±5.7	67.8±5.6	65.9±7.3	69.2±7.9	0.677
Na ⁺	138.9±2.5	141.2±3.4	140.3±2.7	140.8±2.4	0.220
ΔNa^+	-0.2±2.8	+0.1±2.3	-0.5±2.1	+0.3±1.2	0.794
K+	4.1±0.6	4.2±0.3	4.2±0.6	3.9±0.6	0.407
$\Delta \mathbf{K^+}$	+0.02±0.6	-0.15±0.4	+0.05±0.6	+0.08±0.4	0.684
Urea	8.5±5.9	6.3±1.7	7.2±2.5	8.6±3.2	0.380
∆Urea	-1.4±4.0	-0.1±1.1	-0.4±1.3	-0.4±1.8	0.570
Creat	107±15	98±22	102±29	122±36	0.150
∆Crea	nt-0.6±19	-4.0±12	-8.2±16	-6.6±15	0.651
Hb	14.4±1.3	13.5±1.4	14.0±1.2	13.8±1.1	0.408
∆Hb	-1.2±0.6	-1.2±0.5	-1.8±0.5	-1.2±0.5	0.016
NYHA (Avera	A Class 26.7 age rank)	21.3	24.0	26.0	0.681 (Kruskal-Wallis

B.Haemodynamic effects

Heart rate

Only minor changes in heart rate were seen with any treatment, the greatest being a fall of 10.8 beats per minute 8 hours after dosing with enalapril. No reflex tachycardia was encountered with any treatment. The mean heart rate difference from baseline was -2.62 beats per minute for the placebo group, -2.96 beats per minute for the captopril group, -6.77 beats per minute for the enalapril group and -1.06 beats per minute for the perindopril group (P = 0.034). The mean heart rate was,therefore, lower for the enalapril group than all other groups and was higher in the perindopril group than in the captopril group. From the analysis of variance, the probability of a treatment time interaction was P < 0.001. Heart rate differences at individual time points were mainly apparent for the enalapril group. The heart rate in the enalapril group was lower than placebo from 1 hour to 8 hours after dosing. It was lower than the captopril group from 20 minutes until 24 hours after dosing and lower than the perindopril group from 20 minutes until 24 hours after dosing (Figure 6.1).

Mean arterial pressure

Mean arterial pressure fell by 10 mmHg from baseline, 4.5 hours after placebo. One and a half hours after captopril, mean arterial pressure had fallen by 17.7 mmHg from baseline. The fall in MAP after enalapril did not occur until 5 hours post-dosing and reached -23.2 mmHg. The lowest blood pressure after perindopril was seen 7.5 hours after dosing at -8.9 mmHg, which was higher than the placebo value at that time, and with a similar difference from placebo at 24 hours post-dosing. Analysis of Variance on the baseline corrected mean arterial pressure data revealed a significant mean effect of treatment (P = 0.022) and significant treatment time interaction (P < 0.001). The mean values for the 28 recordings in each treatment group were as follows:-



Figure 6.1: The baseline corrected mean effect (±1SD) of oral placebo (□), captopril 6.25mg (●), enalapril 2.5mg (○),or perindopril 2mg (■) on supine heart rate in patients with chronic cardiac failure.

Captopril - 8.82 mmHg Enalapril -11.68 mmHg Perindopril - 4.08 mmHg

Thus, the mean figures for captopril and enalapril were lower than for placebo or perindopril and the mean figure for enalapril was lower than that for captopril.

The comparisons at individual time points revealed the following:- The mean arterial pressure following captopril was lower than that after placebo from 40 minutes until 3 hours after dosing. Mean arterial pressure after enalapril was lower from 2.5 hours until 10 hours after dosing. The mean arterial pressure after captopril was lower than after perindopril from 15 minutes until 4 hours after dosing and was lower after captopril than enalapril from 50 minutes until 105 minutes after dosing. This reversed from 4 hours after dosing, however, with mean arterial pressure then being lower after enalapril than after captopril and this difference persisted until 10 hours after dosing. The mean arterial pressure after enalapril was lower than that after perindopril at 50 minutes and from 3 hours until 10 hours after dosing (Figure 6.2).

C. Drug concentration data and plasma hormonal responses

Sample collection procedures in a double blind study did not allow for the special preparations required in order to undertake collections for determination of captopril drug levels or measurement of ACE activity in these specimens.

Drug Concentrations

The pharmacokinetic profiles for enalapril and perindopril groups are illustrated in Figure 6.3. Concentrations of both parent ester and active diacid metabolite were higher for enalapril than perindopril. The mean (± 1 SD) time to peak ester concentrations (t_{max}) were 1.95 (± 0.7) hrs for enalapril and 1.74 (± 0.7) hrs for perindopril. The mean time to peak for



Figure 6.2: The baseline corrected mean effect (± 1 SD) of oral placebo (\Box), captopril 6.25 mg (\bullet), enalapril 2.5 mg (\circ), or perindopril 2 mg (\blacksquare) on supine mean arterial pressure in patients with chronic cardiac failure.



Figure 6.3: Mean serum concentrations $(\pm 1$ SD) of perindopril (\Box) and perindoprilat (\bullet) (a) or enalapril (\circ) and enalaprilat (\bullet) (b) following oral therapy in patients with chronic cardiac failure.

was the difference in t_{max} for either ester (p = 0.684) or diacid (p = 0.229) significantly different between the treatment groups (Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA). Generally speaking both treatments were associated with prolonged plateau concentrations of the active diacid.

ACE Inhibition

The analysis of variance for angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition confirmed a significant main effect of treatment between the enalapril and perindopril groups (P = 0.002) and significant treatment time interaction for these groups (P < 0.001).

Plasma ACE activity was significantly reduced in both perindopril and enalapril groups with respect to placebo (Figure 6.4). Maximal ACE inhibition was similar for both active treatment groups (enalapril 63%; perindopril 68%) at 8 hours post-dosing. The onset of inhibition was earlier with perindopril. Inhibition was significantly greater between 50 mins and 3 hours after perindopril compared to enalapril. ACE inhibition was also significantly greater at 24 hours post-dosing after perindopril.

From the ANOVA the mean ACE inhibition over the 28 recording times for perindopril was 30% and for enalapril was 23%. There were differences between the two treatments at individual recording times from 50 minutes until 3 hours and also at 24 hours. In each case, perindopril showed the greater inhibition of ACE.

Plasma Renin activity

Pretreatment plasma renin activity (geometric mean, 95% confidence limits) after 24-48 hr diuretic withdrawal was similar in all groups (p = 0.183, one way ANOVA); captopril group (1.1; 0.2, 3.8 AI/ml/hr) compared with placebo (3.2; 0.5, 11.7), enalapril (1.7; 0.5, 44.7) and perindopril (2.5; 0.2, 11.9). There was no significant difference (p = 0.222 Kruskal Wallis ANOVA) in the prestudy dose of diuretic drugs between those patients who received captopril



Figure 6.4: Plasma ACE inhibition (% baseline activity EU/ml, mean±1SD) following placebo (□), enalapril (○) or perindopril (●).



Figure 6.5: Plasma renin activity following oral placebo (□), captopril (●), enalapril (○) or perindopril (■): geometric mean values are illustrated.

All three active treatments produced elevations in PRA. The early rise associated with captopril was not marked which related to the initial sampling point at 2hrs after dosing. Later rises were associated with enalapril and perindopril (Figure 6.5).

6.2 STUDIES WITH INTRAVENOUS DIACID ACE INHIBITORS

In this section a comparison was made of the diacid metabolites enalaprilat and perindoprilat administered by intravenous infusion in a non-invasive, double blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, parallel group study in elderly patients with stable heart failure. Perindoprilat (1 mg) and enalaprilat (1.5 mg) were given in total doses which broadly approximated, on the basis of prior bioavailability, to the oral doses of perindopril (2 mg) and enalapril (2.5 mg) used in our parallel oral studies (see section 6.1). Both active drugs and placebo (saline) were prepared in normal saline (30 ml) and infused at a constant rate of 5 ml/hr over 6 hours. The haemodynamic and neurohormonal responses of these drugs or placebo and the drug accumulation profiles were the main features to be studied.

6.2.1 PATIENTS AND METHODS

This study was conducted in patients (n=36) (60-87 years; 24:12, M:F) admitted to hospital for initiation of ACE inhibitor as adjunctive therapy for the management of heart failure. The placebo group was common to section 6.1. Patients were selected in an identical fashion to the section on oral ACE inhibitor treatments. As before all symptomatic on diuretic therapy (> 80 mg frusemide or equivalent daily) and none had significant fluid imbalance. The clinical details of the three patient groups are given in Table 6.3; 6.4; & 6.5.

All diuretic therapy was again withdrawn under supervision for at least 24 hours prior to ACE inhibitor treatment and in the majority this was for 48 hours. All concomitant vasoactive

STUDY NO.	SUBJ INITI	T AGE	SEX	AETIOLOGY	NYHA CLAS	A CARDIAC S RHYTHM	DURATION OF INFUSION
3	JM	69	М	H/ACM	Ш	AF	6 HOURS
4	EW	60	М	IHD	III	S	6 HOURS
5	DR	76	М	ACM	III	S	6 HOURS
11	GH	67	М	H/IHD	II-III	S	6 HOURS
17	JB	74	М	IHD/MR	III	AF	6 HOURS
22	AJ	74	М	IHD	ш	S	6 HOURS
37	TM	74	М	IHD	III	S	6 HOURS
41	JG	64	М	IHD	Ш	S	6 HOURS
55	DR	61	Μ	H/IHD	III	S	6 HOURS
62	WB	67	М	IHD	II	S	6 HOURS
66	JW	71	F	DCM	III	S	6 HOURS
27	AM	61	Μ	IHD	II	S	6 HOURS

Table 6.3: PATIENT DEMOGRAPHY - PLACEBO THERAPY

IHD - Ischaemic heart disease
H - Hypertensive heart disease
ACM - Alcohol related cardiomyopathy
DCM - Dilated cardiomyopathy
MR - Mitral regurgitation
S - Sinus rhythm

AF - Atrial fibrillation

STUDY NO.	SUBJ INITI	TAGE	SEX	AETIOLOGY	NYH CLA	A CARDIAC SSRHYTHM	DURATION	N DOSE (mg)
13	EMcN	M 72	F	DCM	III	AF	6 HOURS	1.5
15	MMc	D71	F	IHD/H	III	AF	6 HOURS	1.5
19	AB	74	F	IHD	III	S	6 HOURS	1.5
23	JD	60	М	DCM	Ш	S	6 HOURS	1.5
28	PW	73	М	ACM	III	S	2 HOURS	0.5
32	MF	76	F	IHD	III	S	2 HOURS	0.5
39	СТ	60	М	ACM/MR	II	AF	6 HOURS	1.5
40	MM	77	F	MR	III	AF	6 HOURS	1.5
46	JM	77	F	СР	III	S	3 HOURS	0.75
59	JG	70	М	IHD/H	III	S	4 HOURS	1.0
63	JB	66	М	IHD	II	S	6 HOURS	1.5
70	AK	63	М	DCM/MR	Ш	S	5 HOURS	1.5

Table 6.4: PATIENT DEMOGRAPHY - ENALAPRILAT 1.5 mg

MEAN	N4.8	1.2
± SD	1.6	0.4

- IHD Ischaemic heart disease
- H Hypertensive heart disease
 H Hypertensive heart disease
 ACM Alcohol related cardiomyopathy
 DCM Dilated cardiomyopathy
 MR Mitral regurgitation
 S Sinus rhythm
 AF Atrial fibrillation

CP - Cor Pulmonale

STUDY NO.	SUBJI INITL	AGE	SEX	AETIOLOGY	NYH CLA	IA CARDIAC SSRHYTHM	DURATION DOS INFUSION (mg)
16	RW	64	М	DCM	III	S	6 HOURS 1
20	AW	84	F	IHD	II	AF	2.5 HOURS 0.42
26	MM	87	F	IHD	III	AF	6 HOURS 1
30	IB	62	F	IHD	III	AF	6 HOURS 1
34	JK	65	М	IHD	П	S	6 HOURS 1
35	HT	68	М	IHD	п	S	5 HOURS 0.83
43	JK	64	М	IHD/H	II	S	6 HOURS 1
45	JL	71	F	СР	III	S	5 HOURS 0.83
47	JM	63	М	IHD/CP	Ш	S	5 HOURS 0.83
52	LMcC	60	F	DCM	III	S	4 HOURS 0.67
65	TD	71	Μ	DCM/IHD	II	S	6 HOURS 1
72	JG	73	М	DCM/IHD/M	RIII	S/FVPC	6 HOURS 1
- File						MEAN ± SD	5.3 0.88 1.1 0.18

Table 6.5:PATIENT DEMOGRAPHY - PERINDOPRILAT 1 mg

- IHD Ischaemic heart disease
- H Hypertensive heart disease ACM Alcohol related cardiomyopathy
- DCM Dilated cardiomyopathy MR Mitral regurgitation S Sinus rhythm
- S -AF -
- Atrial fibrillation
- CP Cor Pulmonale

FVPC - Frequent premature ventricular complexes

drugs were withheld on the day of treatment and until after monitoring was completed at 24 hours.

On the morning of treatment (≈ 0730 hours) two heparinised peripheral venous cannulae were inserted for blood sampling and infusion purposes in contralateral antecubital fossae. The patient then rested undisturbed, semi-supine in bed while baseline blood pressure was recorded semi-automatically at 2 minute intervals for at least 30-60 minutes (Sentron, Bard, Sunderland, U.K.).Infusions (saline placebo, enalaprilat 1.5 mg; perindoprilat 1 mg) were administered double blind in accord a randomisation schedule held by the Department of Pharmacy. All patients received their normal meals throughout the study. They were kept supine from the start of the study till 10 hours after the start of infusion.

The protocol allowed early termination of the infusion under double blind conditions while the observations of blood pressure and sampling strategy continued, on the basis of a blood pressure fall to 70% of the MAP established during the baseline determinations prior to the start of infusion (2 minute recordings over 30-60minutes). This step was included in the protocol in order to limit potentially damaging falls in blood pressure. In addition it allowed us to test whether low dose constant rate infusion of a diacid ACE inhibitor was a readily controllable means of drug administration.

Patients were allowed up after the initial 10 hour observations but were supine for at least 45 minutes prior to sampling and blood pressure measurement at 24 hours. As before following initiation of the infusion blood pressure was recorded supine at 2 minute intervals with supplemental triplicate determinations at set observation points when blood samples were also drawn for the determination of drug concentration, ACE activity and plasma renin activity.

At 24 hours following dosing, blood pressure, drug concentrations, hormones, routine biochemistry and haematology were determined after a period of supine rest.

106

Again treatment coding was then obtained from the pharmacist to allow appropriate further management with an oral ACE inhibitor etc. Patients who had received placebo continued on diuretic withdrawal and received oral captopril 6.25 mg as open therapy and were not subsequently included in any other study group.

6.2.2 RESULTS

A. General

The three randomised parallel groups had comparable demographic profiles in terms of patient age, clinical severity of heart failure (by NYHA grading), pre-treatment diuretic dosage and plasma renin activity. The pre-study laboratory tests of serum electrolytes were similarly equally balanced (Table 6.6). Laboratory indices were not significantly influenced by acute ACE inhibitor with the exception of haemoglobin concentration (Table 6.6). The small fall documented in all three groups was similar (p = 0.930) and is attributable to the blood sampling protocol employed in this and previous studies.

All patients tolerated therapy well and no symptoms were reported. Two patients receiving active therapy (1, perindoprilat; 1, enalaprilat) showed transient elevation of serum urea and creatinine values (at 24 hrs) following therapy indicative of a decline in renal function. This pattern required discontinuation of maintenance oral enalapril (5 mg b.d.s.). Only moderate biochemical changes occurred and these rapidly reversed on discontinuation of oral ACE inhibitor therapy (Figures 6.6 and 6.7). Both patients remained asymptomatic throughout.

B. Haemodynamic effects

The group mean absolute blood pressure and heart rate values prior to therapy are illustrated in Table 6.7. These were not significantly different from each other (p >

 Table 6.6: Comparison of demographic and laboratory parameters for the three

 treatment groups

	PLACEBO	ENALAPRILAT	PERINDOPRILAT	P = (ANOVA)	
Age (yrs)	68 ±6	70±6	69±6	0.822	
PRA (geom mean)	3.9	2.3	2.2	0.681	
Frusemide (mg/day)	110±61	100±41	83±30	0.493	
Na ⁺ (mmol.I ⁻¹)	138.9 ±2 .4	140.6±2.3	140.3±3.9	0.582	
ΔNa^+ (mmol.l ⁻¹)	-0.3±2.6	-0.9±2.8	+0.0±2.7	0.718	
K ⁺ (mmol.l ⁻¹)	4.1±0.6	4.0±0.4	4.3±0.4	0.363	
$\Delta K^+ $ (mmol.l ⁻¹)	0.0±0.6	0.0±0.4	-0.2±0.2	0.604	
Urea (mmol.l ⁻¹)	8.5±5.6	8.2±2.8	8.0±3.3	0.958	
∆Urea (mmol.l ⁻¹)	-1.4±3.8	-0.3±2.1	-1.2±2.0	0.661	
Creatinine (µmol.l ⁻¹)	106.7±14	108.3±27	101.3±24	0.750	
ΔCreatinine (μmol.l ⁻¹)	- 0.6 ±18	8.2±57.9	1.3±13.9	0.836	
Hb (g/dl)	14.4±1.2	13.7±2	13.7±1.9	0.576	
∆Hb (g/dl)	-1.3±0.5	-1.2±0.7	-1.3±0.8	0.004	
NYHA Class (Average Rank)	19	20.5	16 (Kruskal-	0.390 Wallis)	



Figure 6.6: Individual pattern of renal biochemistry in subject JL (study no 45) receiving perindoprilat infusion (1mg over 6hrs) and subsequent oral enalapril (5mg bds).



Figure 6.7: Individual pattern of renal biochemistry in patient JMa (study no 46) receiving enalaprilat infusion (0.75mg over 3hrs) and subsequent oral enalapril (2.5mg bds).

Table 6.7: Absolute starting values (group mean \pm 1SD) in each of the three randomised parallel groups (n=12).

GROUP	HEART RATE (bpm)	SYSTOLIC (mmHg)	DIASTOLIC (mmHg)	MEAN ARTERIAL PRESSURE (mmHg)
Placebo	81.0±13	139.6±18	80.6±13	100.3±13
Enalaprilat	74.3±8	124.5±30	76.9±11	99.1±14
Perindoprila	t 78.5±14	128.4±14	72.1±11	89.1±10

ANOVA, p = NS; Placebo vs Enalaprilat vs Perindoprilat all parameters.

0.05). However, as both active treatment groups tended to have lower starting blood pressures than the placebo and in view of the initial pattern of blood pressure changes results are illustrated as changes from the values established as baseline as in the previous section.

Heart rate

In absolute terms heart rate was significantly less in the enalaprilat group than in **Table 6.6:** Summary of statistical comparisons of demographic and laboratory data between groupsthe placebo group from 40 min - 8 hr (excepting 50 min and 4 hrs) and at 24 hrs. perindoprilat treated group had a lower absolute heart rate than placebo between 6.5 -> 8 hrs and at 3 and 4.5 hrs. There were no significant differences between enalaprilat and perindoprilat. The overall magnitude of the changes was small and comparable to our previous observations with low dose oral enalapril. There were no significant differences between either active group or placebo when the results were corrected to baseline pretreatment values (Figure 6.8).

Blood pressure

No placebo infusions were terminated. In each of the active treatment groups five infusions were terminated prior to the intended completion of dosing at 6 hrs: in the enalaprilat group at 2, 2, 3, 4 and 5 hrs; and in the perindoprilat group at 2.5, 4, 5, 5 and 5 hrs. The mean total dose of enalaprilat was therefore 1.2 ± 0.4 mg and for perindoprilat was 0.88 ± 0.18 mg. The mean responses beyond 2 hrs therefore do not reflect continuing infusion in all cases.

Baseline corrected blood pressure values also revealed an early transient rise in BP in both active treatment groups. This was significantly greater than placebo in the perindoprilat group at the 10 and 20 min time points (Figure 6.9).



Figure 6.8: Mean baseline corrected change in heart rate (±1SD) following intravenous placebo (□), enalaprilat 1.5mg (○) or perindoprilat 1mg (●) in patients with chronic cardiac failure.


Figure 6.9: Mean baseline corrected change in supine systolic blood pressure (±1 SD) following intravenous placebo (□), enalaprilat 1.5mg (●) or perindoprilat 1mg (●) in patients with chronic cardiac failure.

Table 6.8: Individual maximal change from baseline of mean arterial pressure with time

 recorded and duration of infusion in each of the three treatment groups.

Case	MAP (mmH	PLAC Time lg)(hr)	CEBO Infusion (hr)	ENAI MAP (mmH	LAPRII Time Ig)(hr)	LAT Infusion (hr)	PER MAP (mm)	INDOPH Time Hg)(hr)	RILAT Infusion (hr)
1	-4	0.33	6	-15	0.67	6	-9	4	6
2	-16	4.5	6	-23	3.5	6	-29	2.5	2.5
3	-8	6	6	-15	5.5	6	-30	5	5
4	-27	5.5	6	-19	4.5	6	-29	4.5	6
5	-17	4	6	-21	2	2	-47	4.5	2.5
6	-8	0.33	6	-19	2.5	2	-18	2.5	6
7	-10	2	6	-33	6	6	-11	4.5	6
8	-16	4	6	-38	2.5	6	-25	4	6
9	-12	4.5	6	-30	3.5	3	-29	4.5	5
10	-32	5	6	-45	5	4	-23	4.5	4
11	-10	7.5	6	-25	4.5	6	-15	4.5	6
12	-24	0.08	6	-40	4.5	5	-27	6	6

During subsequent infusion blood pressure fell in both active treatment groups (Figure 6.9). This was statistically significant for the enalaprilat group between 1.75 -6.5 hrs (excepting 4 hrs) and for perindoprilat (4hrs) for SBP compared to placebo (Figure 6.9). A similar pattern was observed for DBP in the enalaprilat group (2.5, 3, 3.5, 4.5, 5.5, 7 hr) and the perindoprilat group (5.5 hr) compared to placebo.

The mean maximum recorded fall in SBP from baseline was -27 ± 8 mmHg for placebo, -38.8 ± 11 for enalaprilat and -34.9 ± 12 for perindoprilat (p = 0.046).

The relationship between individual maximal recorded fall in MAP, the corresponding time, and the duration of infusion for all three treatment groups is illustrated in Table 6.8. The maximal mean fall in MAP was -10.4 mmHg at 6 hours during placebo infusion, -22.3 mmHg at 5 hours during enalaprilat infusion and -18.6 mmHg at 4.5 hours during perindoprilat infusion. Early termination of infusion successfully controlled the blood pressure fall. The minimum MAP always followed cessation of treatment by at most 15-30 minutes.

C. Drug concentration data and plasma hormonal responses

Drug concentrations

Drug concentrations of enalaprilat and perindoprilat are illustrated in figure 6.10. They include the data from the infusions discontinued prior to 6 hours. The mean time to peak for enalaprilat concentrations was 4.8 ± 1.6 hr and for perindoprilat was 5.3 ± 1.1 hr and as expected the drug concentrations were in each case maximal at the end of the individual infusions. Both treatments were associated with a sigmoid shaped drug concentration profile during infusion which has previously been reported (Lees et al, 1989). A sigmoid accumulation is apparent during constant rate infusion. This phase, before 2 hours is unaffected by discontinuation of drug infusions (always >2 hours).

			and the second second						
Case	MAP (mmH	PLAC Time (g)(hr)	CEBO Infusion (hr)	ENAL MAP (mmH	APRII Time [g)(hr)	LAT Infusion (hr)	PERI MAP (mmH	NDOPI Time Ig)(hr)	RILAT Infusion (hr)
1	-4	0.33	6	-15	0.67	6	-9	4	6
2	-16	4.5	6	-23	3.5	6	-29	2.5	2.5
3	-8	6	6	-15	5.5	6	-30	5	5
4	-27	5.5	6	-19	4.5	6	-29	4.5	6
5	-17	4	6	-21	2	2	-47	4.5	2.5
6	-8	0.33	6	-19	2.5	2	-18	2.5	6
7	-10	2	6	-33	6	6	-11	4.5	6
8	-16	4	6	-38	2.5	6	-25	4	6
9`	-12	4.5	6	-30	3.5	3	-29	4.5	5
10	-32	5	6	-45	5	4	-23	4.5	4
11	-10	7.5	6	-25	4.5	6	-15	4.5	6
12	-24	0.08	6	-40	4.5	5	-27	6	6

Table 6.8: Individual maximal change from baseline of mean arterial pressure with time

 recorded and duration of infusion in each of the three treatment groups.





Plasma ACE inhibition

The profile of plasma ACE inhibition for both active treatments was similar showing a rapid onset and sustained plateau of inhibition (Figure 6.11). The mean maximal % inhibition of plasma ACE activity was significantly higher (p = 0.004) for the perindoprilat group (91.7±3%) compared to the enalaprilat group (86.5±4%). Mean maximal ACE inhibition across the whole group was achieved at 4.5±1.3 hrs in the perindoprilat group and 5.0±1.2 hrs in the enalaprilat group.

Plasma Renin Activity

Plasma renin activity was significantly elevated by both active treatments compared with placebo (Figure 6.12) and remained elevated after discontinuation of infusion.









6.3.1 ORAL ACE INHIBITION IN CHRONIC HEART FAILURE

This study revealed significant differences in the responses to the recommended low doses of ACE inhibitors in elderly patients with stable heart failure in the commonly employed clinical setting of temporary diuretic withdrawal. The use of a placebo controlled randomised parallel group design in this study has permitted comparisons of drug effects. It is important to evaluate haemodynamic responses in these patients in the light of a placebo treated group to control for diurnal changes and feeding patterns (Packer et al,1985a). A parallel group design was chosen to avoid a carryover effect due to the protracted elimination phase associated with some ACE inhibitors (Belz et al,1988) and to avoid delay in the initiation of active therapy.

The first dose hypotensive response to ACE inhibitors in heart failure has received much attention in case reports and small series (see chapters 3 & 4). The mechanism and significance of the response in clinical practice remains obscure. The relationship of blood pressure fall to previous or concurrent diuretic therapy, the dose or type of ACE inhibitor employed and the importance of a spectrum of individual patient responses is poorly defined. A comparison was made of the degree and pattern of blood pressure response in the group of patients who could be considered to be at greatest risk of developing a hypotensive response. These are elderly, diuretic treated subjects with moderate to severe heart failure.

Despite employing the standard low doses of both captopril and enalapril both these drugs showed falls in blood pressure consistent with previous reports. If, as some workers suggest, the first dose blood pressure response is related to the prevailing activation of the renin angiotensin system, as predicted by circulating renin activity (Packer et al,1985b), it might be suggested that these observations would **underestimate** the general degree of response in the captopril treated group. Nevertheless we

documented predictable and significant supine blood pressure falls regardless of diuretic withdrawal and relatively (but not significantly) lower renin activity in this group. There is limited experience with lower oral doses of captopril e.g. 1 mg (Warren et al,1986) but formulation is compromised by chemical instability (Colucci et al,1989). Patterns of test dosing with captopril have been suggested but the individual relevance of this strategy to subsequent responses to higher doses of the same or different agents has not been documented. However there is some data to suggest that in fact the dose reduction of captopril at least between 6.25mg and 25mg makes little difference to the overall blood pressure response (McClay et al, 1992). The design of this study was far from optimal but this study at least questions the validity of empirical dose reduction without observational and comparative data. The selection of captopril on the empirical basis that if symptomatic hypotension and hypoperfusion were to occur its duration would at least be limited in comparison to longer active drugs dose at least appears logical (Reid, 1987). The observations with respect to the comparison between low dose captopril and enalapril confirm this pattern. In this section treatment with neither captopril nor enalapril caused symptoms or adverse changes in renal biochemistry.

In contrast, low dose perindopril was not associated with any change in blood pressure or heart rate. This was despite comparable plasma ACE inhibition which was if anything more protracted after perindopril than after enalapril. This may therefore reflect an important and clinically relevant agent specific difference in response between ACE inhibitors. The comparison was performed in patients who remained supine in a controlled hospital setting. The ambulatory blood pressure response would be expected to follow a similar pattern.

At the doses selected a similar differential response is observed with respect to heart rate. Altered autonomic tone and baroreceptor reflexes in heart failure patients are well known (Porter et al, 1990) as are the anti-adrenergic or parasympathomimetic

properties of captopril (Campbell et al, 1985), enalapril (Boni et al, 1990) and perindopril (Ajayi et al, 1986). This study was the first occasion in which a small but significant slowing of basal heart rate in the supine posture after low dose enalapril has been demonstrated with an appropriate placebo control group. This effect on heart rate was seen only briefly with captopril and not seen at all with perindopril therapy.

One of the mechanisms proposed to be responsible for the fall in blood pressure in a proportion of heart failure patients treated with ACE inhibitors is activation of the Bezhold-Jarisch reflex with vagally mediated hypotension and bradycardia (Mark,1983). In the current study one patient had a marked fall in blood pressure and associated bradycardia yet remained asymptomatic immediately following dosing with placebo (Figure 6.13). He subsequently tolerated open captopril therapy outwith the study on the following day without complications. His placebo response was **not** excluded from the analysis. This reflex mechanism may be relevant in a few reported cases of hypotension following ACE inhibitors in heart failure patients. The Bezhold-Jarisch reflex clearly has little relevance to specific ACE inhibitors, agent selection or general management policies designed to avoid hypotension in heart failure as it is unpredictable and related neither to dose nor to individual drugs (Mark,1983).

This acute study documented similar plasma ACE inhibition with both enalapril and perindopril yet divergent blood pressure responses. One explanation may involve differences in penetration and interaction with the tissue renin angiotensin systems. With both enalapril and perindopril the net interaction with tissue and plasma ACE will be a product of the parent ester, a weak but lipid soluble ACE inhibitor and the more potent but polar diacid metabolite. The potency ratios and polarity of ester and diacid vary substantially between different compounds despite similar basic structures (see 2.3.1.) and there is limited in vitro evidence that the interaction is significant at least with



Figure 6.13: Individual blood pressure and heart rate profile of patient (study no.27) on double blind placebo therapy.

of each of these components would also be expected to vary and contribute further to potential differences in the pattern of tissue ACE inhibition. In the same fashion the tissue conversion of inactive ester to the active diacid as a local phenomenonmay also play a role in defining differential activity. As chronic therapy involves the attainment of an equilibrium the most likely setting in which potential differences would be apparent would be the first dose response.

The reactive rise in renin or aforementioned problems in documenting ACE inhibition with substrate based assays are unlikely to be relevant to the acute responses described in heart failure patients in this study. In addition they would be inadequate to explain the qualitative difference in blood pressure response between enalapril and perindopril.

The acute haemodynamic responses to ACE inhibitor drugs in patients with chronic heart failure are not markers of symptomatic benefit and conversely smaller blood pressure falls can be associated with benefit (Massie et al,1984). In general terms improvements in exercise duration and symptoms appear to require 6-8 weeks of therapy and alternative mechanisms may be important in reducing mortality (Packer et al,1987). As perindopril has been shown to provide symptomatic improvement in chronic cardiac failure (Bounhoure et al,1989), similar to other ACE inhibitors, the lack of an initial blood pressure fall does not appear to be an indication of a lack of long-term efficacy in heart failure at least with respect to exercise capacity. Reductions in mortality have not been shown with this drug and this may not be pertinent at these low doses. In addition, in acute heart failure oral perindopril is unlikely to share the haemodynamic benefits which have been demonstrated with other ACE inhibitor (Flynn et al,1988).

These results have general relevance since the patient population was not highly selected and since it included primarily the 'high risk' groups of the elderly, diuretic pretreated, severe heart failure patients. Any manoeuvre which reduces the risk of hypotensive responses in these patients may have clinical and possibly resource implications although it has been stated on several occasions that the blood pressure responses per se are of poorly defined importance. The patient population studied, dose and agent employed and the adequate definition of haemodynamic and biochemical responses are important and the accurate descriptions provided in this study gave a hitherto unknown differentiation between similar agents.

6.3.2. INTRAVENOUS ACE INHIBITION IN CHRONIC HEART FAILURE

This section was designed to extend and complement the oral dosing study. The two intravenous diacid ACE inhibitor used produced broadly similar patterns of response when administered in low doses by constant rate infusion. The present intravenous protocol involving double blind discontinuation of therapy dependent on BP response worked well in practice and allowed effective control of the haemodynamic responses in these patients. It is a significant improvement upon bolus dose strategies employed in other studies with much higher doses of enalaprilat (Kubo et al, 1985; de Marco et al, 1987; Hornung and Hillis, 1987; Walinsky et al, 1987; Taylor et al, 1989) or other ACE inhibitors (Rademaker et al, 1986; Dickstein et al, 1987; Volpini et al, 1989; Ahmad et al, 1990). Blood pressure responses were intentionally limited by this manoeuvre and the low doses employed demonstrated in all cases a more or less smooth controlled blood pressure fall. No instance of sudden hypotension and bradycardia (or tachycardia) was noted in any patient receiving active therapy. Individual dose titration and optimisation of the blood pressure response may be valuable early after myocardial infarction (Nabel et al, 1991).

The study demonstrated a hitherto unreported early, transient pressor response to very small quantities of ACE inhibitor under the conditions of study. With the doses selected this was more clearly observed with perindoprilat. The same trend was apparent with enalaprilat but this did not prove statistically significant. The origin of this response is unknown. It occurred after very low doses of drug (25-50 µg perindoprilat) during onset of plasma ACE inhibition. It preceded the onset of a controlled blood pressure fall during continued constant rate infusion. Clearly the response may be spurious and may only reflect the difference between parallel groups of patients. Nonetheless it was clearly evident during the data collection phase. It may reflect a transient partitioning effect on plasma and tissue based ACE and a further example of effects seen at doses of ACE inhibitor too low to affect blood pressure (eg Linz et al, 1992; Motwani & Struthers,1992).

Drug may be inhibiting plasma ACE prior to concentration dependent diffusion into tissue sites. During the lag phase prior to tissue uptake and thus prior to blockade of the RAS in tissue sites excess plasma generated Ang I may transiently mediate a BP rise through conversion by tissue ACE. As diacid concentrations rise this may overcome the molecules' lack of lipid solubility to gain access to tissue ACE sites and so inhibit Ang II mediated vasoconstriction.

This response has not been reported in previous studies. This could largely be because they have not employed the low dose protocol used in the present observations or have involved inadequate controls, infrequent blood pressure monitoring or bolus drug administration. As previous studies have not recorded BP until 30 mins post dosing clearly they would have missed this transient response. Similarly it is unclear if this response is agent related; or a feature only of patients with heart failure. Both drugs tended to show the pattern yet it was significant only after perindoprilat. Tissue ACE levels are known to be increased in heart failure from experimental observations (Hirsch et al, 1991, 1992; Fabris et al, 1990). The total angiotensin II generating activity may not be entirely related to angiotensin converting enzyme or susceptible to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor drugs (Urata et al, 1990). Increased tissue based enzyme

activity, if present in human chronic cardiac failure, may be pertinent to the transient elevation of blood pressure which we have observed.

The clinical use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors has gradually evolved. Lower doses are now favoured yet surprisingly few studies have adequately examined haemodynamic or biochemical effects after these lower doses. The total dose administered and the rate of drug administration probably determine the observed dynamic response. Slow intravenous initiation of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors is potentially useful in patients who may be at risk of excessive falls in blood pressure. Specifically this might be safer in patients with acute heart failure treated with diuretics around the period of myocardial infarction.

6.3.3. INTEGRATED FINDINGS OF HEART FAILURE STUDIES

These studies demonstrate under controlled observation a qualitatively different pattern of BP response between ACE inhibitors of similar chemical structure and metabolism. In the oral study the ester prodrug enalapril, given in low doses (2.5 mg) produced significant and long lasting falls in blood pressure and heart rate whereas perindopril (2 mg) caused no significant change from placebo. These responses were recorded despite comparable plasma ACE inhibition. In a similar randomly assigned group of patients with broadly comparable plasma ACE inhibition, the diacid metabolites of both drugs given alone reduce blood pressure.

The perindoprilat concentrations achieved after intravenous administration were higher than those previously achieved after oral perindopril. The contrasting effects of perindopril and perindoprilat may simply be confounded by differences in effective dose. Alternatively, the hitherto disregarded prodrug ester (perindopril) which appears first in the systemic circulation prior to the generation of significant quantities of the active diacid metabolite (perindoprilat) may influence the blood pressure response to perindopril. After oral treatment with perindopril it may be that the lipophilic ester, with its weak angiotensin converting enzyme inhibiting properties, may undergo rapid tissue distribution and interaction with the tissue based angiotensin generating system. From in vitro work it appears that perindopril, the parent compound, may reduce inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme by perindoprilat, the metabolite (Harrigan et al, 1989). Any interaction between the parent compound and metabolite would be seen primarily after the initial dose, it would be expected to be dose and concentration dependent, and it could produce effects which would vary among tissues dependent on the distribution of each element to different sites.

In general terms the clinical pharmacology of ACE inhibitors in a variety of settings has been plagued by a lack of information about the lower end of the dose response curve. It was a specific aim of this series of studies to address this issue and it has allowed differential and hitherto unreported responses to be demonstrated.

CHAPTER 7

STUDIES OF ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME INHIBITION IN NORMAL AND PATIENT VOLUNTEERS 7.1 TRANSPULMONARY PHARMACOKINETICS OF PERINDOPRILAT IN MAN.

The pulmonary circulation has traditionally been associated with the generation of angiotensin II from angiotensin I by the action of ACE. For many years it was felt that circulating AII was the product of pulmonary ACE activity and that this was in turn a major endocrine function of the lungs (Ng and Vane, 1968; Said, 1982).

In theory uptake of drug to tissue sites should alter the plasma concentration time profile of ACE inhibitors. Non linear pharmacokinetic models are known to describe ACE inhibitor disposition better than conventional techniques (Francis et al, 1987; Lees et al, 1989). Parameters describing such a profile for an ACE inhibitor could indirectly give an index of tissue ACE activity and inhibition.

This study was designed to examine the transpulmonary extraction of the intravenous diacid ACE inhibitor perindoprilat (see Chapter 2). As the pulmonary circulation is theoretically a rich source of ACE activity this central site might be expected to provide a good definition of tissue uptake and altered pharmacokinetic profile of an ACE inhibitor.

7.1.1. PATIENTS AND METHODS

A. Patients

The study was conducted in an open design in ten male patients undergoing diagnostic cardiac catheterisation for the investigation of chest pain. The demographic details of the study population are given in Table 7.1. All patients had stable clinical

STUDY (DATE)	AGE YEAR	WEIGHT SKg	CARDIAC HISTORY	MEDICATION	VENTRICULOGRAPHY	ANGIOGRAPHY	OUTCOME
1 (6/3/89)	43	60	IHD Post infarct 1983	Atenolol 50mg ISMN 20mg bds	Inferior hypokinesia	RCA stenosis	Angioplasty
2 (14/3/89)	58	67	IHD Post infarct 1986	Atenolol 50mg ISMN 20mg bds Diltiazem 60mg t	Anterior hypokinesia ds	Distal LAD disease	Medical therapy
3 (23/3/89)	53	85	IHD Post infarct 1978	Aspirin 150mg Atenolol 100mg Diltiazem 60mg t Aspirin 300mg	Normal ds	Diffuse CAD Occluded RCA Proximal & distal	Coronary artery bypass grafting
4 (18/4/89)	42	99	IHD Post infarct 1986	Diltiazem 60mg t ISMN 20mg bds	ds Anterior hypokinesia	LCA stenoses Proximal LAD	Medical therapy after -ve thallium scintioraphy
(25/4/89)	63	86	IHD Post infarct 1982	Atenolol 50mg Diltiazem 60mg t	Inferior hypokinesia ds	Occluded RCA LAD & 1st disconal standors	Coronary artery bypass grafting
6 (2/5/89)			IHD ? infarct 1985	Atenolol 100mg Nifedipine Retard Betahistine 8mg t	Anterior hypokincsia 1 10mg bds tds	Severe proximal LAD & obtuse marginal	Angioplasty
7	39	105	Atypical chest pain	GTN pm	Normal	Normal	Further investigation
(2012) 8 (0013/02)	48	85	Atypical chest pain	"Franol" prn	Normal	Normal	Further investigation
6	42	85	Atypical chest pain	Cimeditine Anome moste	Normal	Normal	? AV node dysfunction
(11/1/89)	92	75	IHD Post infarct 1966	ISMN 20mg buck ISMN 20mg bds Diltiazem 60mg t GTN prn Ranitidine 150mg	Normal ds 5 bds	Occluded LAD	Angioplasty filling from (R) 70-90% RCA lesion diffuse disease

Table 7.1: Demographic characteristics and concomitant therapy of the study population.

Patients were selected such that they had no clinical, biochemical nor radiological evidence of cardiac failure and had not received diuretic therapy in the 2 months prior to study.

B. Procedure

All patients underwent routine diagnostic left ventriculography and coronary arteriography by the Judkins technique using non ionic contrast media (Iopamidol; Niopam 370, Merck U.K.) between 1030 and 1230 hours. After completion of this procedure a Cournand catheter was placed in the central venous circulation also by a femoral approach. Right heart pressures through to the pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, and the on-line pressure from the descending aorta, were recorded at baseline and the right heart catheter was then withdrawn to the main pulmonary artery for continuous pressure measurement and blood sampling. Aortic pressures were recorded throughout. A peripheral vein on the dorsum of the hand was cannulated for drug infusion. The surface electrocardiogram was monitored throughout the study. Immediately prior to infusion the infusate was prepared in sterile saline to contain 1 mg perindoprilat, 0.5 mg/kg indocyanine green and 10 ml purified plasma protein solution in a total volume of 20 ml which was infused at a constant rate of 100 μ l/min over 20 minutes. A Braun perfusor pump (Perfusor Secura E, Braun, Melsungen, FRG) was used with the infusate primed and running for 2-5 minutes prior to connection to the patient at the start of the infusion. The co-infusion of indocyanine green was employed as a marker for the intravascular space and transpulmonary transit analogous to previous animal experiments employing multiple indicator dilution (Linehan et al, 1985). The concentration of 0.5 mg/kg is known to be eliminated in an approximately linear fashion (Meijer et al, 1988). During the infusion (20 mins) and for the first 40 mins thereafter (i.e. total 1 hr) simultaneous right and left heart blood samples (5 ml) were drawn from

the appropriate catheters after removal of the dead space volume. Sampling was conducted at frequent intervals during the initial accumulation phase of the infusion (30 second intervals for 5 minutes) and during the early elimination phase after completion of the infusion (1 minute intervals for 5 minutes). The infusion was stopped exactly at 20 minutes and the intravenous line disconnected but not flushed. Transpulmonary sampling was continued for a period of 1 hour after which the central catheters and peripheral infusion cannula were removed. Later phases of drug elimination were monitored by samples withdrawn from a separate peripheral venous cannula up to 20 hours post commencement of the infusion. All patients remained supine for the full duration of the study and were monitored overnight in the cardiac investigation unit according to local practice.

C. Additional Biochemical methods

Indocyanine green was quantified after dilution of the plasma with 0.1% bovine serum albumin using standard photometric assay at 805 nm (Bjornsson et al, 1982; Svensson et al, 1982). The infusate formulation was shown to be stable in vitro for both perindoprilat and ICG at room temperature over 2 hours. There was no interference between the angiography dye and any of exogenous drug, ACE, plasma renin activity or ICG added to control plasma *in vitro*.

D. Pharmacokinetic analysis

To aid the interpretation of the accumulation profiles where multiple samples had been collected at close time intervals, and where assay variability therefore often exceeded the increment in drug concentration for pairs of samples, the raw data were subjected to mathematical smoothing before further statistical analysis. This was undertaken simply by substituting each concentration result with the mean of the reference concentration and the preceding and subsequent ones (Three point running mean technique, see Velleman, 1980). The concentrations reflecting the start and end of the infusion were not adjusted.

The circulatory delay was calculated from comparison of the early, linear portions of the ICG accumulation data from the right heart samples with those from the left heart samples by applying linear regression of time upon ICG concentrations: the difference in Y intercept was taken to represent circulatory delay. A similar approach was used to assess apparent circulatory delay for the ACE inhibitor. Results are expressed as the mean of the individual circulatory delays for the 9 subjects with complete ICG data.

Pharmacokinetic modelling was conducted on raw concentration data. A hierarchy of standard multi-exponential pharmacokinetic models (1- to 3-compartment open, zero order input) and three modified 1-compartment open models (incorporating non linear tissue binding parameters, non linear plasma binding parameters or non linear tissue and plasma binding parameters) were fitted to the data (see Section 7.2 for further details). This was conducted by least squares non linear regression analysis using the biomedical statistics package BMD and the derivative-free option PAR (Ralston et al, 1979) on an ICL 3980 series mainframe computer (University of Glasgow Central Computing Service). The derivation and application of these models had previously been described (Lees et al, 1989). The concentration time profiles employed were a combination of the right heart sampling concentrations during the transpulmonary catheterisation phase and the subsequent peripheral venous samples from 1 - 20 hours. Where appropriate, model comparisons were based on the use of the general linear test (F-ratio test) (Neter and Wasserman, 1974) and the Schwarz criterion (Schwarz, 1989).

A. Haemodynamic effects

There were no appreciable change in central or systemic cardiac pressures either during or up to one hour from the onset of the infusion (Figure 7.1).

B. Drug concentration and ICG profiles

The mean profile of plasma drug accumulation during transpulmonary catheterisation is illustrated in Figure 7.2. The ACE inhibitor did not approach steady state during the infusion. The small early gradient in perindoprilat concentrations between right and left heart samples is equivalent to a mean circulatory delay of 25 seconds, and is exactly mirrored by the control substance ICG (Figure 7.3) from which a mean circulatory delay of 25 seconds was calculated. Thereafter, ICG shows rapid accumulation towards steady state and then rapidly declines on cessation of the infusion, reflecting the known short half-life of this compound. The full pattern of drug elimination employing right heart samples followed by peripheral venous samples is shown in Figure 7.4. There was no evidence during the early post-infusion period of any relative increase in left heart concentrations compared with those from the right heart, to reflect dissociation of drug from pulmonary binding sites.

C. Plasma ACE activity

ACE activity in circulating plasma from both pre-pulmonary and post-pulmonary sampling shows virtually complete inhibition of ACE within 90 seconds of starting infusion (Figure 7.5). There was little evidence for either a transpulmonary gradient in ACE activity or reduction in post-pulmonary ACE after discontinuation of infusion. Marked and persistent ACE inhibition was noted during the later period of monitoring with substantial inhibition of ACE activity remaining at 20 hours after the start of the infusion.





; diastolic, \checkmark) and main pulmonary artery (systolic, \triangle

; diastolic, ∇) with mean heart rate (\Box) during transpulmonary catheterisation (1 hour) and infusion of perindoprilat (1 mg, 20 mins).



Figure 7.2 Accumulation concentration time profile (mean ± 1 SD, n=10) of perindoprilat in simultaneous plasma samples from right (O) and left (\bullet) heart catheters during constant rate infusion (1 mg, 20 mins).



Figure 7.3: Mean concentration time profile (n=10) of indocyanine green in right (O) and left (•) heart catheters expressed as absorbance during infusion (0.5 mg/kg, 20 mins) and elimination.



Figure 7.4: Drug elimination profile (mean ± 1 SD, n=10) in right heart plasma (\bigcirc) and peripheral venous plasma (\bigcirc)



Figure 7.5: Mean ACE activity (± 1 SD,n=10) in right (\odot) and left (\bullet) heart plasma and peripheral venous plasma (\blacksquare) during and following perindoprilat infusion.

D. Plasma Renin activity

Plasma renin activity determined from samples from the post-pulmonary circulation during transpulmonary catheterisation and subsequent peripheral venous sampling showed low basal levels prior to infusion and a delayed rise with a wide variation between individual patients (Figure 7.6).

E. Pharmacokinetic Modelling

The plasma concentration time profiles of perindoprilat were fitted simultaneously for all data sets. It did not prove possible to fit all data sets using a conventional 3 compartment linear model nor the non linear binding models which included terms for solely tissue binding or combined tissue and plasma binding. These were therefore rejected. Of the conventional models a 2 compartment zero order model provided a better fit for the observed data than 1 compartment as shown by the reduction in weighted residual sum of squares, F ratio and calculated Schwarz criterion (Table 7.2). This was not significantly improved by using a non linear binding model incorporating plasma binding terms.

It was clear from observing individual cases that the non-linear models did prove a much closer approximation to the observed data as had been previously observed (Lees et al,1989).



Figure 7.6: Mean supine plasma renin activity (± 1 SD, n=10) before and following perindoprilat infusion (1 mg, 20 mins).

	WEI	GHTED SQUA	RESID RES N	UAL SUMS IODEL	SCHW	ARZ (MODI	CRITERION EL
SUBJI	ECT	А	В	E	А	В	Е
	1	101.5	78.9	79.7	146.7	142.3	142.6
	2	146.8	56.5	57.6	178.1	148.3	149.0
	3	44.4	26.7	26.5	136.3	122.0	121.8
	4	91.8	91.8	70.8	161.7	165.3	156.3
	5	105.7	35.3	34.7	166.6	131.8	131.3
	6	111.1	50.9	51.1	168.4	144.7	144.8
•	7	71.6	31.7	31.7	153.0	128.0	128.1
	8	53.0	41.9	41.9	142.5	137.9	137.9
	9	56.5	23.0	22.7	144.7	116.9	116.4
	10	99.3	95.7	95.5	164.5	166.8	166.7

Table 7.2: Characterisation of concentration time profiles of perindoprilat (right heart and peripheral venous plasma) by a hierarchy of pharmacokinetic models.

> RANK SUM 27 18 15 FREIDMAN __NS___NS___ ____P<0.05_____ (ANOVA)

A = One compartment open, zero order input
B = Two compartment open, zero order input
E = One compartment open, zero order input, non-linear plasma binding.

7.2 PERINDOPRILAT INFUSION STUDIES IN SALT REPLETE MAN.

The intravenous route of administration has been proposed for use of ACE inhibiton in the management of acute heart failure (Flynn et al, 1988; Ahmad et al, 1990), the treatment of accelerated hypertension (Rutledge et al, 1988; Savi et al, 1990) and after acute myocardial infarction (Taylor et al, 1989; Nabel et al, 1991). Detailed experience with the intravenous route of administration is limited.

In this section it was sought to further test the observation that the pharmacokinetic disposition of ACE inhibitors may be influenced by specific and saturable binding to plasma ACE (Francis et al, 1987) and/or tissue ACE (Lees et al, 1989). From pharmacokinetic descriptions the contribution of tissue ACE to the haemodynamic effects of ACE inhibition in man might be achieved by indirect means. Specifically the lower end of the dose response relationship was of interest in keeping with the work in heart failure patients recieving low doses and other clinical populations eg peri-myocardial infarction where these might be relevant.

In the present study protracted low dose constant rate infusion schedules were employed in order to provide precise pharmacokinetic definition and also, despite the low likeliehood of significant response, from the standpoint of a basis for controlled dose titration and response (see section 6.2).

7.2.1. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

A. Design

A four-way, single-blind (subjects), crossover study was conducted in 8 normotensive male subjects. The subjects were randomised to receive a 3 hour infusion of saline placebo, or perindoprilat 1 mg by constant rate intravenous infusion over 1 hour, 3 hours or 6 hours. All subjects received all four treatments on separate occasions at least 10 days apart.

B. Subjects

Eight healthy men (age 19-40 years; weight 65 - 89 kg) participated in a single blind, random treatment order study after screening by clinical history and physical examination, routine urinalysis, ECG, laboratory biochemistry and haematology (including serum ferritin).

C. Procedure

All subjects were free from concomitant medication for the duration of the study and followed their normal diet. No smoking or alcohol consumption was allowed for 12 hours before or during each of the four study days, which were conducted at least 10 days apart and commenced at around 0700 hour after a light breakfast at home. A single (subject) blinded randomised treatment design was employed whereby subjects received intravenous perindoprilat (1 mg in 30 ml normal saline) over 1, 3 or 6 hour or saline placebo (30 ml over 3 hour) via a peripheral venous cannula on the dorsum of the hand. A further heparinised cannula was inserted in an opposite antecubital vein for blood sampling purposes. The subjects were cannulated and rested supine for at least 30 minutes prior to commencing the study. Infusions were administered using a calibrated constant rate infusion pump (Braun Secura E; Melsungen, Germany) which was set up and running for at least 5 mins prior to being attached to the subject's cannula. At the end of the infusion the pump was switched off. The cannula remained attached and was removed at 6 hours without flushing. The subjects were unaware as to the significance of infusion duration and did not know that the placebo infusion would be 3 hours. A light snack was provided at 5 hour and 10 hour (no tea or coffee allowed). Blood pressure (BP) and heart rate were recorded supine and erect before and at frequent

intervals during the infusion and subsequently. Due to the sampling frequency no erect BP recordings were obtained for the 1 hour infusion. All values were recorded in triplicate.

Peripheral venous blood samples were drawn for the determination of plasma concentrations of perindoprilat and ACE activity. During the 1 hour infusion these were drawn at 0, 5, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 65, 70, 80, 90, 100, 110 min and 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 24, 32, 48 and 56 hour; during the 3 hour infusions (including placebo) at 0, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 3.25, 3.5, 4, 4.5, 5, 5.5, 6, 8, 10, 24, 32, 48 and 56 hour; during the 6 hour infusions at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 6.5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16, 24, 32, 48 and 56 hour. On each study day supine plasma renin activity was determined at 0 hour, at the end of the infusion, at the end of the study day and at 24 hours post study.

7.2.2. SPECIFIC DATA ANALYSIS

A. Blood pressure data

The timing of blood samples and blood pressure measurements was related to the duration of the infusion for each study day. For the purposes of comparison of blood pressure responses, only the common times of blood pressure recording were used. These were 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 24 hours from the commencement of the infusions. Mean data of triplicate values for these time points were compared using repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni correction (see Chapter 5). In an effort to generate a response record employing all available blood pressure time points each individual blood pressure record was subjected to a simple non-linear data smoothing technique (Velleman, 1980). Each subject then provided "smoothed" common time point blood pressure values which were again compared using repeated measures ANOVA for each phase as above. The blood pressure responses were further described by baseline corrected responses and by deriving the maximum fall

in systolic pressures for each individual during each phase. These were also compared using ANOVA.

B. Pharmacokinetic modelling

The concentration time profiles of perindoprilat using the different duration of infusions were characterised using a hierarchy of standard compartmental models and non-linear saturable binding models similar to those used in previous work whose derivation and validation has been described in detail (Lees et al, 1989). Briefly a range of multiexponential compartmental models (1 compartment (A), 2 compartment (B) and 3 compartment (C)) were fitted to the data using derivative-free, least squares, non-linear regression with the statistics package BMD-PAR on an ICL 3980 mainframe computer. Similarly, simple kinetic models (ie. one compartment, zero order input) with extra parameters to describe non linear, saturable tissue binding (D), plasma binding (E) or combined tissue and plasma binding (F), all with one compartment zero order input assumed, were fitted to the observed data. If a given model was unable to fit all data sets simultaneously then this led to rejection of that model. The "goodness of fit" of models for the observed data was compared using the general linear test and calculated Schwarz criterion where appropriate. This assess the statistical fit of the observed to predicted data for a range of model systems in the form of a comparative summary statistic. The calculation of the parameters derived from these models has been discussed elsewhere (Lees et al, 1989).

7.2.3. RESULTS

A: Haemodynamic Effects

The blood pressure response to intravenous infusion of perindoprilat is illustrated in Figure 7.7. During all treatments a rise in both supine and erect BP was seen between 5 and 7 hours after starting infusions which corresponded to the subjects' meal time. Supine systolic blood pressure fell with active infusions compared to the placebo control (Figure 7.7a). A similar pattern was observed with diastolic pressure. Similar changes were observed with erect blood pressures during the placebo, 3 hour and 6 hour active infusions (see Figure 7.7b). Statistically significant changes were seen between placebo and 6 hour infusion at the 6 and 10 hour time points. Smoothed erect systolic blood pressure falls with 6 hour infusions of perindoprilat were significantly greater than control between 3 and 6 hour after starting the infusion (see Figure 7.7c). There was no significant change in supine or erect heart rate compared to placebo.

B. Drug concentration profile

The observed drug accumulation and elimination profiles are illustrated in Figure 7.8. All three rates of infusion, but 3 and 6 hour infusions in particular, show a sigmoid accumulation profile with delay in the early accumulation of the measured drug in plasma. The observed mean maximal plasma concentrations of perindoprilat reflected the rate of infusion (1 hour 51.5 ± 11.4 ng/ml; 3 hour 30.4 ± 8.4 ng/ml; 6 hour 19.0 ±4.0 ng/ml) and were all significantly different from each other (p = 0.013, ANOVA).

C. Plasma ACE inhibition

Plasma ACE activity was rapidly inhibited by a 1 hour infusion of perindoprilat but less rapidly by a 3 or 6 hour infusion (Figure 7.9). The mean maximal observed inhibition was less with the slower rates of infusion (1 hour, $95.7\pm0.5\%$ versus 3 hour, $92.3\pm2.7\%$ and 6 hour, $87.4\pm5.1\%$; p = 0.013). After 48 hours there was no significant difference in ACE activity from placebo with any active infusion.


Figure 7.7: The effect of constant rate perindoprilat infusion (1 mg) over $1 (\blacksquare)$, 3 (\blacktriangle) or 6 ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) hours or placebo (\bigtriangleup) over 3 hours on

(a) baseline corrected supine systolic pressure

(b) baseline corrected erect systolic pressure

or (c) smoothed erect systolic pressure (mean ± 1 SD, n=8)

(* = p < 0.05 vrs placebo).



Figure 7.8: Concentration time profiles (mean ± 1 SD, n=8) following constant rate intravenous infusion of perindoprilat (1 mg) over 1 (**a**), 3 (**a**) or 6 hours (**o**).



Figure 7.9: Plasma ACE activity (mean ± 1 SD, n=8) following placebo (\triangle) or perindoprilat (1 mg) by intravenous infusion over 1 hour (**n**), 3 hours (**A**) or 6 hours (**O**).

D. Plasma renin activity

There appeared to be a greater reactive rise in plasma renin with the 6 hour infusion protocol (mean change in PRA, 2.4 ng AI/ml/hr) than that seen in response to 1 hour (0.5 ng AI/ml/hr) or 3 hour (1.8 ng AI/ml/hr) infusions of perindoprilat (see Figure 7.10), but these changes were not statistically significant (p = 0.14). Due to the small number of samples and different time points studied it is not possible to interpret the different profiles formally in greater detail.

E. Pharmacokinetic analysis

The pharmacokinetic data from the 1 hour infusion studies supported only a simple one compartment model. In contrast the 3 and 6 hour infusion studies were clearly better described by the models employing saturable non linear binding (p < 0.0001).

The best description of observed data was given by a model (F) incorporating elements to describe both tissue and plasma binding of the drug. The derived parameter estimates had acceptable coefficients of variation in most cases (Table 7.3). The mean (SD) volume of distribution for free drug was 12.1 (7.0) litres, with k_{el} for free drug of 1.24 h⁻¹ (1.18). The mean estimated capacity of total binding sites for perindoprilat was 313 ng (211). Only 7.1 ng (3.9) of free drug (i.e. 163 ng in total) were estimated to produce 50% saturation of all binding sites. Ninety-one percent (7) of all binding sites appeared to be located in tissue compared to plasma.



Figure 7.10: The effect of constant rate perindoprilat infusion (1 mg) over 1 (■),
3 (▲) or 6 (●) or placebo (△) over 3 hours on plasma renin activity (mean ± 1SD, n=8).

Table 7.3: Parameter estimates with coefficients of variation for model F, one compartment, open, zero order input non linear tissue and plasma binding, applied to 6 hour infusion profiles.

Subject	k _{el}	CV(9	%) V _d	CV(%	6) B _{ma}	x CV(%)A _{u50}	CV(%) F	CV(%)
1	0.66	10	12.2	9	179	12	4.3	38	0.87	3
2	4.09	123	2.7	100	789	7	2.5	90	1.00	1
3	1.3	37	5.8	39	381	16	13.6	26	0.99	1
4	0.82	8	9.9	8	147	9	4.9	28	0.89	2
5	0.92	16	10.5	16	241	13	9.5	27	0.94	2
6	0.50	13	23.6	13	201	17	4.5	68	0.89	4
7`	1.1	30	11.4	30	371	14	11.1	26	0.95	2
8	0.6	16	21.0	14	191	20	6.4	49	0.78	7
Mean SD	1.24 1.18		12.1 7.0		313 211		7.1 3.9		0.91 0.07	

7.3 ACE INHIBITION IN SALT DEPLETE MAN: ORAL ENALAPRIL IN A MODEL OF THE ACTIVATED RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM.

To undertake the appropriately controlled and detailed studies of the response to blockade of the renin angiotensin system in patients with heart failure presents practical problems with concomitant medication, drug withdrawal, crossover designs and a variety of uncontrolled disease based factors which might influence response. The principal aim of this section was to establish a simple and reproducible human model suitable for detailed assessment of the responses to blockade of the renin angiotensin system and for differentiating drug effects. In the first instance the blood pressure and neurohormonal responses to low oral doses of enalapril were studied in young normotensive males in whom the renin angiotensin system had been acutely activated by a short programme of sodium depletion based on moderate dietary restriction and diuretic treatment.

7.3.1. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Eight normotensive male volunteers $(25.6\pm4.6 \text{ yrs}; 70.5\pm6.1 \text{ kg})$ gave written consent for their participation in the study following confirmation of health by clinical history, physical examination, biochemical and haematological screen, 24 hour urinary sodium excretion (100-200 mmol) and electrocardiogram.

Salt depletion was implemented for three days prior to each of two study days. Volunteers were provided with all meals for a diet containing 40 mmol sodium per day. Dietary instruction by a qualified dietitian, and an accompanying diet sheet, defined allowed or disallowed supplemental foods. Fluid intake was encouraged but alcohol prohibited. Subjects continued on the dietary sodium restriction during the study day and until the return visit at 24 hrs following drug administration. During the three day pretreatment schedule the subjects took frusemide 40 mg (Antigen Pharmaceuticals, UK), twice daily at 0800 hr and 1200 hrs. The last dose of diuretic was therefore administered approximately 20 hours before drug administration. Following instructions on technique, 24 hour urinary collections were performed at the screening visit, for the 24 hours preceding each of the two study days (day 3) and the 24 hours of each study day (day 4).

Volunteers attended the Clinical Pharmacology Research Unit (CPRU) after an overnight fast (10 hrs) on two separate occasions, 14 days apart, to receive enalapril 5 mg (Innovace, MSD, Hoddeson, UK) or placebo (vitamin C 50 mg, APS Pharma UK in an opaque gelatin capsule). Treatments were administered in a randomised, double blind, crossover design prepared by the Department of Pharmacy.

On attendance (0800 hr) subjects rested supine for at least 30 minutes following placement of a heparinised venous cannula in an antecubital vein for the purposes of blood sampling. Basal blood samples and blood pressure readings were collected supine prior to measurement of erect blood pressure and heart rate and bladder voiding. Blood pressure and heart rate were determined in triplicate using a semiautomatic device (Datascope Acutorr 3A, Paramus, New Jersey) at frequent intervals during the study day. Blood samples were drawn at intervals for the determination of serum drug concentration, serum electrolytes, plasma ACE activity and plasma renin activity. All subjects had been supine for at least 50 minutes prior to blood sampling for renin activity. Drugs were administered with 200 ml of fluid (0 hr), a further 200 ml was given with a light breakfast (2 hr), 400 ml with lunch (4 hr) and 200 ml with an evening snack (9 hr).

Serum and urinary electrolytes were determined using a routine autoanalyser by the hospital biochemistry laboratory.

7.3.2. RESULTS

A. Salt depletion

In general, the salt depletion regimen was well tolerated and no spontaneous symptoms were reported. Urinary volume was significantly increased on the third day (pre-study day), in comparison with the screening day, and this was associated with significant falls in urinary sodium excretion (Table 7.4). There was a non-significant trend towards a rise in urinary potassium excretion but urea and creatinine excretion were unchanged. Urine volumes were significantly lower during the two study days with a significantly greater degree of sodium loss following enalapril. Potassium excretion was not significantly altered but showed a trend to reduction following enalapril.

Salt depletion was associated with significant reductions in serum sodium $(142.5\pm1.0 \text{ at screening}, 138.9\pm0.8 \text{ and } 139.6\pm1.3 \text{ mmol.l}^{-1} \text{ at baseline on the 2 study} days)$ and in serum potassium $(4.2\pm0.3 \text{ on screening}, 3.8\pm0.2 \text{ and } 3.7\pm0.2 \text{ mmol.l}^{-1} \text{ at baseline on the 2 study days})$. Changes in serum electrolytes during the study day are illustrated in Figure 7.11.

Screening blood pressure was reduced from $124/69\pm8/7$ supine and $125/77\pm12/6$ mmHg to $115/69\pm8/7$ and $108/65\pm9/6$ supine and $113/67\pm5/9$ and $113/67\pm12/9$ mmHg at baseline on the 2 study days.

B. Enalapril v placebo

Because supine blood pressure was slightly higher at baseline on the enalapril study day responses were individually corrected to the pretreatment (baseline) values on each study day. Baseline corrected changes in blood pressure are illustrated in Figure 7.12. Enalapril caused a mean maximal fall in supine systolic blood pressure of 18.9 ± 7.6 mmHg at about 5 hours post dose, compared to 6.5 ± 6.8 mmHg following placebo.

Similarly, enalapril caused a significantly greater fall in erect systolic blood

Table 7.4: Effect of salt depletion regimen and study treatments (placebo or enalapril 5 mg po) on urinary volume and electrolyte composition comparing screening baseline with day 3 of salt depletion and the treatment study day (day 4).

	Volume	Sodium	Potassium	Chloride	Urea	Creatinine
	(ml)	mmol/vol	mmol/vol	mmol/vol	mmol/vol	mmol/vol
Baseline	1279	189	72	150	429	19
	±106	± 69	±16	±17	±106	±4
Prestudy(d3)	1714	98	87	103	375	17
(Placebo)	±628	±39	±12	±35	±91	+2
Prestudy(d3)	2101	97	91	101	446	20
(Enalapril)	±1336	±20	±14	±27	±57	±7
Placebo(d4)	1148	11	71	10	384	15
	±319	±6	±11	±7	±63	±2
Enalapril(d4)	1003	25	59	21	435	15
	±284	±7	±15	±14	±56	±2



Figure 7.11: Changes in serum (a) sodium, (b) potassium,(c) urea, (d) creatinine (mean ± 1 SD) from baseline, salt replete (screening) values and during the study day (O) placebo, (\bullet) enalapril.



Figure 7.12: Baseline corrected changes (mean \pm 1SD) in (a) supine and (b) erect blood pressures and heart rate following oral placebo (\bigcirc) or enalapril (\bullet).

rate was not significantly altered by either therapy but showed a tendency to rise during the latter part of the study day (following lunch).

C. Drug concentrations, ACE inhibition and plasma renin activity

Drug concentrations of enalapril and enalaprilat and plasma ACE inhibition are shown in Figure 7.13. The peak plasma enalapril concentration of 50 ± 20.8 ng/ml was observed at 1.25 ± 0.25 hours but the maximum concentrations of enalaprilat were not attained until 4-6 hours post dose. Near maximal plasma ACE inhibition was observed after about 2 hours and maximum inhibition of $78\pm5.7\%$ occurred at 5.2 ± 1.2 hrs.

Supine plasma renin activity was significantly elevated at baseline on each study day (6.0 \pm 3.2 on the placebo day and 5.2 \pm 2.1 ngAI.ml.hr⁻¹ on the enalapril day) compared to salt replete pretreatment screening values (0.9 \pm 0.5 ngAI.ml.hr⁻¹). The profile of plasma renin activity showed a rise following enalapril but also during placebo therapy following food (Figure 7.14).



Figure 7.13: Drug concentration time profiles (mean \pm 1SD) of enalapril (\bigcirc) and enalaprilat (\bigcirc) and plasma ACE activity.





7.4 DISCUSSION

7.4.1 TRANSPULMONARY ACE INHIBITOR INFUSION

This study represents the first description of the transpulmonary pharmacokinetics of an ACE inhibitor in man.

Pulmonary ACE activity and the effects of ACE inhibitors on the enzyme at this site have been studied *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and in a limited number of *in vivo* animal experiments. The structure of the enzyme in pulmonary homogenates is suggested to be only marginally different from the circulating "soluble" enzyme and it has been suggested that the pulmonary circulation may be the source of circulating ACE activity (Das and Soffer, 1988). The enzyme has been localised on the vascular endothelium of the lung, in common with that found in a range of organs (Ryan et al, 1980, 1985), and has particular functions in the response to pulmonary hypoxia (Pitt et al, 1987; Oliver et al, 1989) or to chemical injury (Hollinger et al, 1980; Kelley, 1988). It is known to be present in association with alveolar macrophages (Friedland et al, 1977). In addition to its role as an exopeptidase contributing to localised AII generation, ACE has less clearly defined endopeptidase functions (Re and Rovigatti, 1988).

Studies in animals have shown temporal dissociation of plasma and pulmonary tissue ACE inhibition from the hypotensive response to ACE inhibition. It has been suggested that tissue ACE inhibition better describes the pattern of this response than the inhibition of ACE from a plasma sample (Cohen and Kurz, 1982; Chevillard et al, 1989; Kamei et al, 1989).

Previous animal work by Gillis and colleagues in rabbits had successfully defined pulmonary tissue ACE and its inhibition by captopril by employing single pass pharmacokinetic studies of the bolus injection of the synthetic ACE substrate, benzoylphenylalanyl-alanyl proline (BPAP) with the co-infusion of the intravascular marker dye ICG (Howell et al, 1984; Chen et al, 1984; Moalli et al, 1985; Linehan et al, 1985). As the structure and function of ACE is likely to differ between species (Takada et al, 1982; Ibarra-Rubio et al, 1989) there has been difficulty defining the qualitative or quantitative aspects of tissue ACE inhibition in man. The relative importance of tissue ACE in generating the pharmacodynamic responses to ACE inhibitors in normal volunteers or patients remains difficult to assess. The use of a pharmacokinetic model to describe the concentration time profile of an ACE inhibitor may be a viable technique and this was studied in this and the subsequent section. This model incorporates elements describing a saturable competitive binding process to both plasma and tissue ACE (Lees et al, 1989)

Along similar lines to the studies of Gillis and colleagues in rabbits, this study was designed to use the pharmacokinetic profile of an ACE inhibitor in an attempt to mark tissue uptake, with the co-infusion of ICG to standardise for transpulmonary flow.

This study was conducted in a patient population who required central cardiac catheterisation as part of their on-going medical investigation. Both the dose and rate of infusion were chosen on the basis of previous studies in normal volunteers (Lees and Reid, 1987). The regimen was chosen to minimise the risk of adverse effects in a population with stable ischaemic heart disease and, as expected, the haemodynamic effects of infusion were minimal despite the presence of concomitant therapy in the population studied. Blood pressure data were collected primarily for reasons of safety and to exclude flow changes as a confounding variable in pharmacokinetic profile.

Care was taken in the study to eliminate errors due to inadequate pump priming by ensuring infusion prior to attachment to the peripheral venous cannulae. Furthermore, as ICG is known to aggregate in concentrated solution (Bjornsson et al, 1982) the infusate was prepared containing plasma protein solution to distribute the dye which was prepared along with the drug 5 - 10 minutes prior to commencing the study.

Previous studies using this dose and rate of infusion and peripheral venous

sampling had suggested that the early periods of accumulation were characterised by lower drug concentrations in peripheral venous blood suggestive of a sigmoid accumulation profile presumably due to the uptake of drug into the tissues during the process of arteriovenous passage (Lees et al, 1989). Despite a marked increase in the density of the sampling protocol the present study failed to find such a sigmoid accumulation profile in central venous samples taken from a main pulmonary artery.

Given the precautions taken with infusion the inhibition of circulating ACE activity in the initial samples was very marked. Clearly the available drug within 30 seconds of commencing infusion was sufficient to inhibit the majority of circulating ACE with a residual component available for tissue uptake. The concentrations in the central compartments would be subject to recirculation beyond the first 2-3 minutes.

There may be several reasons for the failure to demonstrate either a sigmoid pattern of accumulation or a significant early transpulmonary delay in drug concentration during this series of observations.

Although previous studies using this dose and rate of infusion had generated profiles which were suggestive of tissue binding of the drug influencing concentration time profiles a lower dose or rate of infusion might better define this type of profile given the marked ACE inhibition observed. In addition although the lungs have been regarded as the dominant source of ACE activity for the circulation this has had to be revised in the light of the widespread distribution of ACE activity at a variety of different tissue sites (Johnston et al, 1987). The relative proportion of accessible whole body ACE which is situated in the pulmonary circulation remains unknown. Previous studies involving peripheral venous sampling reflect exposure of the given dose to the "whole body" ACE pool and therefore the present study might not reflect exposure of the drug to a large enough pool of enzyme. In addition as an infusate containing plasma protein solution was employed, for reasons described above, this may have affected the

distribution of very small quantities of drug. In effect a slowed equilibration of drug between plasma and tissue ACE might not have been reflected in *ex vivo* ACE inhibition as a substantial time period occurred *ex vivo* prior to assay.

An arteriovenous concentration gradient would be expected from theoretical grounds with any drug which interacts with a tissue in order to generate its pharmacodynamic effect. However, such arteriovenous concentration time profiles are rarely defined (Chiou, 1989). In this setting the concentration of a drug at a given arterial or venous site is a reflection of both the blood flow at that site and the relative partition coefficient for the drug into the given tissue bed (Bischoff, 1986). Accordingly the flow rate across the lung is several hundred times greater than that for the peripheral sampling site and thus flow would be expected to dominate the partition of a drug such as an ACE inhibitor with its tissue binding sites which in this case would be predominantly tissue ACE. This element of site dependency in generation of a concentration time profile is probably the key element in our failure to describe a marked transpulmonary extraction of ACE inhibitors. It would seem unlikely that our patient population, predominantly with ischaemic heart disease, was associated with any particular reduction in pulmonary ACE sufficient to mask uptake. However, this aspect has not previously been studied.

Thus although unable to demonstrate a clear advantage of the non-linear saturable binding model over conventional multi-exponential pharmacokinetic models in this study individual data fits were often better described by the former structure. As a sum of exponentials or polynomial functions can always be formed to fit a series of observed data, the main problem is that these have no physical meaning and give no information about the primary system (Rescigno and Beck, 1987). It would be incorrect to suggest that the simple non lineor models applied here are "physiological" but they may derive terms which are more descriptive of tissue binding and consequently better related to

pharmacodynamic effect. The observations in this section suggest that the most appropriate sampling site for such comparisons would be the traditional peripheral venous blood.

7.4.2 PERINDOPRILAT INFUSION STUDIES IN SALT REPLETE MAN.

An influence of protein binding on the pharmacokinetics of ACE inhibitors has been described by a number of groups. In particular, this binding is thought to occur to ACE in plasma and tissues (Francis et al, 1987; Lees et al, 1989) and for most ACE inhibitors this is a tight binding interaction at at least two binding sites in keeping with enzyme structure (Perich et al,1992). Present knowledge of the haemodynamic effects of ACE inhibitors stems from their use in clinical practice. The pharmacological studies which have been carried out offer very limited evidence of the effects which occur in response to low doses of these drugs. As a result, the minimum effective dose is poorly defined. This may be of particular importance where these drugs are given to individual patients who are at risk of a profound haemodynamic response.

The available information on the use of intravenous ACE inhibitors comes primarily from studies of pharmacokinetics and bioavailability (Reams et al, 1986; Nussberger et al, 1987; Evans et al, 1987; Creasey et al, 1988). A case for the clinical use of intravenous ACE inhibitors has been made both for accelerated hypertension (Rutledge et al, 1988; Savi et al, 1990) and for the management of acute heart failure (Flynn et al, 1988; Taylor et al, 1989) and preventing left ventricular dysfunction following myocardial infarction (Nabel et al, 1991; Sharpe et al, 1991; CONSENSUS II Study group,1992). These indications remain controversial (and indeed possibly detrimental) and are not approved by regulatory authorities. The available experience

with intravenous therapy is limited to bolus injection or infusion over periods as short as 2 to 10 minutes. In many of the studies rapid dose escalation has been employed and this has hampered the description of the dose-response relationship in that neither haemodynamic, primary or seconary hormonal equilibrium is possible or in many cases documented.

When the approximate oral bioavailability of the drugs and the known effects on inhibition of circulating plasma ACE activity are taken into account, the intravenous doses which have been administered are likely to have been maximal or in most instances supramaximal. This would make an adequate description of the concentration response relationship impossible and more importantly limit dose titration and control over the fall in blood pressure.

In this study a clear haemodynamic response was documented in young salt replete normal volunteers after a low dose of the diacid ACE inhibitor perindoprilat. In addition, by using slow constant rate infusion it is evident that the slower rates of infusion are at least as effective in lowering BP as faster rates with equivalent total dosage. This is despite a correspondingly reduced C_{max} and reduced maximal plasma ACE inhibition. The larger doses of ACE inhibitor given acutely or in this study by more rapid infusion, result in a high free fraction of drug which is readily eliminated by the kidney. Smaller doses or slower administration result in a lower free fraction. The ACE inhibitors are almost unique, in that the free fraction is **not** the determinant of drug effect and it is the bound fraction which is inhibiting ACE, predominantly that present at tissue based sites which results in the haemodynamic response. Thus, the drug is less "efficient" in generating its haemodynamic response when greater concentrations are achieved through rapid infusion. A similar pattern of response has recently been documented for the calcium channel-blocking drug, felodipine (Cohen et al, 1990).

The earlier work with perindoprilat by Lees suggested that the accumulation

phase of the pharmacokinetic profile might provide further information on the tissue uptake of ACE inhibitors. The pharmacokinetic profile was best described by a nonlinear saturable binding relationship and the mathematical description of this profile provided estimates of the maximal binding and the extent of inhibition of "tissue" ACE (Lees et al, 1989). This study provided more detailed confirmation of a sigmoid drug accumulation profile, most notably with the 6 hour infusion. It has reaffirmed the superiority of the non-linear saturable binding models for description of ACE inhibitor disposition. The parameter estimates agree closely with those previously reported (Lees et al, 1989).

The individual parameter estimates which can be obtained from pharmacokinetic analysis may reflect overall tissue binding and ACE inhibition. These estimates can be obtained from drug concentration data in peripheral venous blood. They now need to be related to the haemodynamic response. In normal subjects blood pressure changes are definable but limited as seen in this study. A setting of enhanced response is requred to relate concentration to haemodynamics.

Whilst low dose constant rate intravenous infusions of ACE inhibitors are not currently employed in clinical practice. These results reaffirm the findings in heart failure (section 6.2). If intravenous treatment is indicated, constant rate low dose infusion should be considered. Large falls in blood pressure with intravenous administration are likely to be due simply to the supramaximal doses employed. The temporal dissociation of blood pressure response to short infusions of perindoprilat (1 mg) and the high peak plasma drug concentration reaffirm this message. Slow constant rate infusion should allow better control over blood pressure by discontinuation of infusion where marked sensitivity is encountered.

7.4.3 ACE INHIBITION IN SALT DEPLETE MAN: ORAL ENALAPRIL IN A MODEL OF THE ACTIVATED RENIN ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM.

The primary aim of this study was a basic description of a human model for the detailed study of ACE inhibitor responses, using readily acceptable means of inducing activation of the renin system. Although dietary salt restriction has been widely used in this context, a very low sodium diet (< 10 mmol/Na) has usually been employed and controlled studies with modern renin analysis are rare (Hollenberg et al, 1981; Navis et al,1987). Such low salt diets are barely palatable for unselected volunteers; difficult to control under outpatient circumstances; require careful preparation; and are liable to non-compliance. In this respect, where controlled studies involving salt repletion and depletion are required over prolonged or repeated periods the nature and composition of the diet becomes even more important to the individual volunteers. We therefore chose moderate sodium restriction (40 mmol) with dietary provision and instruction over the four day study periods. In order to produce further sodium loss and to achieve activation of renin angiotensin system oral frusemide (40 mg b.d.) was administered on each of the three pre-study days. The pharmacodynamic response to frusemide has been extensively characterised (Hammarlund-Udenaes&Benet, 1989; Boles-Ponto & Schoenwald, 1990). To prevent overt fluid depletion, which might predispose to reduced intravascular volume, a high fluid intake was specifically encouraged during the prestudy period and similarly, the fluid intake on the study day was carefully controlled. Volunteers tolerated the pretreatment well and, in particular, none spontaneously commented on marked diuresis at any point in the study.

Both the serum and urinary electrolyte data on the third day of baseline and the pretreatment values on the study day suggest moderate salt depletion and renin angiotensin system activation. The programme of frusemide pretreatment, with the gap

bètween the last oral dose and the study day avoids any acute haemodynamic effects which follow frusemide treatment (Johnston et al,1984) and, as predicted, produced a persistent degree of hyper-reninaemia (Tuck et al,1982).

Significant reductions in pretreatment serum sodium and potassium were achieved without overt hyponatraemia or hypokalaemia. Similarly, urinary urea or creatinine values were not significantly altered from baseline values and this provides further reassurance that overt fluid depletion was not caused and additionally that urinary collections were reasonably complete. In keeping with the moderate but persisting activation of the renin angiotensin system during the study day, there appeared to be some degree of antinatriuresis although there continued to be some urinary sodium loss from the 40 mmol dietary provision.

Although not universally accepted, measurable falls in blood pressure have been demonstrated in controlled studies in salt replete volunteers (Kiowski et al,1992; Lees & Reid,1991) but the magnitude of the response is small and may limit the value of such studies, at least with regard to blood pressure, as a means of assessing the response to renin angiotensin system blockade. In this study, despite the low dose of enalapril, there were considerable reductions in blood pressure.

The role of baseline renin angiotensin system activation in the blood pressure response to ACE inhibitor treatment has practical as well as theoretical importance. Since the introduction of ACE inhibitor into the treatment of hypertension and heart failure there has been widespread clinical concern over the so called "first dose hypotensive response" which occasionally is symptomatic and rarely is associated with renal, cerebral and cardiac hypoperfusion damage. The precise origin of this profound blood pressure fall is unclear but many factors may play a role: salt and fluid balance, the status and setting of baroreceptor reflexes, concurrent or temporarily discontinued drugs such as diuretics, vasodilators or digitalis and more general factors such as drug

dose, age, diurnal blood pressure patterns, metabolism and elimination pathways and individual subject sensitivity. Using a model of renin angiotensin system activation such as that described here it will be possible to address in controlled double blind studies the contribution of the particular drug, the dosage selected and the level of activation of the renin angiotensin system to the overall pattern of response in terms of blood pressure, heart rate, regional perfusion, etc. Similarly, the differential effects of alternative means of renin angiotensin system blockade based on orally active drugs blocking the rate limiting enzyme, renin or angiotensin receptor blocking drugs. The baseline level of circulating renin seen in our study is easily comparable with those seen in renovascular hypertension (Hodsman et al, 1982) or heart failure (Anand et al, 1989) but derived in more controlled circumstances.

Double blind studies can readily be performed by providing oral salt repletion in addition to the standard 40 mmol sodium diet using coated tablets and placebo frusemide. In this setting active salt depletion is produced by matched placebo salt tablets and active frusemide. Such controlled observations are not common in the assessment of ACE inhibitor responses despite 15 years of clinical study. The newer agents for renin angiotensin system blockade could also benefit from such assessment.

In summary, this study has described a simple and well tolerated model of the activated renin angiotensin system in man based on moderate dietary sodium restriction and acute diuretic therapy. This model is suitable for initial dose ranging and dose-response studies with a variety of agents which act via the renin angiotensin system, for studies of the role of renin angiotensin system activation in individual response and for more detailed concentration effect studies integrating secondary neurohormonal changes with treatment.

144

•

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The studies on angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition presented here demonstrate, in controlled circumstances, that the haemodynamic profile of apparently similar agents can be differentiated at least at low doses in heart failure patients. This is the first occasion that such differentiation has been noted in any clinical or experimental study. Regardless of the practical significance of first dose hypotension, which remains very much an anecdotal phenomenon, this differentiation is of considerable pharmacological importance and may have some clinical application in avoiding excessive haemodynamic effects in some circumstances.

The observations with oral prodrugs and intravenous diacids may suggest that a differential interaction with extravascular renin angiotensin systems as one explanation for this observation. Clearly this requires verification and further analysis with direct measurements of the tissue based system being the most logical step. This would most easily be achieved in animal studies but, as was explored in chapter 7, a pharmacokinetic approach may be one alternative and has the considerable advantage of being viable in intact man.

The controlled low dose infusion studies in heart failure conducted over relatively protracted periods were shown, albeit in a stable population of heart failure patients, to give good control over the extent of the blood pressure response. In practical terms this might lend itself to further use of this technique in more unstable patients should therapy with these drugs be required for example in the period around acute myocardial infarction or in the management of acute heart failure of an appropriate cause.

The tentative description of a transient pressor response in these subjects was an

unexpected finding. Again it emerged largely due to the controlled setting of the observations and regular recordings. Although likely to be of less therapeutic significance it may prove, on further examination, to be a further reflection of the tissue based renin system and its activation in these patients. Exploration of this phenomenon should probably be aimed at initially confirming the effect and detailed measurements of the circulating concentrations of angiotensin I and angiotensin II peptides. This could test the possibility of a peptide distribution phenomenon based on transient intravascular ACE inhibition by the poorly lipid soluble diacid drugs at the low concentrations seen during the early stages of constant rate infusion.

The studies in normal and patient volunteers summarised in chapter 7 focus on the pharmacokinetic description of tissue distribution of diacid ACE inhibitor drugs in the first two sections. This is the essential first stage to any attempt to link drug concentration and effect (eg haemodynamic effect) in individual subjects using a concentration effect modelling technique.

The transpulmonary studies were entirely novel in man but unfortunately failed to reveal the first pass extraction of drug across the pulmonary circulation that was expected. The possible reasons for this relate most probably to the dose of drug and rate of infusion. It did not prove possible to repeat the study with a lower dose or rate of infusion or indeed to study the effect on a lipid soluble agent such as one of the prodrug inhibitors.

The description of diacid pharmacokinetics on protracted infusion confirmed the efficacy of a simple non linear binding model incorporating terms for tissue and plasma binding parameters as the optimal technique of the range considered. This was not adequately described in terms of drug concentration profile during the infusion stage in the only previous study. The non linear binding model allows parameter estimates to be derived for individual subjects which might be related to patterns of haemodynamic

response through a more complex concentration effect model. Although small blood pressure changes were noted in this controlled study it is likely that, at the very least, activation of the renin system would be required to approximate the setting in heart failure and make the correlation of the kinetic and dynamic response feasible.

The third section in chapter 7 clearly established an outline of salt depletion based on a practical schedule of diuretic treatment and low salt diet which was well tolerated, easily administered and controlled. The responses observed with a standard ACE inhibitor, enalapril given orally, were clear cut and activation of the renin angiotensin system confirmed at a number of levels.

This series of studies can now progress to define the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic responses to ACE inhibition during double blind salt repletion or salt depletion and relate tissue binding parameters to the observed blood pressure response in individual subjects.

In conclusion a variety of studies are presented directed at the investigation of blockade of the renin angiotensin system in the setting of common disease, heart failure, where this system is activated. Detailed analysis of response can pay dividends both at the level of pathophysiology, drug differentiation and optimisation of treatment, in this instance with relevance to the initiation of therapy.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abraham WT, Hensen J, Schrier RW (1990) Elevated plasma noradrenaline concentrations in patients with low output cardiac failure: dependence on increased noradrenaline secretion rates. Clin.Sci. 79:429-435.

Acompora GA, Melendez JA, Keefe DL, Turnbull AD, Bedford RF. (1989). Intraoperative administration of intravenous angiotensin converting enzyme inhbitor, enalaprilat in a patient with congestive heart failure. Anesth. Analg. 69, 833-839.

Ader R, Chatterjee JC, Ports T, Brumdage B, Hiramatsu BG, Parmley W. (1980). Immediate and sustained hemodynamic and clinical improvement in chronic heart failure by oral angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. Circulation 61, 931-937.

Admiraal, PJJ, Derkx FHM, Danser AHJ, Preterman H, Schalekamp MADH. (1990) Metabolism and production of angiotensin I in different vascular beds in subjects with hypertension. Hypertension 15, 44-55.

Ahmad S, Giles TD, Roffidal LE, Haney Y, Givers MB, Sander GE. (1990) Intravenous captopril in congestive heart failure. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 30, 609-614.

Ajayi AA, Campbell BC, Howie CA, Reid JL. (1985) Acute and chronic effects of the converting enzyme inhibitors enalapril and lisinopril on reflex control of heart rate in normotensive man. J.Hypertension 3: 47-53.

Ajayi AA, Hockings N, Reid JL. (1987) The relationship between serum enalaprilat concentration and the hypotensive effect in man. Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Res. VII, 1-3.

Ajayi AA, Lees KR, Reid JL. (1986) Effects of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, perindopril, on autonomic reflexes. Eur.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 30: 177-182.

Alhenc-Gelas F, Soubrier F, Hubert C, Allegrini J, Corvol P. (1989). The peculiar characteristics of the amino acid sequence of Angiotensin-I-converting enzyme, as determined by cDNA cloning of the human endothelial enzyme. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 14(Suppl.4), S6-S9.

Alhenc-Gelas F, Weare JA, Johnson RL, Erdos EG. (1983). Measurement of human converting enzyme by direct radioimmunoassay. J.Lab.Clin.Med. 101:83-96.

Allen AM, Chai SY, Clevers J, McKinley MJ, Paxinos G, Mendelsohn FAO. (1988) Localisation and characterisation of angiotensin II receptor binding and angiotensin converting enzyme in the human medulla oblongata. J. Comp. Neurol. 269:249-264.

Anand IS, Ferrari R, Kalra GS, Wahi PL, Poole-Wilson PA, Harris PC. (1989a) Edema of cardiac origin: studies of body water and sodium, renal function, hemodynamic indexes, and plasma hormones in untreated congestive cardiac failure. Circulation 80: 299-305.

Anand IS, Kalra GS, Ferrari R, Wahi PL, Harris PC, Poole-Wilson PA (1990) Enalapril as initial and sole treatment in severe chronic heart failure with sodium retention.

Int.J.Cardiol.28:341-346.

Anand IS, Veall N, Kalra GS, Ferrari R, Sutton G, Lipkin D, Harris P, Poole-Wilson PA (1989b) Treatment for heart failure with diuretics: body compartments, renal function and plasma hormones. Eur.Heart J.10:445-450.

Andreasen F, Kjeldahl Christensen C, Kjaer Jacobsen F, Jansen J, Mogensen CE, Lederballe-Pedersen O. (1982) The individual variation in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of frusemide in young normal male subjects. Eur.J.Clin.Invest. 12: 247-255.

Andreatta SH, Averill DB, Santos RAS, Ferrario CM. The ventrolateral medulla: a new site of action of the renin- angiotensin system. Hypertension 11 (Suppl. 2): 1163-1166, 1988.

Anguenot T, Bassand JP, Schiele F, Jacoulet P, Roche C, Maurat JP. (1987) Circulatory and hormonal effects of perindopril in refractory heart failure. Cardiovas.Drugs Ther. 1(3): 211.

Arnold JMO, Ribero JP, Colucci WS (1990) Muscle blood flow during forearm exercise in patients with severe heart failure. Circulation 82:465-472.

Arnolda L, McGrath B, Cocks M, Sumithran E, Johnston CI (1985) Adriamycin cardiomyopathy in the rabbit: An animal model of low output cardiac failure with activation of vasoconstrictor mechanisms. Cardiovasc.Res.19:378-382.

Asmar RG, Safar ME, Santoni JPh, Pannier BM, London GM. (1987) Forearm arterial haemodynamics following angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition by perindopril in essential hypertension. J. Hypertension 5(supplt.5): \$169-\$171.

Asmar RG, Journao HJ, Lacolley PJ, Santoni JP, Billaud E, Safar ME. (1988a) Treatment for one year with perindopril effect on cardiac mass and arterial compliance in essential hypertension. J.Hypertension 6(supplt.3):523-526.

Asmar RG, Pannier B, Santoni JP, Laurent S, London GM, Levy BI, Safar ME. (1988b) Reversion of cardiac hypertrophy and reduced arterial compliance after converting enzyme inhibition in essential hypertension. Circulation 28: 941-950.

Asmar RG, Pannier BM, Santoni JP, Safar ME. (1988c) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition decreases systolic blood pressure more than diastolic pressure as shown by ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. J.Hypertension 6(supplt.3): 579-581.

Auzepy JP, Guidicelli JF (1988) Pharmacokinetics of perindopril in heart failure patients after administration of a single oral dose of 4mg of perindopril tert-butylamine salt. Report PKH 04.04 data on file, Servier Europe, Courbevoie, France

Baba T, Murabayashi S, Tomiyama T, Takebe K (1990) The pharmacokinetics of enalapril in patients with compensated liver cirrhosis. Br. J.Clin.Pharmacol 29: 766-769.

Backhouse CI, Brown CL, Grippat JC, Santoni JP. Additive antihypertension effects of perindopril and hydrochlorthiazide: a double blind parallel group study. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. (in press). Bao G, Gohlke P, Qadri F, Unger T.(1992) Chronic kinin receptor blockade attenuates the antihypertensive effect of ramipril. Hypertension 20:74-79.

Barbino A, Galbariggi G, Pizzoni C, et al. (1991) Comparative effects of long term therapy with captopril and ibopamine in congestive heart failure in old patients. Cardiology 1991; 78: 243-256.

Barres C, Cerutti C, Paultre CZ, Sassard J. (1986) Antihypertensive effects of S9490-3, a new converting enzyme inhibitor, in the conscious spontaneously hypertensive rat. Clin. Sci. 70: 167-175.

Baumann G, Felix SB, Filcek SA. (1990) Usefulness of dopexamine hydrochloride versus dobutamine in chronic congestive heart failure and effects on haemodynamics and urine output. Amer. J.Cardiol. 65:748-754.

Bayliss J, Norell M, Canepa-Anson R, Sutton G, Poole Wilson PA. (1987) Untreated heart failure: clinical and neuroendocrine effects of introducing diuretics. Br. Heart J. 57, 17-22.

Bayliss J, Norell MS, Canepa-Anson R, Poole Wilson PA. (1985) Clinical importance of the renin angiotensin system in chronic heart failure: a double blind comparison of captopril and prazosin. Br.Med.J. 290:1861-1865.

Belz GG, Kirch W, Kleinbloesem CH. (1988). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: relationship between pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 15:295-318.

Benjamin N, Cockroft JR, Collier JG, Ritter JM, Webb DJ. (1989) Local inhibition of converting enzyme and vascular responses to angiotensin and bradykinin in the human forearm. J. Physiol. 412:543-555.

Bernstein KE, Martin BM, Bernstein EA, Linton J, Striker L, Striker G.(1988) The isolation of angiotensin-converting enzyme cDNA. J.Biol.Chem. 15:11021-11024.

Bidiville J, Porchet M, Bussien JP, Nussberger J, Waeber B, Brunner HR. (1987) Effect of eight day converting enzyme inhibition on ambulatory blood pressure recordings in normotensive volunteers. Arch.Int.Pharmacodyn.Ther. 288:109-119.

Biollaz J, Schelling JL, des Combes B, Brunner DB, Despands G, Brunner HR, Ulm EH, Hichens M, Gomez HJ. (1982) Enalapril maleate and a lysine analogue (MK-521) in normal volunteers, relationship between plasma drug levels and the renin angiotensin system. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 14:363-368.

Bischoff KB. (1986) Physiological pharmacokinetics. Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 48, 309-322.

Bjornsson OG, Murphy R, Chadwick VS. (1982) Physiochemical studies of indocyanine green (ICG): absorbance/concentration relationship, pH tolerance and assay precision in various solvents. Experientia, 38:1441-1442.

Blaine EH, Schorn TW, Boger J.(1984). Statine containing renin inhibitor. Dissociation

of blood pressure lowering and renin inhibition in sodium deficient dogs. Hypertension 6(supplt.I):I111-I118.

Boles-Ponto LL, Schoenwald RD (1990) Furosemide (Frusemide): a pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic review (parts 1 and 2). Clin.Pharmacokinet. 18:381-408,460-471.

Boni E, Alicandri C, Fariello R, Zaninelli A, Cantalamessa A, Corda L, Muiesan G. (1990) Effect of enalapril on parasympathetic activity. Cardiovasc.Drugs Ther. 4: 265-268.

Boomsma F, de Bruyn JHB, Derkx FHM, Schalekamp MADH. (1981) Opposite effects of captopril and angiotensin-1-converting enzyme "activity" and "concentration" relation between enzyme inhibition and long term blood pressure response. Clin. Sci. 60:4911-4918.

Borghi H, Fillastre JP, Morin JP. (1987) Rat and rabbit renal and tissular distributions of perindopril (S9490-3) a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. Clin. Exp. Hypertension A9 (ii): 1952.

Bounhoure JP, Bottineau G, Lechat P, Garnham J, Lapeyre G. (1989) Value of perindopril in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. Clin. Exp. Hypertension A11(Suppl 2): 575-586.

Braunwald E (1991) ACE inhibitors-a cornerstone of the treatment of heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med.325:351-353.

Brichard SM, Thomas JR, Santoni JPh, Ketelslegers JM, Lambert AE. (1988) Long term correction of microalbuminuria with an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in hypertensive diabetic patients. Acta Clinica Belgique 43 (Suppl. 12): 70.

Brilla CG, Weber KT. (1992) Reactive and reprative myocardial fibrosis in arterial hypertension in the rat. Cardiovasc. Res. 26:671-677.

Bristow MR, Port JD, Hershberger RE, Gilbert EM, Feldman AM (1989) The β adrenergic receptor-adenylate cyclase complex as a target for therapeutic intervention in heart failure. Eur.Heart J. 10(supplt B):45-54.

Brogen RN, Todd PA, Sorkin EM. (1988) Captopril: an update of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic use in hypertension and congestive heart failure. Drugs 36: 540-600.

Brown JJ, Davies DL, Lever AF, Robertson JIS. (1965) Plasma renin concentration in human hypertension. II Renin in relation to aetiology. Brit.Med.J. 2: 1215-1219.

Brunner HR, Nussberger J, Waeber B. (1985) The present molecules of converting enzyme inhibitors. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol.(supplt. I):S2-S11.

Buhler, F.R. (1988). Antihypertensive treatment according to age, plasma renin and race. Drugs 35:495-503.

Buller NP, Jones D, Poole-Wilson PA (1991) Direct measurement of skeletal muscle fatigue in patients with chronic heart failure. Brit.Heart J. 65:20-24.

Burnier M, Waeber B, Nussberger J, Brunner HR. (1989) Pharmacokinetics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 28:133s-140s.

Bussein J-P, d'Amore TF, Peret L, Porchet M, Nussberger J, Waeber B, Brunner HR. (1986) Single and repeated dosing of the converting enzyme inhibitor to normal subjects. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 39:554-558.

Cadilhac M, Giudicelli JF. (1986) Myocardial and vascular effects of perindopril, a new converting enzyme inhibitor, during hypertension development in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Arch.Int.Pharmacodyn.Therap 284:114-126.

Cambien F, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Evans A, Cambou JP, Arveiler D et al, (1992) Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin converting enzyme is a potent risk factor for myocardial infarction. Nature 359:641-644.

Campbell DJ. (1985). The site of angiotensin production. J. Hypertension 3: 199-209.

Campbell DJ. (1987) Circulating and tissue angiotensin systems. J. Clin. Invest. 79: 1-6.

Campbell BC, Sturani A, Reid JL. (1985) Evidence of parasympathomimetic activity of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, captopril, in normotensive man. Clinical Science 68:49-56.

Captopril Multicenter Research Group.(1983) A placebo controlled trial of captopril in refractory chronic congestive heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol.2:755-763.

Captopril Multicenter Research Group. (1988) Comparative effects of therapy with captopril and digoxin in patients with mild to moderate heart failure. J.Amer.Med.Assoc. 259:539-544.

Capewell S, Capewell A (1991) "First dose hypotension and venodilatation. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol.31:213-214.

Caruana MP, Lahiri A, Cashman PMM, Altman DG, Raftery EB (1988) Effects of chronic congestive heart failure secondary to coronary artery disease on the circadian rhythm of blood pressure and heart rate. Amer.J.Cardiol.62:755-759.

Case DB, Wallace JM, Keim HR, Weber MA, Sealey JE, Laragh JH (1977). Possible role of renin in hypertension as suggested by renin-sodium profiling and inhibition of converting enzyme. N.Engl.J.Med.296:641-646.

Catravas JD, White RE. (1984) Kinetics of pulmonary angiotensin converting enzyme and 5,nucleotidase in vivo. J.Appl.Physiol. 57:1173-1181.

Chai SY, Allen AM, Adam WR, Mendelsohn FAO.(1986) Local actions of angiotensin II: Quantitative in vitro autoradiographic localisation of angiotensin II receptor binding and angiotensin converting enzyme in target tissues. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 8(Suppl.10): 35-39.

Chai SY, McKenzie JS, McKinley MJ, Mendelsohn FAO. (1990). Angiotensin converting enzyme in the human basal forebrain and midbrain visualised by in vitro

autoradiography. J.Comp.Neurol. 291:179-194.

Chaignon M, Barrou Z, Ayad M, Lucsko M, Aubert P, Perret L, Guedon J.(1988) Effects of perindopril on renal haemodynamics and natriuresis in essential hypertension. J.Hypertension 6(supplt.3): S61-S69.

Chakko S, Woska D, Martinez H, de Marchena E, Futterman L, Kessler KM, Myerburg RJ (1991) Clinical, radiographic and hemodynamic correlations in chronic congestive heart failure: conflicting results may lead to inappropriate care. Amer.J.Med 90:353-359.

Chatterjee K (1989) Congestive heart failure-advances in treatment: hemodynamic studies their uses and limitations. Amer.J.Cardiol. 63:3D-7D.

Chatterjee, K. & Opie, L. (1987). Angiotensin inhibitors and other vasodilators with special reference to chronic congestive heart failure. Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther. 1:1-8.

Chen X, Pitt BR, Moalli R, Gillis CN.(1984). Correlation between lung and plasma angiotensin converting enzyme and the hypotensive effect of captopril in conscious rabbits. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 229:649-653.

Chevillard C, Saavedra JM (1982). Distribution of angiotensin converting enzyme activity in specific areas of the rat brain stem. J.Neurochem. 32:281-284.

Chevillard C, Brown NL, Jouquey S, Mathieu MN, Laliberte F Hamon G (1989). Cardiovascular actions and tissue converting enzyme inhibitory effects of chronic enalapril and trandolapril treatment of spontaneously hypertensive rats. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 14:297-301.

Chiknas SG. (1979) A liquid chromatography assisted assay for angiotensin converting enzyme (peptidyl dipeptidase) in serum. Clin.Chem. 25:1259-1262

Chiou WL. (1989) The phenomenon and rationale of marked dependence of drug concentration on blood sampling site: implications in pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, toxicology and therapeutics. Clin.Pharmacokinet. 17:275-290.

Chobanian AV, Alderman MH, De Quattro V et al (1989) The 1988 report of the Joint National Committee on detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood pressure. Arch.Int.Med. 148:1023-1038.

Christensen HRL, Neilson H, Christensen KL, Baandrup U, Jespersen LT, Mulvany MJ. (1988) Long term hypotensive effects of an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in spontaneously hypertensive rats: is there a role for vascular structure. Journal of Hypertension 6(supplt.3):S29-S30.

Cleland JGF, Dargie HJ, Ball SG, Gillen G, Hodsman GP, Morton JJ, East BW, Robertson I, Ford I, Robertson JIS. (1985) Effects of enalapril in heart failure: a double blind study of effects on exercise performance, renal function, hormones and metabolic state. Br. Heart J. 54:305-312.

Cleland JGF, Dargie HJ, Ford I (1987) Mortality in heart failure: clinical variables of prognostic value. Br.Heart J. 58:572-582.

Cleland JGF, Dargie HJ, Hodsman GP, Ball SG, Robertson JIS, Morton JJ, East BW, Robertson I, Murray GD, Gillen G. (1984) Captopril in heart failure: a double blind controlled trial. Br.Heart J. 52:530-535.

Cleland JGF, Dargie HJ, McAlpine H, Ball SG, Robertson JIS, Ford I. (1985). Severe hypotension after first dose of enalapril in heart failure. Br.Med.J. 291:1309-1312.

Cleland JGF, Dargie HJ, Robertson I, Robertson JIS, East BW. (1987). Total body electrolyte composition in patients with heart failure: a comparison with normal subjects and patients with untreated hypertension. Br. Heart J. 58:230-238.

Cleland JGF, Henderson E, McLenachan J, Findlay IN, Dargie HJ. (1991) Effect of captopril, an angiotesin converting enzyme inhibitor, in patients with angina pectoris and heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol.17:733-739.

Cleland JG, Semple PF, Hodsman GP, Ball SG, Ford I, Dargie HJ. (1984). Angiotensin II levels, haemodynamics and sympathoadrenal function after low dose captopril in heart failure. Amer.J.Med. 77:880-886.

Coats AJS, Adamopoulos S, Meyer TE, Conway J, Sleight P (1990) Effects of physical training in chronic heart failure. Lancet 335:63-66.

Cody R (1992) Renin inhibition - the beginning of the fourth epoch. Circulation 85:362-364.

Cohen AF, van Hall MA, van Harten J, Schoemaker RC, Johansson P, Breimer DD, Visser R, Edgar B. (1990) The influence of infusion rate on the hemodynamic effects of felodipine. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 48:209-317.

Cohen ML & Kurz KD. (1982). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition from tissues of spontaneously hypertensive rats after treatment with captopril or MK421. J. Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 220:63-69.

Cohen-Solal A, et al,(1>89) Improving exercise tolerance in patients with chronic heart failure: should we treat the heart or the periphery?. Eur.Heart J. 10:866-871.

Cohn JN. (1985) Nitrates for congestive heart failure. Amer. J.Cardiol. 56:19A-23A.

Cohn JN. (1988). Current therapy of the failing heart. Circulation 78:1099-1107.

Cohn JN, Johnson G, Ziesche S et al (1991) A comparison of enalapril with hydralazineisosorbide dinitrate in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med.325:303-310.

Cohn JN, Levine B, Olivari MT, Garberg V, Lura D, Francis GS, Simon AB, Rector T (1984) Plasma norepinephrine as a guide to prognosis in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med. 311:819-823.

CONSENSUS II Study Group, Swedberg KW et al (1992) Effects of the early administration of enalapril on mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction-results of the cooperative new scandanavian enalapril survival study II (CONSENSUS II). New Eng.J.Med.327:678-684.

Colucci RD, Auty R, Scavone J, Glassner-Cohen L. (1989) The chemical stability of captopril capsules. Int. J.Clin.Pharmacol.Ther.Toxicol. 27:599-601.

Cowley AJ, Stainer K, Wynne RD, Rowley JM, Hampton JR (1986) Symptomatic assessment of patients with heart failure: double blind comparison of increasing doses of diuretics and captopril in moderate heart failure. Lancet ii:770-772.

Creager MA, Massie BM, Faxon DP, Freidman SD, Kramer BL, Weiner DA, Ryan TJ, Topic N, Melidossian CD (1985) Acute and long term effects of enalapril on the cardiovascular response to exercise and exercise tolerance in patients with congestive heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 6:163-170.

Creasey WA, Morrison RA, Singhvi SM, Willard DA. (1988) Pharmacokinetics of intravenous captopril in healthy men. Eur.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 35:367-370.

Cugini P, Di Palma L, Battisti P, Leone G, Materia E, Parenzi A, Romano M, Ferrera U, Moretti M (1990) Ultradian, circadian and infradian periodicity of some cardiovascular emergencies. Amer.J.Cardiol. 66:240-243.

Curfman GD (1991) Inotropic therapy for heart failure-an unfulfilled promise. N.Eng.J.Med.325:1509-1510.

Cushman DW & Cheung HS. (1971). Spectrophotometric assay and properties of the angiotensin converting enzyme of rabbit lung. Biochem.Pharmacol. 20:1637-1648.

Cody RJ. (1984) Haemodynamic response to specific renin angiotensin inhibitors in hypertension and congestive heart failure: a review. Drugs 28:144-169.

CONSENSUS Trial Study Group. (1987) Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med. 316:1429-1439.

Corin WJ, Monorad ES, Strom JA, et al. (1991) Flosequinan a vasodilator with positive inotropic activity. Amer.Heart J. 121:537-540.

Danser AH, Koning MM, Admiraal PJJ, Derkx FHM, Verdouw PD, Schalekamp MADH. (1992) Metabolism of angiotensin I by different tissues in the intact animal. Amer.J.Physiol.263:H418-H428.

Danser AH, Koning MM, Admiraal PJJ, Sassen LMA, Derkx FHM, Verdouw PD, Schalekamp MADH. (1992) Production of angiotensins I and II by tissue sites in the intact pig. Amer.J.Physiol.263:H418-H428.

Dargie HJ (1989) Heart failure, management, prevention and drug treatment in Diseases of the Heart, Julian DG, Camm AJ, FoxKM, HallRJC, Poole-Wilson PA (eds) pp 58-79, Balliere Tindall, London

Dargie HJ (1990) Expert report on the clinical pharmacology, efficacy, and safety studies on perindopril in chronic heart failure. Servier Europe, data on file, Courbevoie, France

Dargie HJ, McAlpine HM, Morton JJ. (1987) Neuroendocrine activation in acute myocardial infarction. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9 (supplt.2):521-524.

.
Das M, Soffer RL (1988) Pulmonary angiotensin converting enzyme: structural and catalytic properties. J.Biol.Chem. 250:6762-6768.

de Gasparo M, Cumin F, Nussberger J, Guyenne TT, Wood JM, Menard J (1989) Pharmacological investigation of a new renin inhibitor in normal sodium unrestricted volunteers. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol.27:587-596.

de Graef PA, Kingma JH, Duselman PHJN, Wesseling H, Lie KI. (1987) Acute haemodynamic and hormonal effects of ramipril in chronic congestive heart failure and comparison with captopril. Amer.J.Cardiol. 59:164D-179D.

de Marco T, Daly PA, Liu M, Kayser S, Parmley WW, Chatterjee K. (1987). Enalaprilat, a new parenteral angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor: rapid changes in systemic and coronary haemodynamics and humoral profile in chronic heart failure. J.Amer.Coll. Cardiol. 9:1131-38.

de Silva PE, Husain A, Smeby RR, Khairallah PA (1988) Measurement of immunoreactive angiotensin peptides in rat tissues: some pitfalls in Angiotensin II analysis. Anal.Biochem. 174:80-87.

Delabays A, Nussberger J, Porchet M, Waeber B, Hoyos P, Boger R, Glassman M, Kleinert HD, Luther R, Brunner HR (1989) Haemodynamic and humoral effects of the new renin inhibitor enalkiren in normal humans. Hypertension 13:941-947.

Derkx FHM, Tan-Tjiong HL, Man in't Veld AJ, Schalekamp MAP, Schalekamp MADH. (1979) Activation of inactive plasma renin by plasma and tissue kallikreins. Clin. Sci.57:351-357.

Devissaguet JPh, Ammoury N, Devissaguet M, Perret L (1990) Pharmacokinetics of perindopril and its metabolites in healthy volunteers. Fund.Clin.Pharmacol. 4:175-189.

Di Bianco R. (1986) Adverse effects with angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors. Med.Toxicol. 1:122-141.

Di Bianco R, Shabetai R, Kostuk W, Moran J, Schlant RC, Wright R (1989) A comparison of oral milrinone, digoxin and their combination in the treatment of patients with chronic heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med.320:677-683.

Di Carlo L, Chatterjee K, Parmley WW et al (1983) Enalapril a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in chronic heart failure: acute and chronic haemodynamic evaluations. J. Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 2:865-871.

Dibner-Dunlap ME, Thames MD (1990) A simplified technique for the production of heart failure in the dog by rapid ventricular pacing. Amer.J.Med.Sci. 300:288-290.

Dickstein K, Aarsland T, Tjelta K, Cirillo VJ, Gomez HJ (1987). A comparison of the hypotensive responses after oral and intravenous administration of enalapril and lisinopril in chronic heart failure. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9:705-710.

Dickstein K, Till AE, Aarsland T, Tjelta K, Abrahamsen AM, Kristianson K, Gomez HJ, Gregg H, Hichens M. (1987) The pharmacokinetics of enalapril in hospitalized patients

with congestive heart failure. Brit.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 23:403-410.

Di Nicolantonio R, Doyle AE.(1985) Comparison of the actions of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors enalapril and S9490-3 in sodium deplete and sodium replete spontaneously hypertensive rats. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 7:937-942.

Doherty JD, Cobbe SM (1990) Electrophysiological changes in an animal model of heart failure. Cardiovasc.Res. 24:309-316.

Doig JK, Lees KR, Reid JL (1993) The effect of drugs on the renin angiotensin system in man. <u>in</u> The Renin Angiotensin System Robertson JIS, Nicholls MG (eds) pp 80.1-80.19, Gower Medical Publishers, London.

Dollery CT, Causon RC, Brown MJ. (1985) Longlasting inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme and angiotensin I pressor responses by S9490 in healthy volunteers. Ricerca Scientifica ed Fducazione Permanente (supplt.49):34.

Donnelly R, Meredith PA, Elliott HL. (1989). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationships of alpha-adrenoceptor antagonists. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 17:264-274.

Drexler H (1992) Skeletal muscle failure in heart failure. Circulation 85:1621-1623.

Drexler H, Hiroi M, Riede U, Banhardt U, Meinertz T, Just H.(1988) Skeletal muscle blood flow, metabolism and morphology in chronic congestive heart failure and effects of short and long term angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition. Amer.J.Cardiol. 62: 82E-85E.

Drexler H, Banhardt U, Meinertz T, Wollschlager H, Lehmann M, Just H.(1989) Contrasting peripheral short term and long term effects of converting enzyme inhibition in patients with congestive heart failure. Circulation 79:491-502.

Drummer OH, Kourtis S.(1987a) Demonstration of a new hydrolytic metabolite of enalapril but not other di-carboxylic converting enzyme inhibitors. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol. 138(supplt.11):138.

Drummer OH, Kourtis S.(1987b) Biotransformation studies of diacid angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Arzneimittel Forschung 37:1225-1228.

Drummer OH, Rowley K, Johnson H, Worland P, Workman B, Harris QLG, Conway EL, Louis WJ. (1987c) Metabolism and pharmacodynamics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors with special reference to perindopril, <u>In</u> Rand MJ, Raper C (Eds) Pharmacology, pp. 545-550, Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam.

Drummer OH, Kourtis S, Iakovidis D. (1988) Biotransformation studies of diacid angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Arzneimittel Forschung 38:647-650.

Duchin KL, McKinstry DN, Cohen AI, Migdalof BH. (1988) Pharmacokinetics of captopril in healthy subjects and in patients with cardiovascular diseases. Clin.Pharmacokinet. 14: 241-259.

Dunselman PHJM, van der Mark ThW, Kuntze CEE, et al. (1992) Different results in cardiopulmonary exercise tests after long term treatment with Felodipine and enalapril in

patients with congestive heart failure due to ischaemic heart disease. Eur.Heart J. 11: 200-206.

Dzau VJ.(1988a) Circulating versus local renin angiotensin system in cardiovascular homeostasis. Circulation 77 (supplt.I): I4-I13.

Dzau VJ.(1986). Significance of the vascular renin angiotensin pathway. Hypertension 8:553-559.

Dzau VJ. (1988b). Cardiac renin angiotensin system: molecular and functional aspects. Amer.J.Med. 84(Suppl.3A):22-27.

Dzau VJ. (1989). Short and long term determinants of cardiovascular function and therapy: contributions of circulating and tissue renin angiotensin systems. J.Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 14(Suppl.4),S1-S5.

Earley LE, Martino JA (1970) Influence of sodium balance on the ability of diuretics to inhibit tubular reabsorption: a study of factors that influence renal tubular reabsorption in man. Circulation 42:323-334.

Editorial (1988) ACE inhibitors - the trickle becomes a flood. Lancet 332: 885-886.

Editorial (1989) Clinical signs in heart failure. Lancet 334:309-310.

Editorial (1990) ACE inhibitors and tissue binding. Lancet 336:718-720.

Editorial (1991) Calcium antagonist caution. Lancet 337: 885-886.

Editorial (1992) Failure to treat heart failure. Lancet 339:278-279.

Ehlers MRW. & Riordan JF. (1989). Angiotensin converting enzyme: new concepts concerning its biological role. Biochemistry 28:5311-5317.

Elborn JS, Riley M, Stanford CF.(1990) The effects of Flosequinan on submaximal exercise in patients with chronic cardiac failure. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 29:519-524.

El-Dorry, HA, Bull HG, Iwata K, Thornberry NA, Cordes EH, Soffer RL.(1982) Molecular and catalytic properties of rabbit testicular dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase. J. Biol.Chem.10:14128-14133.

Elkayam U, Roth A, Mehra A, et al.(1991) Randomized study to evaluate the relation between oral isosorbide dinitrate dosing interval and the development of early tolerance to its effect on left ventricular filling pressure in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 84:2040-2048.

Enous R, Coetzee WA, Opie LH (1992) Effects of the ACE inhibitor Perindoprilat, and of Angiotensin II on the transient inward current of guinea pig ventricular myocytes. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol.19:17-23.

Erdos EG.(1975) Angiotensin I converting enzyme. Circ.Res. 36: 247-255.

Erdos EG.(1990) Angiotensin I converting enzyme and the changes in our concepts

through the years: Lewis K Dahl Memorial Lecture. Hypertension 16:363-370.

Ertl G.(1988) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and ischaemic heart disease. Eur.Heart J. 9:716-727.

Ertl G, Kloner RA, Alexander RW, Braunwald E. (1982). Limitation of experimental infarct size by an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. Circulation 65:40-48.

Evans RR, Henzler MA, Weber EM, Di Pette DJ. (1987) The effect of intravenous enalaprilat (MK-422) administration in patients with mild to moderate essential hypertension. J.Clin.Pharmacol. 27:415-418.

Fabris B, Jackson B, Cubela R, Mendelsohn FAO, Johnston CI. (1989). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in the rat heart: studies of its inhibition in vitro and ex vivo. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol. 16:309-313.

Fabris B, Jackson B, Kohzuki M, Perich R, Johnston CI (1990) Increased cardiac angiotensin converting enzyme in rats with chronic heart failure. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol. 17:309-314.

Ferner RE, Wilson D, Paterson JL, Wilkinson R, Rawlins MD. (1989). The effects of intradermal bradykinin are potentiated by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in hypertensive patients. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 27:337-342.

Ferrari R, Cargnoni A, Surello S, Ceconi C, Boraso A, Visioli O.(1992) Protection of the ischaemic myocardium by the converting enzyme inhibitor zofenopril: insight into its mechanism of action. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol.20:694-704.

Flynn K, Coughlan MG, Phelan DM, Luke D, Neligan M, Wood AE. (1988) Intravenous captopril in acute heart failure. Lancet 1:173-174.

Foresti V, Pepe R, Parisio E, de Fillipi G, Scotari N, Frigerio C. (1989). Angiotensin converting enzyme as a possible marker for lung toxicity in amiodarone treated patients. Int.J.Clin.Pharmacol.Res. 10:261-267.

Francis GS (1989) The relationship of the sympathetic nervous system and the reninangiotensin aldosterone system in congestive heart failure. Amer.Heart J.118:642-648.

Francis GS, Johnson TH, Ziesche S, Berg M, Boosalis P, Cohn JN (1990) Marked spontaneous improvement in ejection fraction in patients with congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Med.89:303-307.

Francis RJ, Brown AN, Kler L, d'Amore TF, Nussberger J, Waeber B, Brunner HR. (1987) Pharmacokinetics of the converting enzyme inhibitor cilazapril in normal volunteers and the relationship to enzyme inhibition: development of a mathematical model. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 2:32-38.

Franciosa JA, Park M, Levine TB. (1981) Lack of correlation between exercise capacity and indexes of resting left ventricular performance in heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol. 47:33-39.

Friedland J, Setton C, Silverstein E.(1977) Angiotensin converting enzyme: induction by

steroids in rabbit alveolar macrophages in culture. Science 197:64-65.

Friedland J, Setton C, Silverstein E. (1978). Induction of angiotensin converting enzyme in human monocytes in culture. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 83:843-849.

Fyrquist F, Forslund T, Tikkanen I, Gronhagen-Riska C. (1980) Induction of angiotensin I converting enzyme in rat lung with captopril SQ 14285. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 67:473-478.

Fyhrquist F, Gronhagen-Riska C, Forslund T, Tikkanen I.(1982). Induction of angiotensin I-converting enzyme in rat lung with captopril: effect of adrenalectomy. Amer.J.Cardiol. 49:1508-1510.

Fyhrquist F, Tikkanen I, Gronhagen-Riska C, Hortling L, Hichens M. (1984). Inhibitor binding assay for angiotensin converting enzyme. Clin.Chem. 30:696-700.

Galie N, Varani E, Maiello L, et al. (1990) Usefulness of nicorandil in congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol. 65:343-348.

Ganong WF. (1989). The brain renin angiotensin system. Ann.Rev.Physiol. 46:17-31.

Ganten D, Hermann K, Unger T, Lang RE. (1983). The tissue renin-angiotensin systems: focus on brain angiotensin, adrenal gland and arterial wall. Clin.Exp.Hypertension A5:1099-1118.

Gasic S, Dudczak R, Korn A, Kleinbloesem CK. (1990). ACE inhibition with cilazapril improves myocardial perfusion to the ischaemic regions during exercise: a pilot study. J. Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 15:227-232.

Gavras H, Gavras I (1991) Cardioprotective potential of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. J.Hypertension 9:385-392

Ghali JK, Kadakia S, Cooper RS, Liao Y (1991) Bedside diagnosis of preserved versus impaired left ventricular systolic function in heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol. 67:1002-1006.

Gheorghiade M, Hall V, Lakier JB, Goldstein S.(1989). Comparative haemodynamic and neurohormonal effects of intravenous captopril and digoxin and their combinations in patients with severe heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 13:134-142.

Gibbs JSR, Crean PA, Mockus L, Wright C, Sutton GC, Fox KM. (1989). The variable effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on myocardial ischaemia in chronic stable angina. Br.Heart J. 62:112-117.

Gibbs JSR, Cunningham D, Shapiro LM, Park A, Poole-Wilson PA, Fox KM. (1989). Diurnal variation of pulmonary artery pressure in chronic heart failure. Br.Heart J. 62: 30-35.

Giles TD. (1991) Benefits of prolonged angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in congestive heart failure. Cardiology 79(supplt.1):16-21.

Giles TD, Katz R, Sullivan JM, et al (1989). Short and long acting angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: a randomised trial of lisinopril versus captopril in the treatment of congestive heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 13:1240-1247.

Gilgenkrantz JM, Flammang D (1987) Plasma concentrations of S-9490-1 and of its metabolites (S-9780-1 and the glucuroconjugate of S-9780-1 or X1) measured during studies of the haemodynamic effects of perindopril in heart failure. data on file Servier Europe, Courbevoie France.

Goldstein RF, Boccuzzi SJ, Cruess D, et al. (1991) Diltiazem increases late onset congestive heart failure in postinfarction patients with early reduction in ejection fraction. Circulation 1991; 83: 52-60.

Gollub SB, Elkayam U, Young JB, et al. (1991) Efficacy and safety of a short term (6h) intravenous infusion of dopexamine in patients with severe congestive heart failure: a randomised double-blind parallel placebo controlled multicenter study. J.Amer.Coll. Cardiol. 18:383-390.

Gotzsche CO, Sogaard P, Ravkilde J, Thygesen K (1992) Effects of captopril on left ventricular systolic and diastolic function after acute myocardial infarction. Amer. J.Cardiol. 70:156-160.

Gorodetskaya EA, Dugin SF, Medvedev OS, Allabergenova AE (1990) Simple method to produce acute heart failure by coronary vessel embolization in closed chest rats with microshperes. J.Pharmacol.Meth. 24:43-51.

Gradman A, Deedwania P, Cody R, et al. (1989) Predictors of total mortality and sudden death in mild to moderate heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol.14:564-570.

Grandi A, Venco A, Barzizza F, Petrucci E, Finardi G. (1988) Left ventricular response to cold stress after regression of hypertrophy induced by perindopril. Eur.Heart J. 9: (supplt.1):186.

Grislain L, Mocquard MT, Dabe JF, Bertand M, Luijten W, Marchand B, Resplandy G, Devissaguet M (1990) Interspecies comparison of the metabolic pathways of perindopril, a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. Xenobiotica 20:787-800.

Guyatt G, Sackett D, Taylor DW, et al.(1982) Determining optimal therapy - randomized trials in individual patients. N.Eng.J.Med. 314:889-892.

Haleen SJ, Weishaar RE, Overhiser RW, Bousley RF, Keiser JA, Rapundalo SR, Taylor DG (1991) Effects of quinapril, a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, on left ventricular failure and survival in the cardiomyopathic hamster: hemodynamic, morphological and biochemical correlates. Circulation Res. 68:1302-1312.

Hammarlund MM, Odlind B, Paalzow LK (1985) Acute tolerance to furosemide diuresis in humans. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling. J.Exp.Pharmacol.Ther. 233:447-453.

Hammarlund-Udenaes M, Benet LZ (1989) Furosemide pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in health and disease- an update. J.Biopharm.Pharmacokinet. 17:1-46.

Harrigan JR, Hughes DM, Meredith PA.(1990) Characterising inter species differences in ACE inhibition. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 27:656P.

Harrigan, J.R., Hughes, D.M., Meredith, P.A., Reid, J.L. (1989). Characterisation of the effects of prodrug concentration on the in vitro potency of the metabolites of five ACE inhibitors. Eur.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 36(Supplt 1):A186.

Herpin D, Santoni JPh, Pouyollon F, Demange J. (1989) Efficacy of perindopril and captopril in the treatment of mild to moderate hypertension. Curr.Ther.Res. 45:576-584.

Herrlin B, Sylven C, Nyquist O, Edhay O. (1990). Short term haemodynamic effects of converting enzyme inhibition before and after eating in patients with moderate heart failure caused by dilated cardiomyopathy. Br.Heart J. 63:26-31.

Hichens M, Hand EL, Mulchay NS. (1981) Radio-immunoassay for angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Ligand Quarterly 4:43-47.

Hinman LM, Stevens C, Matthay RA, Gee JBL. (1979). Angiotensin convertase activities in human alveolar macrophages: effects of cigarette smoking and sarcoidosis. Science 205, 202-206.

Hirakata H, Fouad-Tarazi FM, Bumpus FM, Khoshla M, Healy B, Husain A, Urata H, Kumagai H (1990) Angiotensins and the failing heart: enhanced positive inotropic response to angiotensin I in the cardiomyopathic hamster heart in the presence of captopril. Circulation Res. 66:891-899.

Hirsch AT, Talsness CE, Schunkert H, Paul M, Dzau VJ. (1991) Tissue specific activation of cardiac angiotensin converting enzyme in experimental heart failure. Circulation Res. 69:475-482.

Hirsch AT, Talsness CE, Smith AD, Schunkert H, Ingelfinger JR, Dzau VJ. (1991) Differential effects of captopril and enalapril on tissue renin angiotesin systems in experimental heart failure. Circulation 86:1566-1574.

Hockings N, Ajayi AA, Reid JL. (1986) Age and the pharmacokinetics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors enalapril and enalaprilat. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 21:341-348.

Hodsman GP, Isles CG, Murray GD, Usherwood TP, Webb DJ, Robertson JIS.(1983) Factors related to first dose hypotensive effect of captopril: prediction and treatment. Br. Med.J. 286:832-834.

Hodsman GP, Zabludowski JR, Zoccali C, Fraser R, Morton JJ, Murray GD, Robertson JIS (1984) Enalapril (MK421) and its lysine analogue (MK521): a comparison of acute and chronic effects on blood pressure renin angiotensin system and sodium excretion in normal man. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 17:233-241.

Hof RP, Novosel D, Evenou JP, Hof A (1992) Autonomic nervous system dysfunction alters drug effects: Implications for testing drugs for the treatment of heart failure. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 20:125-130.

Holford, N.G. & Sheiner, L.B. (1981). Understanding the dose effect relationship: clinical application of pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic models. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 6, 429-453.

Hollenberg NK, Meggs LG, Williams GH, Katz J, Garnic JD, Harrington DP (1981) Sodium intake and renal responses to captopril in normal man and in essential hypertension. Kid. Int. 20: 240-245.

Hollenberg NK, Williams GH.(1988) Angiotensin and the renal circulation in hypertension. Circulation 77 (supplt I):I59-I63.

Hollinger MA, Giri SN, Patwell S, Zuckerman JE, Gorin A, Parsons G. (1980) Effect of acute lung injury on angiotensin converting enzyme in serum, lung lavage and effusate. Amer.Rev.Resp.Dis. 121:373-376.

Hornung, RS Hillis WS.(1987). The acute haemodynamic effects of intravenous enalaprilic acid (MK422) in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 23:29-33.

Howell RE, Moalli R, Gillis CN. (1984) Analysis of rabbit pulmonary angiotensin converting enzyme kinetics in vivo. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Therap. 228:154-160.

Howes LG, Hodsman GP, Rowe PR, Sumithran E, Johnston CI. (1989) Cardiac 3,4dihydroxyphenylethylene glycol (DHPG) and catecholamine levels during perindopril therapy of chronic left ventricular failure in rats. J. Autonomic Pharmacol. 9:15-21.

Howes LG, Hodsman GP, Rowe PR, Johnston CI (1991) Comparative effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition (Perindopril) or diuretic therapy on cardiac hypertrophy and sympathetic activity following myocardial infarction in rats. Cardiovasc.Drugs.Ther. 5:147-152.

Howes LG, Millar SK, Reid JL (1985) The simultaneous assay of 3,4 dihydroxyphenylethylene glycol and norepinephrine in human plasma by HPLC with electrochemical detection. J. Chromatog. 338: 401-403.

Ibarra-Rubio ME, Pena JC, Pedraza-Chaverri JP.(1989) Kinetic and inhibitory characteristics of serum angiotensin converting enzyme from nine mammalian species. Comparat.Biochem.Physiol.92B:399-403.

Ideishi M, Sasaguri M, Ikeda M, Arakawa K.(1990). Substrate dependent angiotensin II formation in the peripheral circulation. Life Sci. 46, 335-341.

Igihara T, Mikami H, Higaki J, Nagano M, Higashimori K, Kohara K, Hamanaka Y (1992) Clinical application of a new potent angiotensin II receptor antagonist TCV-116. J. Hypertension 10(supplt.4):S129.

Ikeda T, Nakayama D, Gomi T, Sakurai J, Yamazaki T, Yuhara M. (1989) Captopril, an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, decreases proteinuria in hypertensive patients. Nephron 52:72-75.

Ikram H, Chan W, Espiner EA, Nicholls MG (1980) Haemodynamic and hormonal responses to acute and chronic frusemide therapy in congestive heart failure. Clin.Sci. 59:443-449.

Irvin JD, Viau JM. (1986) Safety profiles of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors captopril and enalapril. Amer.J.Med. 81 (supplt.4C):46-50.

Iwata K, Lai CY, El-Dorry HA, Soffer RL.(1982) The NH₂ and C00H terminal sequences of angiotensin converting enzyme isoenzymes from rabbit lung and testis. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 107:1097-1103.

Iwata K, Lai C, El-Dorry HA, Soffer RL.(1982). The NH_{2v} and COOH terminal sequences of angiotensin converting enzyme isoenzymes from rabbit lung and testis. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 107:1097-1103.

Jackson B, Cubela R, Johnston CI.(1986) Angiotensin converting enzyme measurement in human serum using radioinhibitor ligand binding. Aust.J.Exp.Biol.Med.Sci. 64:149-155.

Jackson B, Cubela RB, Johnston CI (1987). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: measurement of relative inhibitory potency and serum drug levels by radioinhibitor binding displacement assay. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9:699-704.

Jackson B, Cubela RB, Johnston CI (1988a). Inhibition of tissue ACE by perindopril: in vivo assessment in the rat using radioinhibitor binding displacement. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 245:950-955.

Jackson B, Cubela RB, Johnston CI. (1988b) Effects of perindopril on angiotensin converting enzyme in tissues of the rat. J. Hypertension 6(supplt.3):S51-S54.

Jackson B, Cubela RB, Sakaguchi K, Johnston CI (1988). Characterisation of angiotensin converting enzyme in the testis and assessment of the in vivo effects of the ACE inhibitor perindopril. Endocrinol. 122:50-55.

Jackson B, McGrath BP, Maher D, Johnston CI, Matthews PG. (1988c) Lack of cross sensitivity between captopril and enalapril. Aust.N.Zealand J.Med.18:21-27.

Jacobsen J, Poulsen K, Hunding A (1988). Alternative routes for angiotensin I conversion: kinetics of the renin angiotensin system in mouse plasma. Eur.J.Clin.Invest. 18:178-183.

Jezek V, Jezkova J, Michaljanic A, Niederle P, et al. (1990) Long term effect of isosorbide dinitrate and nifedipine, singly and in association, in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur.Heart J. 11:1059-1064.

Joderlinic, P., Hill, N., Ou, L.C. & Fanburg, B.L. (1988). Lung angiotensin converting enzyme activity in rats with differing susceptibilities to chronic hypoxia. Thorax 43: 703-707.

Johnson CIJ, Kerr JH (1985) Automatic blood pressure recorders: a clinical evaluation of five models in adults. Anaesthesia 40:471-478.

Johnston CI(1988). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors <u>in</u> Doyle, A.E. (ed) Handbook of Hypertension Vol.11, Antihypertensive drugs, pp 301-326; Elsevier Amsterdam.

Johnston CI (1990) Biochemistry and pharmacology of the renin angiotensin system. Drugs 39 (supplt 1):21-31.

Johnston CI, Cubela R, Jackson B (1988). Relative inhibitory potency and plasma drug levels of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in the rat. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol. 15:123-129.

Johnston CI, Cubela R, Sakaguchi K, Jackson B. (1987a) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in plasm and tissue. Clin.Exp. Hypertension 9:699-705.

Johnston CI, Cubela R, Jackson B. (1988c) Relative inhibitory potency and plasma drug levels of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in the rat. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol. 15:123-129.

Johnston CI, Fabris B, Yamada H, Mendelsohn FAO, Cubela R, Sivell D, Jackson B. (1989). Comparative studies of tissue inhibition by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. J.Hypertension 7(supplt.5): S11-S16.

Johnston CI, Mendelsohn FAO, Cubela RB, Jackson B, Kohzuki M, Fabris B. (1988d) Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) in plasma and tissues: studies ex vivo after administration of ACE inhibitors. J.Hypertension 6(supplt. 3):S17-S22.

Johnston GD, Nicholls DP, Leahey WJ (1984) The dose response characteristics of the acute non-diuretic peripheral vascular effects of frusemide in normal subjects. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 18:75-81.

Johnson H, Drummer OH (1988). Hydrolysis of angiotensin I by peptidases in homogenates of rat lung and aorta. Biochem.Pharmacol. 37:1131-1136.

Jordan RA, Seith L, Henry DA, et al. (1985) Dose requirements and hemodynamic effects of transdermal nitroglycerin compared with placebo in patients with congestive heart failure. Circulation 71:980-986.

Juillerat L, Nussberger J, Menard J, Mooser V, Christen Y, Waeber B, Graf P, Brunner HR. (1990) Determinants of angiotensin II generation during converting enzyme inhibition. Hypertension 16:564-572.

Kamei K, Shiraki Y, Koga T, Sakai K.(1989). Contribution of the tissue angiotensin converting enzyme to the antihypertensive effect of altiopril calcium (MC-838) in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J.Pharm.Pharmacol. 41:279-280.

Kannel WB (1989) Epidemiological aspects of heart failure. Cardiol.Clin. 7:1-9.

Kannel WB, Plehn JF, Cupples LA.(1989) Cardiac failure and sudden death in the Framingham study. Amer.Heart J.115:869-875.

Katz AM (1990) Angiotensin II: Hemodynamic regulator or growth factor? J.Mol.Cell.Cardiol. 22:739-747.

Katz RJ, Levy WS, Buff L, et al. (1991) Prevention of nitrate tolerance with ACE inhibitors. Circulation 83:1271-1277.

Keane WF, Anderson S, Aurell M, de Zeeuw D, Narins R, Povar G.(1989). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and progressive renal insufficiency: current experience and

future directions. Ann.Int.Med. 111:503-516.

Kelley, J. (1988). Lavage angiotensin converting enzyme as a marker of lung injury. Amer.Rev.Resp.Dis. 137:531-534.

Kelman AW, Reid JL, Millar JA (1982). Concentration effect modelling with converting enzyme inhibitors in man. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 15:506-507.

Kelman AW, Whiting B. (1980) Modelling of drug response in individual subjects. J.Pharmacokin.Biopharmaceut. 8:115-130

Kiowski W, Linder L, Kleinbloesem CK, van Brummelen P, Buhler FR (1992) Blood pressure control by the renin angiotensin system in normotensive subjects: assessment by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition and renin inhibition. Circulation 85:1-8.

Kiowski W, van Brummelen P, Hulthen L, Amann FW, Buhler FR. (1982). Antihypertensive and renal effects of captopril in relation to renin activity and bradykinin induced vasodilatation. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 31:677-683.

Kirch W, Stroemer K, Hoogkamer JFW, Kleinbloesem CH. (1989) The influence of prostaglandin inhibition by indomethacin on blood pressure and renal function in hypertensive patients treated with cilazapril. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 27:297S-301S.

Kirlin PC, Das S, Pitt B. (1985) Chronic alpha adrenoceptor blockade with trimazosin in congestive heart failure. Int.J.Cardiol. 8:89-92.

Kirlin PC, Dansby C, Laird CK, Willis PN. (1988) Discrepancy between first dose converting enzyme inhibition at rest and subsequent inhibition during exercise in chronic heart failure. Clin.Pharmacol.Therap. 43:616-622.

Klahr S. (1989). The kidney in hypertension - villain and victim. N.Engl.J.Med. 320:731-733.

Kleber FX, Niemoller L, Doering W. (1992) Improving prognosis of mild congestive heart failure with captopril. Br.Heart J. 67:289-296.

Koch-Weser J.(1965). Nature of the inotropic action of angiotensin on ventricular myocardium. Circulation Res. 16:230-237.

Kramer B, Topic N, Massie B. (1982). Acute and long term effects of captopril on exercise cardiac performance and exercise capacity in congestive heart failure. Br.J.Clin. Pharmacol. 14:143S-151S.

Kubo SH, Cody RJ. (1985). Clinical Pharmacokinetics of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors: a review. Clin.Pharmacokinet. 10:377-391.

Kubo SH, Cody RJ, Laragh JH, Prida XE, Atlas SA, Yuan Z, Sealey JE. (1985). Immediate converting enzyme inhibition with intravenous enalapril in chronic congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol. 55:122-126.

Kubo SH, Clark M, Laragh JH, Borer JS, Cody RJ. (1987). Identification of normal neurohormonal activity in mild congestive heart failure and stimulating effect of upright

posture and diuretics. Amer.J.Cardiol. 60:1322-1328.

Labarre TR, O'Connell JB, Gunar RM. (1982). Captopril therapy for severe CHF: hypotensive response in presence of markedly elevated PRA. Amer.Heart J. 103:308-309.

Lamas GA, Pfeffer MA. (1991). Left ventricular remodelling after acute myocardial infarction: clinical course and beneficial effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition. Amer.Heart J. 121:1194-1202.

Lancaster SG, Todd PA. (1988) Lisinopril: A preliminary review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic use in hypertension and congestive heart failure. Drugs 35:646-669.

Lantz P, Enghoff E, Hedlund A, Hagg A.(1984). Hemodynamic results of perorally administered converting enzyme inhibitors in congestive heart failure. Scand.J.Urol. Nephrol. 79(supplt.):129-132.

Lanzillo JJ, Dasarthy Y, Stevens J, Fanburg BL. (1986) Coversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II by a latent endothelial cell peptidyl dipeptidase that is not angiotensin converting enzyme. Biochem.Biophy.Res.Commun. 134:770-776.

Laragh JH. (1989). Nephron heterogeneity due to the pathogenesis of essential hypertension and effectiveness of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor treatment. Amer.J.Med. 87(Suppl.6B):2S-14S.

Laragh JH, Case DB, Atlas SA, Sealey JE (1980) Captopril compared with other antirenin system agents in hypertensive patients: its triphasic effects on blood pressure and its use to identify and treat the renin factor. Hypertension 2: 586-593.

Larmour I, Jackson B, Cubela R, Johnston CI (1985) Enalapril (MK421) activation in man: importance of liver status. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 19:701-704.

Laubie M, Schiari P, Vincent M, Schmitt H. (1984) Inhibition of angiotensin-I converting enzyme with S9490: Biochemical effects, interspecies differences and role of sodium diet in haemodynamic effects. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 6:1076-1082.

Lecocq B, Funck-Brentano C, Lecocq V, Ferry A, Gardin ME, Devissaguet M, Jaillon P (1990) Influence of food on the pharmacokinetics of perindopril and the time course of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in serum. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 47:397-402.

Lees KR, Green ST, Reid JL. (1988) Influence of age on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of perindopril. Clin.Pharmacol.Therap. 44:418-425.

Lees KR, Kelman AW, Reid JL, Whiting B.(1989). Pharmacokinetics of an ACE inhibitor S9780, in man: evidence of tissue binding. J. Pharmacokinet. Biopharmaceut. 17:529-550.

Lees KR, Reid JL. (1987a) Age and the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of chronic enalapril treatment. Clin.Pharmacol.Therap. 41:597-602.

Lees KR, Reid JL. (1987b) Effects of intravenous S-9780, an angiotensin converting

enzyme inhibitor in normotensive subjects. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 10:129-135.

Lees, KR, Reid JL. (1987c) Haemodynamic and humoral effects of oral perindopril, an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, in man. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 23:159-164.

Lees KR, Reid JL. (1987d) The haemodynamic and humoral effects of treatment for one month with the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril in salt replete hypertensive patients. Eur.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 31:519-524.

Lees KR, Reid JL. (1989) Perindopril, <u>In</u> Messerli F. (ed) Current Cardiovascular Drug Therapy, Chapter 64, WB Saunders, Philadelphia.

Lees KR, Reid JL, Scott MGB, Hosie J, Herpin D, Santoni JP.(1989) Captopril versus perindopril: a double blind study in essential hypertension. J.Hum.Hypertension 3:17-22.

Lefer DJ, Hock C, Ribero LGT, Lefer AM (1986) Effects of Lisinopril, a new angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in a cryo-injury model of chronic left ventricular failure. Meth.Find.Exp.Clin.Pharmacol. 8:357-362.

Lever AF. (1986) Slow pressor mechanisms in hypertension: a role for hypertrophy of resistance vessels? J. Hypertension 4:515-524.

Lever AF. (1989) Renin: endocrine, paracrine or part-paracrine control of blood pressure? Amer.J.Hypertension 2:276-285.

Levy BI, Michel JB, Salzmann JL, Azizi M, Poitevin P, Safar M, Camilleri JP. (1988) Effects of chronic inhibition of converting enzyme on mechanical and structural properties of arteries in rat renovascular hypertension. Cardiovascular Res. 63:227-239.

Levy BI, Michel JB, Salzmann JL, Devissaguet M, Safar M (1991) Remodeling of heart and arteries by chronic converting enzyme inhibiton in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Amer.J.Hypertension 4:240s-245s.

Lindpaintner K, Wilhelm MJ, Jin M, Unger T, Lang RE, Schoelkens BA, Ganten D. (1987). Tissue renin-angiotensin systems: focus on the heart. J.Hypertension 5(supplt.2): S33-S38.

Linehan JH, Bronikowski TA, Rickaby DA, Dawson CA. (1990). Hydrolysis of a synthetic angiotensin converting enzyme substrate in dog lungs. J.Appl.Physiol. 257: H2006-H2016.

Linehan JH, Dawson CA, Rickaby DA, Bronikowski TA, Gillis BN, Pitt BR. (1985). Pulmonary endothelial angiotensin converting enzyme kinetics <u>in</u> Carrier mediated transport of solutes from blood to tissue, Yudelevich, D.L., Mann, G.E. (eds) Longman London. p.251-264.

Linz W, Scholkens BA, Ganten D. (1989). Converting enzyme inhibition specifically prevents the development and induces regression of cardiac hypertrophy in rats. Clin. Exp. Hypertension A11:1325-50.

Linz W, Schaper J, Wiemer G, Albus U, Schwolkens BA.(1992) Ramipril prevents left

.

ventricular hypertrophy with myocardial fibrosis without blood pressure reduction: a one year study in rats. Br.J.Pharmacol. 107:970-975.

Lipke DW. Olson KR. (1988). Distribution of angiotensin-converting enzyme-like activity in vertebrate tissues. Physiol. Zool. 61:420-428.

Lipkin DP. Poole-Wilson PA. (1985). Treatment of chronic heart failure: a review of recent drug trials. Br.Med.J. 291:993-996.

Luccioni R, Frances Y, Gass R, Schwab C, Santoni JPh, Perret L. (1988) Evaluation of the dose effect relationship of a new ACE inhibitor (perindopril) by an automatic blood pressure recorder. Eur. Heart J. 9:1131-1136.

Marchetti GV. (1990) Pharmacological profile of ibopamine: a summary of experiments on anaesthetised dogs. Cardiology 77(supplt 5):22-29.

Marchetti J, Roseau S, Alhenc-Gelas F. (1987). Angiotensin I converting enzyme and kinin hydrolysing enzymes along the rabbit nephron. Kidney Int. 31:744-751.

Mark AL. (1983) The Bezhold-Jarisch reflex revisited: clinical implications of inhibitory reflexes originating in the heart. J. Amer.Coll.Cardiol 1:90-102.

Markus H, Cowley AJ. (1991) The central haemodynamic effects of a single intravenous dose of Flosequinan in patients with severe heart failure. Eur.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 40:535-538.

Marre M, Leblanc H, Suarez L, Guyenne TT, Menard J, Passa P.(1987) Converting enzyme inhibition and kidney function in normotensive diabetic patients with persistent microalbuminuria. Br.Med.J. 294:1448-1452.

Martin MT, Holmquist B, Riordan JF. (1989). An angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor is a tight binding slow substrate of carboxypeptidase A. J.Inorganic Biochem. 36:39-50.

Massie BM (1988) Exercise tolerance in congestive heart failure: role of cardiac function, peripheral blood flow and muscle metabolism and effect of treatment. Amer.J.Med 84(supplt 3A):75-82.

Massie B, Conway M, ^Vonge R, Frostick S, Ledingham J, Sleight P, Radda G, Rajagopalan B (1987) Skeletal muscle metabolism in patients with congestive heart failure: relation to clinical severity and blood flow. Circulation 76:1009-1019.

Massie BM, Kramer BL, Topic N.(1984). Lack of relationship between the short term haemodynamic effects of captopril and subsequent clinical responses. Circulation 69: 1135-1141.

Massie BM, Leier CV, Unverferth DV. (1984). Hemodynamic changes following placebo administration: implications for drug studies. Circulation 70 (Suppl.II):112.

McLay JS, McMurray J, Bridges A, Struthers AD. (1992) Practical issues when initiating captopril therapy in chronic heart failure. Eur.Heart J.13:1521-1527.

McMurray, J., Lang, C.C., Maclean, D.D., McDevitt, D.G. & Struthers, A.D. (1989). A survey of current use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors by Scottish physicians in the treatment of chronic cardiac failure. Scot.Med.J. 34:425-427.

McMurray J, McDevitt DG (1990) Treatment of heart failure in the elderly. Br. Med. Bull. 46:202-229.

McMurray J, MacLenachan JL, Dargie HJ (1991) Unique cardioprotective effects of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme inhibitors: a hypothesis still to be tested in humans. J.Hypertension 9:393-397.

Mebazaa A, Chevalier B, Mercadier JJ, Echter E, Rappaport L, Swynghedauw B. (1989). A review of the renin angiotensin system in the normal heart. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 14(supplt.4): S16-S20.

Mehra A, Ostrzega E, Shotan A, Johnson JV, Elkayam U.(1992) Persistent haemodynamic improvement with short term nitrate therapy in patients with chronic congestive heart failure already treated with captopril. Amer.J.Cardiol.70:1310-1314.

Meijer DKF, Weert B, Vermeer GA. (1988) Pharmacokinetics of biliary excretion in man. VI: Indocyanine Green. Eur. J.Clin.Pharmacol. 35:295-303.

Melbourne Diabetic Nephropathy Study Group (1991) Comparison between perindopril and nifedipine in hypertensive and normotensive diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Br.Med.J.302:210-216.

Menard J. Guyenne TT, Corvol P, Pau B, Simon D, Ronchuci R (1985) Direct immunometric assay of active renin in human plasma. J. Hypertension 23(supplt.3):275-278.

Mendelsohn FAO (1985) Localization and properties of angiotensin receptors. J.Hypertension 3:307-314.

Merrill AJ, Morrison JR, Brannan EG. (1946). Concentration of renin in renal venous blood in patients with chronic heart failure. Amer.J.Med. 1:468-472.

Metzger R, Wagner D, Takahashi S, Suzuki F, Lindpaintner K, Ganten D.(1988) Tissue renin angiotensin systems: aspects of molecular biology and pharmacology. Clin.Exp. Hypertension Theory and Practice A10:1227-1238.

Michel JB, Dussaule JC, Choudat L, Auzan C, Nochy D, Corvol P, Menard J. (1986) Effects of antihypertensive treatment in one clip, two kidney hypertension in rats. Kid. Int. 29:1011-1020.

Michel JB, Salzmann JL, Cerol MdeL, Dussaule JC, Azizi M, Corman B, Canilleri JP, Corvol P. (1988a) Myocardial effect of converting enzyme inhibition in hypertensive and normotensive rats. Amer.J.Med. 84(supplt.3A):12-20a.

Michel JB, Lattion AL, Salzmann JL, Cerol MdeL, Philippe M, Canilleri JP, Corvol P. (1988b) Hormonal and cardiac effects of converting enzyme inhibition in rat myocardial infarction. Circulation Res. 62:641-650.

Michorowski B, Ceremuzynski L (1983). The renin angiotensin aldosterone system and the clinical course of acute myocardial infarction. Eur.Heart J. 4:259-264.

Millar JA, Leckie BJ, Morton JJ, Jordan J, Tree M (1981) A microassay for total and active renin concentrations in human plasma based on antibody trapping. Clin.Chim Acta 101:5-15.

Mimran A, Brunner HR, Turini GA, Waeber B, Brunner DB.(1979) Effect of captopril on renal vascular tone in patients with essential hypertension. Clin.Sci.57:421S-423S.

Miyazaki M, Okunishi H, Nishimura K, Toda N. (1984) Vascular angiotensin converting enzyme activity in man and other species. Clin.Sci. 66:39-45.

Mizuno K, Nakamaru M, Higashimori K, Iganami T. (1988). Local generation and release of Angiotensin II in peripheral vascular tissue. Hypertension 11:223-229.

Moalli R, Howell RE, Gillis CN. (1985). Kinetics of captopril and enalapril induced inhibition of pulmonary angiotensin converting enzyme in vivo. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 234:372-377.

Mochizuki T, Eberli FR, Apstein CS, Lorell BH (1992) Exacerbation of ishaemic dysfunction by angiotensin II in red cell perfused rabbit hearts. J.Clin.Invest. 89:490-498.

Mooser V, Nussberger J, Juillerat L, Burnier M, Waeber B, Bidiville J, Pauly N, Brunner HR. (1990). Reactive hyperreninaemia is a major determinant of plasma angiotensin II during ACE inhibition. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 15:276-282.

Morgan T, Anderson A, Wilson D, Murphy J, Nowson C. (1987) The effect of perindopril on blood pressure in humans on different sodium intakes. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 10(supplt.7):S116-S118.

Morin JP, Moulin B, Borghi H, Grise P, Fillastre JP. (1989). Comparative regional distribution of angiotensin-1-converting enzyme in the rat, rabbit, dog, monkey and human kidneys. Renal Physiol. Biochem. 12:96-103.

Morton JJ, Webb DJ (1985) Measurement of plasma angiotensin II. Clin.Sci. 68:483-486.

Motwani JG, Struthers AD (1992) Captopril augments both basal and frusemide induced natriuresis in normal man by suppression of circulating angiotensin II. Br.J.Clin. Pharmacol. 34:25-31.

Motwani JG, Struthers AD (1992) Dose-response study of the redistribution of intravascular volume by angiotensin II in man. Clin.Sci. 82:397-405.

Motwani JG, Fenwick MK, Morton JJ, Struthers AD (1992) Frusemide induced natriuresis is augmented by ultra low dose captopril but not by standard doses of captopril in chronic heart failure. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 34:25-31.

Mournier F, Hinglais N, Sich M, et al (1987). Ontogenesis of angiotensin I converting enzyme in human kidney. Kid.Int. 32: 684-690.

Moursi MG, Ganten D, Lang RE, Unger T. (1986) Antihypertensive action and inhibition of tissue converting enzyme by three prodrug converting enzyme inhibitors, enalapril, ramipril and perindopril in stroke prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. J. Hypertension 4(supplt.3): S495-S498.

Moye LA, Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E for the SAVE investigators (1991) Rationale ,design and baseline characteristics of the survival and ventricular enalrgement trial. Amer.J.Cardiol.68:70D-79D.

Mujais SK, Fouad FM, Textor SC, Tarazi RC, Bravo EL, Hart N, Gifford RW (1984). Transient renal dysfunction during initial inhibition of converting enzyme in congestive heart failure. Br.Heart J. 52:63-71.

Muller JE, Tofler GH, Stone PH (1989) Circadian variation and triggers of onset of acute cardiovascular disease. Circulation 79:733-743.

Munger MA, Benotti JR, Green JA, et al. (1990) Assessment of hemodynamic tolerance from a 24 hour intravenous infusion of fenoldopam mesylate in congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol. 65:206-210.

Myers J, Froelicher VF (1991) Hemodynamic determinants of exercise capacity in chronic heart failure. Ann.Int.Med. 115:377-386.

Nabel EG, Topol EJ, Galeana A, et al. (1991). A randomised placebo controlled trial of combined early intravenous captopril and recombinant tissue type plasminogen activator therapy in acute myocardial infarction. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 17: 467-73.

Naschitz JE, Yeshurun D, Shahar J (1990) Cardiogenic hepatorenal syndrome. Angiology 41:893-899.

Navar GI, Rosivall L. (1984). Contribution of the renin angiotensin system to the control of intararenal haemodynamics. Kid.Int. 25:857-868.

Navis G, de Jong PE, Donker AJB, van der Hem GK, de Zeeuw D (1987) Diuretic effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition: comparison of low and liberal sodium diet in hypertensive patients. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9:743-748.

Navis G, de Jong PE, Donker AJB, van der Hem GK, de Zeeuw D (1987) Diuretic effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition: comparison of low and liberal sodium diet in hypertensive patients. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9:743-748.

Neilly JB, Clark J, Tweddel A, Rae AP, Hughes DM, Hutton I, Morton JJ, Stevenson RD (1987). Transpulmonary angiotensin II formation in patients with chronic stable cor pulmonale. Am.Rev.Respir.Dis. 135:891-895.

Neter J, Wasserman W. (1974) Inferences in regression analysis. <u>In</u>: Applied Linear Statistical Models. Illinois. Chapter 7, p.87-92.

Ng KK. Vane JR (1968). Fate of angiotensin I in the circulation. Nature 218:144-150.

Nishimura, H., Ogawa, M. & Sawyer, W.H. (1973). Renin angiotensin system in

primitive bony fish and a holocephalian. Amer. J. Physiol. 224:950-956.

Nussberger J, Juillerat L, Perret F, Waeber B, Bellet M, Brunner J, Menard J. (1989) Need for plasma angiotensin measurements to investigate converting enzyme inhibition in humans. Amer.Heart J. 117:717-721.

Nussberger J, Juillerat L, Mooser V, Waeber B, Graf P, Menard J, Brunner HR. (1988) Plasma angiotensin I determines the rate of angiotensin II generation even during ACE inhibition. Clin.Exp.Hypertension - Theory/Practice A10: 1295-1296.

Nussberger J, Waeber G, Bidiville J, Waeber B, Brunner HR. (1987) Pharmacodynamic and humoral effects of single intravenous doses of captopril in normal subjects. Clin. Exp. Hypertension A9:345-349.

Ogihara T, et al (1977) A non-chromatographic non-extraction radioimmunoassay for serum aldosterone. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab. 45:726-731.

Okamura T, Miyazaki M, Inagami T, Toda N. (1986). Vascular renin angiotensin system in two kidney one clip hypertensive rats. Hypertension 8:560-565.

Okamura T, Ikunishi H, Ayajiki K, Toda N. (1990). Conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II in dog isolated renal artery: role of two different angiotensin II-generating enzymes. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 15:353-359.

Okunishi H, Ishii K, Sakonjo H, Miyazaki M (1992) Comparison of effects on blood pressure (BP) and renal function of three different inhibitors that interfere with the renin angiotensin system at various steps. J.Hypertension 1(supplt.4):s145.

Oliver RM, Peacock AJ, Fleming JS, Waller DG. (1989). Renal and pulmonary effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in chronic hypoxic lung disease. Thorax 44: 513-515.

Ondetti MA, Cushman DW.(1982) Enzymes of the renin angiotensin system and their inhibitors. Ann.Rev.Biochem. 51: 238-264.

Ondetti MA, Rubin B, Cushman DW. (1977). Design of specific inhibitors of angiotensin converting enzyme: new class of orally active antihypertensive agents. Science 196:441-444.

Ondetti MA, Williams NJ, Sabo EF, Pluscec J, Cleaver ER, Kocy O.(1971). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors from the venom of Borthops jararaca: isolation, elucidation of structure and synthesis. Biochemistry 10:4033-4039.

Ohnishi A, Tsuboi Y, Ishizaki T, Kubota K, Ohno T, Yoshida H, Kanezaki A, Tanaka T (1989) Kinetics and dynamics of enalapril in patients with liver cirrhosis. Clin. Pharmacol.Ther. 44:418-425.

O'Neill CJA, Charlett A, Dobbs RJ, Deshmukh AA, Bowes SG, Weller C, Nicholson PW, Milledge JS, Dobbs SM (1992) Effect of captopril on functional, physiological and biochemical outcome criteria in aged heart failure patients. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 33:167-178.

Packer M. (1988a) Clinical trials in congestive heart failure: why do studies report conflicting results?. Ann.Int.Med.109:3-5.

Packer M. (1989) Therapeutic options in the management of chronic heart failure, is there a drug of first choice?. Circulation 79: 198-204.

Packer M. (1990a) The placebo effect in heart failure. Amer. Heart J. 120:1579-1582.

Packer M. (1990b) Calcium channel blockers in chronic heart failure: the riskd of "physiologically rational" therapy. Circulation 82:2254-2257.

Packer M. (1992) The neurohormonal hypothesis: A theory to explain the mechanism of disease progression in heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol.20:248-254.

Packer M, Carver JR, Rodeheffer RJ, et al. (1991) Effect of oral milrinone on mortality in severe chronic heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med. 325:1468-1475.

Packer M, Gottlieb SS, Blum MA. (1987) Immediate and long term pathophysiologic mechanisms underlying the genesis of sudden cardiac death in patients with congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Med.82(supplt.3A): 4-10.

Packer M, Gottlieb SS, Kessler PD. (1986a). Hormone electrolyte interactions in the pathogenesis of lethal cardiac arrhythmias in patients with congestive heart failure: basis of a new physiological approach to control of arrhythmia. Amer.J.Med. 80(supplt.4A): 23-29.

Packer M, Kessler PD, Gottlieb SS. (1986b). Adverse effects of converting enzyme inhibition in patients with severe congestive heart failure: pathophysiology and management. Postgrad.Med.J. 62(Suppl.1):179-182.

Packer M, Gottlieb SS, Blum MA. (1987). Immediate and long term pathophysiologic mechanisms underlying the genesis of sudden cardiac death in patients with congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Med. 82(Suppl.3A):4-10.

Packer M, Lee WH, Medina N, Yushak M (1985) Hemodynamic and clinical significance of the pulmonary vascular response to long term captopril therapy in patients with severe chronic heart failure. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 6:635-645.

Packer M, Medina N, Yushak M. (1985). Haemodynamic changes mimicking a vasodilator drug response in the absence of drug therapy after right heart catheterisation in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 71: 761-766.

Packer M, Medina N, Yushak M. Lee WH. (1985) Usefulness of plasma renin activity in predicting haemodynamic and clinical responses and survival during long term converting enzyme inhibition in severe chronic heart failure. Br.Heart J. 54:298-304.

Packer M, Medina N, Yushak M, Meller J. (1983). Haemodynamic patterns of response during long term captopril therapy for severe chronic heart failure. Circulation 68: 803-812.

Pedersen EB, Sorensen SS, Andisen A, Danielsen H, Eiskjoer H, Hansen HH, Jensen FT, Jespersen B, Madsen B, Nielsen HK. (1989) Abnormal glomerular and tubular function

during angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in renovascular hypertension evaluated by lithium clearance method. Eur.J.Clin.Invest. 19: 135-141.

Perich RB, Jackson B, Attwood MR, Prior K, Johnston CI. (1991) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors act at two different binding sites on angiotensin converting enzyme. Pharmacol.Lett. 1:41-43.

Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E, Moye LA et al, on behalf of the SAVE Investigators (1992) Effect of captopril on mortality and morbidity in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. N.Eng.J.Med. 327:669-677.

Pfeffer MA, Lamas GA, Vaughan DE, Parisi AF, Braunwald E. (1988). Effect of captopril on progressive ventricular dilatation after anterior myocardial infarction. N. Eng.J.Med. 319: 80-86.

Pfeffer JM, Pfeffer MA, Fletcher PJ, Braunwald E (1991) Progressive ventricular remodelling in rat with myocardial, infarction. Amer.J.Physiol. 260:H1406-H1414.

Pfeffer MA, Pfeffer JM, Steinberg C, Finn P. (1985) Survival after experimental myocardial infarction: beneficial effects of long term therapy with captopril. Circulation 72: 406- 412.

Phillips MI, Kimura B. (1986) Converting enzyme inhibitors and brain angiotensin. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 8 (supplt. 10):582-590.

Piquilloud Y, Reinharz A, Rothe M. (1970). Studies on angiotensin converting enzyme with different substrates. Biochim.Biophys.Acta. 206:136-142.

Pitt BR, Lister G, Davies P, Reid LM (1987) Effects of changes in pulmonary perfusion and surface area on endothelial ACE activity. Ann.Biomed.Engineering 15:229-238.

Plouin PF, Cudek P, Arnal JF, Guyene TT, Corvol P (1990) Immunoradiometric assay of active renin versus determination of plasma renin activity in the clinical investigation of hypertension, congestive heart failure, and liver cirrhosis. Horm.Res. 34:138-141.

Polsky-Cynkin R, Fanburg BL. (1979). Immunochemical comparison of angiotensin I converting enzyme from different rat organs. Int. J. Biochem. 10: 669-674.

Poole-Wilson PA (1988) The origin of symptoms in patients with heart failure. Eur.Heart J. 9(supplt.H):49-53.

Poole-Wilson PA (1989) Exercise as a means of assessing heart failure and its response to treatment. Cardiology 76:347-356.

Porter TR, Eckberg DL, Fritsch JM, Rea RF, Beightol LA, Schmedtje JF, Mothanty PK. (1990) Autonomic pathophysiology in heart failure patients: sympathetic cholinergic inter relations. J.Clin.Invest. 85:1362-1371.

Postma CT, Dennesen PJW, de Boo T, Thien T (1992) First dose hypotension after captopril: can it be predicted?-a study of 240 patients. J.Hum.Hypertension 6:205-209.

Rademaker M, Shaw TRD, Williams BC, Duncan FM, Corrie J, Eglen A, Edwards CRW. (1986) Intravenous captopril in patients with severe cardiac failure. Br.Heart J. 55:187-190.

Raij L, Schultz PJ, Tolins JP. (1989). Possible mechanism for the renoprotective effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. J. Hypertension 7(supplt.7): S23-S37.

Rajagopalan B, Raine AEG, Cooper R, Ledingham JGG. (1984). Changes in cerebral blood flow in patients with severe congestive cardiac failure before and after captopril treatment. Amer.J.Med. 112:86-90.

Ralston M, Jennrich RI, Sampson PF. et al (1979) Fitting pharmacokinetic models with BMD-PAR. Technical Report No. 58, BMDP Statistical Software, UCLA.

Reams GP, Souther M, Parisi M, Van Stone J, Bauer JH.(1989) Angiotensin peptides in human subjects. J.Lab.Clin.Med. 113:749-752.

Reams GP, Lal SM, Whalen JJ, Bauer JH. (1986) Enalaprilat: an intravenous substitute for oral enalapril therapy. Humoral and pharmacokinetic effects. J.Clin.Hypertension 3: 245-253.

Reicher-Reiss H, Barasch E. (1991) Calcium antagonists in patients with heart failure. A review. Drugs 42:343-364.

Rescigno A, Beck JS. (1987) Perspectives in pharmacokinetics: the use and abuse of models. J.Pharmacokinet.Biopharmaceut. 15:327-340.

Riegger GAJ. (1989) ACE inhibitors in congestive heart failure. Cardiology 76(supplt. 2):42-49.

Riegger GAJ, Kahles H, Wagner A, et al. (1990) Exercise capacity, hemodynamic and neurohormonal changes following acute and chronic administration of Flosequinan in chronic congestive heart failure. Cardiovasc.Drugs Ther. 4:1395-1402.

Remme WJ. (1989). Vasodilator therapy without converting enzyme inhibition in congestive cardiac failure - usefulness and limitations. Cardiovasc.Drugs Ther. 3:375-396.

Reyes AJ, Leary WP Van der Bylk, Santoni JP. (1988) Effects of the angiotensin-I converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril on timed urinary excretion of water and solutes in healthy subjects. Curr.Therap.Res. 44:619-629.

Rhaleb NE, Rouissi N, Nantel F, D'Orleans-Juste P, Regoli D (1991) DuP 753 is a specific antagonist for the angiotensin receptor. Hypertension 17:480-484.

Ribuot C, Rochette L.(1987) Converting enzyme inhibitors prevent early post infarction ventricular fibrillation in the anaesthetised rat. Cardiovas. Drugs Ther. 1:51-55.

Richardson A, Bayliss J, Scriven AJ, Parameshwar J, Poole-Wilson PA, Sutton GC (1987) Double blind comparison of captopril alone against frusemide plus amiloride in mild heart failure. Lancet ii:709-711.

Reid JL (1987) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors in the elderly. Br.Med.J.295:943-945.

÷

Remes J, Miettinen H, Reuanen A, Pyorala K (1991) Validity of clinical diagnosis of heart failure in primary health care. Eur.Heart J.12:315-321.

Richer C, Thuillez C, Giudicelli JF. (1987) Perindopril, converting enzyme blockade and peripheral arterial haemodynamics in the healthy volunteers. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 9: 94-102.

Ritz E, Fliser D (1991) The kidney in congestive heart failure. Eur.Heart J. 12(supplt C):14-20.

Romanelli G, Giustina A, Cimino A, Valentini U, Agabiti- Rosei E, Muiesan G, Giushina G.(1989) Short term effects of captopril on microalbuminuria induced by exercise in normotensive diabetics. Br.Med.J. 298:284-288.

Rondeau E, Santoni JPh, Nehme D, Dussaule JC, Sraer JD.(1988) Hormonal effects of ACE inhibitor perindopril in hypertensive patients with chronic nethropathy. Amer.J. Hypertension 1(3):45A.

Rosenthal JH, Pfeile B, Michailov ML, Pschorr J, Jacob ICM, Dahlheim H. (1984). Investigations of components of the renin angiotensin system in rat vascular tissue. Hypertension 6:383-390.

Rosenthal J, von Lutterotti N, Thurnreiter M, Gomba S, Rothemund J, Reiter W, Kazda S, Garthoff B, Jacob I, Dahlheim H. (1987). Suppression of renin angiotensin system in the heart of spontaneously hypertensive rats. J. Hypertension 5(supplt.2): S23-S31.

Rubin SA, Tabak L. (1985) MDL 17043: short and long term cardiopulmonary and clinical effects in patients with heart failure. J. Amer. Coll. Cardiol. 5:1422-1427.

Rucinska EJ, Small R, Irvin J. (1989) High risk patients treated with enalapril maleate: safety considerations. Int.J.Cardiol. 22:249-259.

Rutledge, J., Ayers, C., Davidson, R., Di Pette, D., Guthrie, G., Fisher, M., Schwartz, S., Rucinska, E. (1988) Effect of intravenous enalaprilat in moderate and severe systemic hypertension. Amer.J.Cardiol. 62:1062-1067.

Ryan JW. (1983). Assay of peptidase and protease enzymes in vivo. Biochem. Pharmacol. 32:2127-2137.

Ryan JY, Chung A, Ammons C, Carlton ML. (1977). A simple radio assay for angiotensin converting enzyme. Biochem.J. 167:501-504.

Ryan JW, Chung A, Ryan US. (1980). Angiotensin-converting enzyme: I. New strategies for assay. Environ. Health Perspect. 35:165-170.

Ryan JW, Berryer P, Chung A. (1983). Assay of angiotensin converting enzyme in vivo. Adv.Exp.Med.Biol. 156(Pt.B):805-812.

Ryan US, Ryan JW, Whitaker C, Chiu A. (1976) Localisation of angiotensin converting

enzyme (kininase II). II Immunocytochemistry and immunofluorescence. Tissue and Cell 8: 125-145.

Said SI. (1982). Metabolic functions of the pulmonary circulation. Circulation Res. 50: 325-333.

Sakharov IY, Danilov SM, Dukhanina EA. (1987). Affinity chromatography and some properties of the angiotensin converting enzyme from human heart. Biochim.Biophys. Acta. 923:143-149.

Sakaguchi K, Chai SY, Jackson B, Johnson CI, Mendelsohn FAO.(1988a) Inhibition of tissue angiotensin converting enzyme: quantitation by autoradiography. Hypertension 11(3): 230-238.

Sakaguchi K, Chai SY, Jackson B, Johnston CI, Mendelsohn FAO.(1988b) Differential angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in brain after oral administration of perindopril demonstrated by quantitative in vitro autoradiography. Neuroendocrinol. 48:223-228.

Sakaguchi K, Jackson B, Chai SY, Mendelsohn FAO, Johnston CI.(1988c) Effects of perindopril on tissue angiotensin converting enzyme activity demonstrated by quantitative in vitro autoradiography. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 12:710-717.

Savi L, Montebelli MR, Maza A, Meltimano M, D'Alonzo S, Gallo M, Blandamura L, Folli G. (1990) A new therapy for hypertensive emergencies: intravenous captopril. Curr.Ther.Res. 47:1073-1081.

Schalekamp MADH, Admiraal PJJ, Derkx FHM. (1989). Estimation of regional metabolism and production of angiotensins in hypertensive subjects. Br.J.Clin. Pharmacol. 28:105S-113S.

Schrier RW (1988) Pathogenesis of sodium and water retention in high-output and lowoutputcardiac failure, nephrotic syndrome, cirrhosis, and pregnancy (two parts). N.Eng.J.Med. 319:1065-1072 and 1127-1134.

Schunkert H, Hirsch A, Mandaki S, Falsness C, Dzau VJ (1989) Renal angiotensinogen gene expression in experimental heart failure : effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibiton. Clin.Res. 37:584A.

Schocken D, Arrieta MI, Leaverton PE (1992) Prevalence and mortality rate of congestive heart failure in the United States. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol.20:301-306.

Schwarz GT (1989) Estimating the dimension of a model. Annals of Statistics, 6:461-464.

Seino M, Abe K, Nushiro N, Omata K, Yoshinaga K. (1989). Role of endogenous bradykinins in the acute depressor effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor captopril - assessed by a competitive antagonist of bradykinin. Clin.Exp.Hypertension A11:35-43.

Semple PF, Cumming AMM, Meredith PA, Morton JJ. (1987). Onset of action of captopril, enalapril, enalaprilic acid and lisinopril in normal man. Cardiovasc.Drugs Ther. 1:45-50.

Semple PF, Thoren P, Lever AF. (1988). Vasovagal reactions to cardiovascular drugs: the first dose effect. J. Hypertension 6: 601-606.

Sennesael J, Ali A, Sweny P, Vandenburg M, Slovic D, Dratwa M, Resplandy G, Gennissel P, Desche P (1992) The pharmacokinetics of perindopril and its effects on serum angiotensin converting enzyme activity in hypertensive patients with chronic renal failure. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol 33:93-99.

Shapiro R, Riordan JF.(1984) Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme: mechanism and substrate dependence. Biochemistry 23:5225-5233.

Sharpe N, Coxon R, Webster M, et al. (1987) Hemodynamic effects of intermittent transdermal nitroglycerin in chronic congestive heart failure. Amer.J.Cardiol.59:895-899.

Sharpe N, Smith H, Murphy J, Greaves S, Hart H, Gamble G (1991) Early prevention of left ventricular dysfunction after infarction with left ventricular dysfunction. Lancet 337:872-876.

Siemienczuk D, Greenberg B, Broudy DR. (1986). Effects of eating on cardiac performance in congestive heart failure. Chest 90:193-197.

Silke B, Tennet H, Fischer-Hansen J, Keller N, Heikkila J, Salminen K (1992) A double blind, parallel-group comparison of flosequinan and enalapril in the treatment of chronic heart failure. Eur.Heart J. 13:1092-1100.

Skeggs LT, Kahn JB, Shumway NP.(1956) Preparation and function of the hypertensinconverting enzyme. J.Exp.Med. 103:295-299.

Skoglof A, Göthe P-O, Deinum J.(1990) Effect of temperature and chloride on steady state inhibition of angiotensin I-converting enzyme by enalaprilat and ramiprilat. Biochem.J.272:415-419

Smith HJ, Nuttall A (1985) Experimental models of heart failure Cardiovasc. Res. 19:181-186.

SOLVD Investigators (1991) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. N.Eng.J.Med. 325:293-302.

SOLVD Investigators (1992) Effect of enalapril on mortality and the development of heart failure in asymptomatic patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions. N.Eng.J.Med.327:685-691.

Stanton, R.C. & Brenner, B.M. (1986). Role of the kidney in congestive cardiac failure. Acta Med. Scand. 707(supplt.1):21-25.

Strittmatter, S.M. & Snyder, S.H. (1985). Characterisation of angiotensin converting enzyme (³H)captopril binding. Mol. Pharmacol. 29:142-148.

Strittmatter, S.M., Thiele, E.A., Kapiloff, M.S. & Snyder, S.H. (1985). A rat brain isoenzyme of angiotensin converting enzyme. J.Biol.Chem. 260:9825-9832.

Sturani A, Chiarini C, Degli EE, Santoro A, Zuccala A, Zuchelli P. (1982) Heart rate control in hypertensive patients treated by captopril in normotensive man. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 14:849-855.

Sutton GC (1990) Epideiologic aspects of heart failure. Amer. Heart J. 120:1538-1540.

Svensson CK, Edwards DJ, Lalka D, Mauriello PM, Middleton E. (1982) Comparison of chromatographic and spectrophotometric analysis of indocyanine green in plasma following administration of multiple doses to humans. J. Pharmaceut.Sci. 71:1305-1306.

Swales JD, Heagerty AM. (1987) Vacular renin-angiotensin system: the unanswered questions. J. Hypertension 5(supplt.2):S1-S5.

Swartz, S.L., Williams, G.H., Hollenberg, N.K., Moore, T.J. & Dluhy, R.G. (1979). Converting enzyme inhibition in essential hypertension: the hypotensive response does not reflect only reduced angiotensin II formation. Hypertension 1:106-111.

Swartz, S.L., Williams, G.H., Hollenberg, N.K., et al. (1980) Captopril induced changes in prostaglandin production. Relationship to vascular responses in normal man. J.Clin.Invest. 65:1257-1264.

Swedberg K, Held P, Kjekhus J et al, on behalf of the CONSENSUS II Study group (1992) Effects of the early administration of enalapril on mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction. N.Eng.J.Med. 327:678-684.

Sweet CS, Emmert SE, Stabilo II, Ribeiro LGT (1987) Increased survival in rats with congestive heart failure treated with enalapril. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 10:636-642.

Sweet CS, Phyllis TA, Arbegast SLG. (1981). Angiotensin I blockade and antihypertensive properties of single doses of MK421 and captopril in spontaneous and renal hypertensive rats. J. Pharmacol. 76:167-176.

Swynghedauw B. (1989). Remodelling of the heart in response to chronic mechanical overload. Eur.Heart J. 10:935-943.

Szelke M, Tree M, Leckie BJ, et al (1985). A transition state analogue inhibitor of human renin (H261): test in vivo and a comparison with captopril in the anaesthetised baboon. J. Hypertension 3:13-18.

Taguma Y, Kilamoto Y, Futaki G. et al. Effect of captopril on heavy proteinuria in azotemic diabetics. N.Eng.J.Med. 313:1616-1620.

Takada Y, Hiwada K, Unno M, Kokubo T.(1982). Immunological localisation of angiotensin converting enzyme at ultrastructural level in the human lung and kidney. Biomed.Res. 3:169-174.

Takada Y, Unno M, Hiwada K, Kokubu T. (1982) Biochemical and immunological studies of angiotensin converting enzymes from human, bovine, dog, hog, rabbit, rat and sheep kidneys. Comp.Biochem.Physiol. 73B:189-194.

Tan LB, Jalil JE, Pick R, Janicki JS, Weber KT (1991) Cardiac myocyte necrosis induced by Angiotensin II. Circulation Res.69:1185-1195.

Tan LB, Murray RG, Littler WA.(1987) Felodipine in patients with chronic heart failure: discrepant haemodynamic and clinical effects. Br.Heart J. 58:122-128.

Taylor SH, Verma SP, Silke B. (1989) Enalaprilat in heart failure complicating acute myocardial infarction. Curr.Opinion Cardiol. 4(supplt.2): s37-s43.

Thiollet M, Funck-Bretano C, Grange JD, Midavaine M, Resplandy G, Jaillon P (1992) The pharmacokinetics of perindopril in patients with liver cirrhosis. Br.J.Clin. Pharmacol. 33:326-328.

Thollon C, Kreher P, Charlon V, Rossi A. (1989). Hypertrophy induced alteration of action potential and effects of the inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme by perindopril in infarcted rat hearts. Cardiovascular Res. 23: 224-230.

Thomas P, Dixon MS, Culling W, et al.(1989) Changes in the haemodynamic responses to exercise, posture and nitrates after treatment of congestive heart failure with an arteriolar vasodilator. Clin.Sci. 77:229-236.

Thuillez C, Richard C, Loueslati H, Auzepy P, Guidicelli JF (1990) Systemic and regional hemodynamic effects of perindopril in congestive heart failure. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 15:527-535.

Till AE, Gomez HJ, Hichens M, Bolognese JA. (1984) Pharmacokinetics of repeated single oral doses of enalapril maleate (MK-421) in normal volunteers. Biopharmaceut. Drug Dispos. 5:273-280.

Till AE, Dickstein K, Aarsland T, Gomez HJ, Gregg H, Hichens M.(1989) The pharmacokinetics of lisinopril in hospitalised patients with congestive heart failure. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 27:199-204.

Timmermans PBMWM, Chiu AT, Herblin WF, Wong PG, Smith RD.(1992) Angiotensin II receptor subtypes. Amer.J.Hypertension. 5:406-410.

Timmermans PBMWM, Wong PC, Chiu AT, Herblin WF (1991) Nonpeptide angiotensin II receptor antagonists. Trends Pharmacol.Sci. 12:55-62.

Tobe TJM, de Langen CDJ, Weersink EGL, van Wijngaarden J, Bel KJ, de Gaeff PA, van Gilst WH, Wesseling H (1992) The angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril improves survival after experimental myocardial infarction in pigs. J.Cardiovascular Pharmaol.19:732-740.

Tocco DJ, de Luna FA, Duncan AEW, Vassil TC, Ulm EH (1982) The physiological disposition and metabolism of enalapril maleate in laboratory animals. Drug Metab. Dispos. 10:15-19.

Todd PA, Benfield P. (1989) Ramipril: a preliminary review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in cardiovascular disease. Drugs 39: 110-135.

Todd PA, Fitton A (1991) Perindopril: a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic use in cardiovascular disorders. Drugs 42:90-114.

`

Todd PA, Goa KL. (1989) Enalapril: an update of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic use in congestive heart failure. Drugs 37:141-161.

Todd PA, Heel RC. (1986) Enalapril: a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties and therapeutic use in hypertension and congestive heart failure. Drugs 31: 198-248.

Tonolo G, Tree M, Pazzola A, Leckie BJ. (1988) Similarity between active and trypsin activated inactive renin in dog plasma by means of renin inhibition: the dog as an animal model for studies of inactive renin. J.Hypertension 6:975-980.

Tsaconas C, Devissaguet M, Padieu P. (1989) Gas chromatography-mass spectometry of perindopril and its active free metabolite, an angiotensin convertase inhibitor: choice of derivatives and ionisation modes. J.Chromatography, Biomedical Applications 488:237-248.

Tsai HH, Lees KR, Howden CW, Reid JL (1989) The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of perindopril in patients with liver cirrhosis. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 28:53-59.

Tuck ML, Sambhi MP, Kramer SB, Eggena P, Barrett J. (1982) Enhanced renin levels after discontinuation of furosemide: additional effects of loop diuretics on renin release. Clin.Exp.Hypertension A4: 1359-1375.

Unger T, Ganten D, Lang RE, Scholkens BA.(1985) Persistent tissue converting enzyme inhibition following treatment with HOE498 and MK421 in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J.Cardiovas.Pharmacol. 7:36-41.

Unger T, Ganten D, Lang RE.(1986) Tissue converting enzyme and cardiovascular actions of converting enzyme inhibitors. J.Cardiovas.Pharmacol. 8(supplt.10):S75-S81.

Unger T, Ganten D, Lang RE. (1987) Effect of converting enzyme inhibitors on tissue converting enzyme and angiotensin II: therapeutic implications. Amer.J.Cardiol. 59:18D-22D.

Unger T, Moursi M, Ganten D, Hermann K, Lang RE.(1986) Antihypertensive action of the converting enzyme inhibitor Perindopril in spontaneously hypertensive rats: comparison with enalapril and ramipril. J.Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 8:276-285.

Urata H, Healy B, Stewart RW, Bumpus FM, Husain A (1990) Angiotensin II-forming pathways in normal and failing human hearts. Circulation Res. 66:883-890.

Uretsky BF, Hua J (1991) Combined intravenous pharmacotherapy in the treatment of patients with decompensated congestive heart failure. Amer.Heart J.121:1879-1886.

Uretsky BF, Jessup M, Konstam MA, et al. (1990) Multicenter trial of oral enoximone in patients with moderate to moderately severe congestive heart failure: lack of benefit compared to placebo. Circulation 82:774-780.

Uretsky BF, Verbalis JG, Murali S, Betschart AR, Kolesar JA, Reddy PS (1990) Control of atrial natriuretic peptide secretion in patients with severe congestive heart failure. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab.71:146-151.

van der Meiraker AH, Admiraal PJJ, Man in't Veld AJ, Derkx FHM, Ritsema van Ech HS, Mulder P, van Brummelen P, Schalekamp MADH (1990) Prolonged blood pressure reduction by orally active renin inhibitor Ro 42-5892 in essential hypertension. Br.Med J. 301:205-210.

van Gilst WH, de Graeff PA, Wesseling H, de Langen CDJ. (1986) Reduction of reperfusion arrhythmias in the ischaemic isolated rat heart by angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors; a comparison of captopril, enalapril and HOE498. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 8:722-728.

van Gilst WH, Scholtens E, de Graeff PA, de Langen CDJ, Wesseling H. (1988) Differential influences of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors on the coronary circulation. Circulation 77(supplt.I):24-29.

Varriale P, David WJ, Chryssos BE. (1991) Hemodynamic resistance to nitroglycerin in severe congestive heart failure and restored response after diuresis. Amer.J.Cardiol. 68: 1400-1402.

Velleman P. (1980) Definition and comparison of robust data smoothing algorithms. J. Amer.Stat.Assoc. 75:609-615.

Velletri PA, Billingsley ML, Lovenberg W. (1985) Thermal denaturation of rat pulmonary and testicular angiotensin- converting enzyme isoenzyme effects of cholators and CaCl₂. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 839:71-76.

Verpooten GA, Genissel PM, Thomas JR, de Broe ME (1991) Single dose pharmacokinetics of perindopril and its metabolites in hypertensive patients with various degrees of renal insufficiency Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol.32:187-192.

Vincent M, Remond G, Porlevin B, Serkiz B, Laubie M.(1982) Stereoselective synthesis of a new perhydroindole derivative of chiral iminodiacid, a potent inhibitor of angiotensin converting enzyme. Tetrahedron Letters 23:1677-1680. Vinci, J.M., Horwitz, D., Zusman, R.M. et al, (1979) The effect of converting enzyme inhibition with SQ20881 on plasma and urinary kinins, prostaglandin E and angiotensin II in hypertensive man. Hypertension 1:416-426.

Volpini M, Gargano M, Cuccia C. et al. (1989). Acute haemodynamic effects of intravenous captopril in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. Cardiologica 34: 517-23.

Vuk-Pavlovic Z, Kreofsky TJ, Rohrback MS. (1989). Characteristics of monocyte angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) induction by dexamethasone. J.Leukocyte Biol. 45, 503-509.

Waeber B, Brunner HR, Brunner DB, Curtet AL, Turini GA, Gavros H.(1980) Discrepancy between antihypertensive effect and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition by captopril. Hypertension 2: 236-242.

Walinsky P, Le Jemtel T, Powers ER, Schwartz S, Brest AN, Frankl WS, Jeffries L, Maskin CS, Pucillo AL, Reison DS, Cannon PJ, Escala EL, Whalen J.(1987). Hemodynamic benefits of single and multiple doses of intravenous enalaprilat, an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor. Heart Failure 3:108-113.

Wanless RB, Anand IS, Gurden J, Harris P, Poole-Wilson PA (1987) Regional blood flow and hemodynamics in the rabbit with adriamycin cardiomyopathy: Effects of isosorbide dinitrate, dobutamine and captopril. J.Exp.Pharmacol.Ther. 243:1101-1106.

Warren SE, Smith HS, Janousek JP, Lanoue AS, Baim DS (1986) Microdose captopril titration in chronic congestive heart failure. Heart Failure 2:185-189.

Webb DJ, Collier JG, Seidelin PH, Struthers AD.(1988) Regulation of regional vascular tone: the role of angiotensin conversion in human forearm resistance vessels. Journal of Hypertension 6(supplt.3):S57-S59.

Weber KT, Anversa P, Armstrong PW, et al (1992) Remodeling and reparation of the cardiovascular system. J.Amer.Coll.Cardiol. 20:3-16.

Webster J, Petrie J, Robb O, Trafford J, Burgess J. et al.(1986) Enalapril in moderate to severe hypertension: a comparison with atenolol. Br.J.Clin.Pharmacol. 21:489-495.

Wehling M, Zimmermann J, Theisen K.(1990) Extracardiac effects of oral ibopamine versus furosemide in patients with mild or moderate heart failure. A double blind, randomized trial. Cardiology 77(supplt.5):81-88.

Welsch C, Grima M, Giesen EM, Helwig JJ, Barthelmebs M, Coquard C, Imbs JL (1989). Assay of angiotensin converting enzyme. J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol. 14(supplt.4): S26-S31.

West JNW, Smith SA, Stallard TJ, Littler WA.(1989) Effects of perindopril on ambulatory intra arterial blood pressure, cardiovascular reflexes and forearm blood flow in essential hypertension. J.Hypertension 7:97-104.

Westlin W, Mullane K.(1988). Does captopril attenuate reperfusion induced myocardial dysfunction by scavenging free radicals. Circulation 77(supplt.I): 30-39.

Wheeldon NM, MacDonald TM, Flucker CJ, McKendrick AD, McDevitt DG, Struthers AD. (1993) Echocardiography in chronic heart failure in the community. Q.J.Med. 86:17-23.

Whitebread S, Mele M, Kamber B, de Gasparo MA (1989) Preliminary biochemical characterisation of two angiotensin II receptor subtypes. Biochem.Biophys.Res. Commun. 163:284-291.

Williams GH.(1988) Converting enzyme inhibitors in the treatment of hypertension. N.Eng.J.Med. 319:1517-1525.

Wilson TW, Falk KJ, Labelle JL, Nguyen KB (1975) Effect of dosage regimen on natriuretic response to furosemide. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther.18:165-169.

Xiang JZ, Linz W, Becker H, Ganten D, Lang RE, Scholkens B, Unger T. (1985) Effects of converting enzyme inhibitors (ramipril and enalapril) on peptide action and sympathetic neurotransmission in the isolated heart. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 113:215-223.

Yoshimura S, Imai K, Hayashi Y, Hashimoto K. (1989). Role of renin-angiotensin system in the pathogenesis of spontaneous myocardial fibrosis in Sprague-Dauley rats: effect of long term administration of captopril. Tohoku J.Exp.Med. 157:241-249.

Yusef S for the SOLVD investigators (1990) Studies of left ventricular dysfunction (SOLVD)- rationale, design and methods:two trials that evaluate the effect of enalapril in patients with reduced ejection fraction. Amer.J.Cardiol.66:315-322.

Yusef S for the SOLVD investigators (1992) Effect of enalapril on myocardial infarction and unstable angina in patients with low ejection fractions. Lancet 340:1173-1178.

Zanchetti A, Desche P. (1989) Perindopril: first line treatment for hypertension. Clin.Exp.Hypertension (Theory/Practice) A11(supplt.2):555-573.

GLASGOW UNIVERSITY LIBRARY